

A GROUNDED THEORY FOR ACTIVE VIDEO GAME DESIGN TO PROMOTE GAMER ENGAGEMENT AND IMMERSION

by

ADELE BRAAF

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

Master of Technology: Information Technology

in the Faculty of Informatics and Design

at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology

Supervisor: Mr Jay Barnes Co-supervisor: Vikki Du Preez

Cape Town November 2017

CPUT copyright information

The thesis may not be published either in part (in scholarly, scientific or technical journals), or as a whole (as a monograph), unless permission has been obtained from the University

DECLARATION

I, Adele Braaf, declare that the contents of this thesis represent my own unaided work, and that the thesis has not previously been submitted for academic examination towards any qualification. Furthermore, it represents my own opinions and not necessarily those of the Cape Peninsula University of Technology.

Signed

Date

ABSTRACT

Active Video Games (AVGs) are a form of video games that rely on gamer motion as the main source of interaction between the AVG and the player. These AVGs serve a number of purposes, such as medical rehabilitation, education, social development, and motor skill development, among others. Prolonged play of AVGs is not sustainable as gamers lose interest in playing AVGs after the initial period of acquiring them. Therefore, the following research question was posed: "What design factors contribute to an engaged and immersed AVG experience?"

The aim was to explore the inhibiting and enhancing factors influencing engagement and immersion among AVG gamers, as well as to develop a theory of AVG design. Constructivist Grounded Theory (CGT) was used as the methodology to carry out this study, which adopted an inductive approach towards the research to construct a theory firmly grounded in the data. Play Active Theory (PAT) is the outcome of this process, which explores the engagement and immersion factors related to AVG design as well as the abandonment and replayability of AVGs. PAT was compared to existing engagement and motivation theories as part of the CGT process, and further refined. In closing, the research question was answered and the aims of the study were met. A reflection account of the research journey concludes the thesis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank:

- My supervisor, Mr Jay Barnes, for guiding and motivating me throughout my research experience. Thank you for your unending support, pieces of wisdom, and priceless humour. Your contribution has transformed a research course into an exciting learning adventure and your mentorship has changed my understanding tremendously. Thank you sincerely for sharing your knowledge so freely and willingly and for helping me to accomplish my goals.
- My co-supervisor, Mrs Vikki Du Preez, for being a massive anchor throughout my research. Thank you for guiding me through the unknown waters of grounded theory and for your constant reassurance that it is possible to complete. I would like to express a deep heartfelt appreciation for all the support you have given and for helping me to achieve my goals. Your commitment as a supervisor and mentor was incredible and much needed. Thank you!
- My mother, Sheila Braaf, for supporting my decision to go back to university and for encouraging me to do what I want to do. Although you had very little understanding of my choice in career or even what a Master's study entailed, your willingness to encourage me to pursue my goals is appreciated. Thank you, mom!
- My fiancé, Adrian Rudolph, for encouraging me to pursue my education and for helping me along the way. Being able to share my work with someone who shares the same interests and hobbies has made my research journey so much more enjoyable. Thank you for all your enthusiasm and support. It has made the difficult moments seem much more bearable. And thank you for keeping me sane!
- Dr Andre De La Harpe, thank you for stepping in and seeing to it that I complete my course. Your guidance and assistance helped me to cross the finish line of my work. Thank you for your patience and for taking it upon yourself to proof read and edit my thesis. I really appreciate all the effort you put in and for the time you sacrificed for me to accomplish my goal. This would not have been possible if you had not stepped in when you did.

The financial assistance of the National Research Foundation and University Research Foundation towards this research is acknowledged. Opinions expressed in this thesis and the conclusions arrived at, are those of the author, and are not necessarily to be attributed to the National Research Foundation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLA	ARATIONi
ABSTR	ii
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENTSiii
TABLE	OF CONTENTSiv
LIST O	F FIGURESix
LIST O	F TABLESxi
GLOSS	SARYxii
CHAP	IER ONE: INTRODUCTION1
1.1	Introduction1
1.2	Contextualisation2
1.3	Research background2
1.4	Problem statement
1.5	Research question5
1.6	Aim5
1.7	Delineation5
1.8	Philosophy5
1.8.1	Selected research paradigm6
1.8.2	Interpretivism paradigm7
1.8.3	Positivism paradigm
1.8.4	Critical realist paradigm8
1.9	Research strategy9
1.10	Reason for undertaking the study10
1.11	Contribution10
1.12	Ethics
1.13	Limitations11
1.14	Thesis chapter summary12
1.14.1	Chapter Two: Literature Review12
1.14.2	Chapter Three: Research Methodology12
1.14.3	Chapter Four: Data Collection12
1.14.4	Chapter Five: Data Analysis12
1.14.5	Chapter Six: Discussion
1.14.6	Chapter Seven: Reflection
1.15	Conclusion

CHAPT	ER TWO: PRELIMINARY LITERATURE REVIEW	14
2.1	Introduction	14
2.2	Video games	15
2.2.1	AVGs	15
2.2.2	AVG consoles and accessories	15
2.2.3	Benefits of playing AVGs	16
2.2.4	Adoption of AVGs	16
2.3	Gamification	17
2.4	Design factors	17
2.4.1	AVG avatars	17
2.4.2	AVG audio	18
2.4.3	AVGs user interface	18
2.5	Engagement and replayability	19
2.6	Persistence	20
2.7	Conclusion	20
CHAPT	ER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	22
3.1	Introduction	22
3.2	Paradigm	22
3.3	Methodology	22
3.3.1	Different grounded theories	23
3.3.2	Disadvantages of SGT and Classic GT	23
3.3.3	Selected methodology	24
3.3.4	Main claim	24
3.3.5	Reason for selection	25
3.3.6	Advantages of CGT	25
3.3.7	CGT methodology process	26
3.3.8	CGT phases of data collection and analysis	27
3.4	Role of the researcher	28
3.5	Limitations	29
3.6	Ethics	29
3.7	Research design	29
3.7.1	Sampling	30
3.7.2	Unit of observation and unit of analysis	30
3.7.3	Tool	30
3.8	The CGT data collection process	31
3.8.1	The workshop procedure	31
3.8.2	How data were collected in this study	33
	V	

3.9	Validity and reliability of data collected	34
3.10	Data analysis strategy	
3.11	Conclusion	35
CHAPT	ER FOUR: DATA COLLECTION	36
4.1	Introduction	36
4.2	Tool description	37
4.3	Purpose of each component	38
4.3.1	Research consent	38
4.3.2	Participant coding and information	39
4.3.3	Interview questions	39
4.3.4	Observation	39
4.3.5	Memo	39
4.3.6	Gameplay instructions	39
4.3.7	Pre-test evaluation	40
4.3.8	Participant brief	40
4.4	Workshop strategy	40
4.5	Workshop flow	42
4.5.1	Before the workshop	42
4.5.2	During the workshop	42
4.5.3	After the workshop	43
4.6	Ethics	44
4.7	Open coding phase	44
4.8.1	Pilot analysis: exploring the process and building CAQDAS proficiency	44
4.8.2	Beginning the workshops: exploring the initial data	47
4.8.3	Continuing the collection of data: Workshop 2A	49
4.8.4	Mobile AVG workshop: Pokémon Go	53
4.8.5	Continuing to collect data: Workshop 2B	55
4.8.6	The initial code book	59
4.8.7	Checking for data saturation: an account of the final workshop	60
4.8	Abstraction of the code groups	63
4.9.1	An account of the first level of abstraction	64
4.9	Conclusion	67

CHAPT	CHAPTER FIVE: DATA ANALYSIS	
5.1	Introduction	69
5.2	The evolution of the data collection tool	69
5.2.1	The initial changes	69

5.2.2	The second set of changes	70
5.2.3	The final changes to the tools	70
5.3	Analysis of network views	72
5.3.1	Network 1 - Significance behind gamers being comfortable	73
5.3.2	Network 2 - Significance of being informed and knowing what to do	76
5.3.3	Network 3 - Choices granted by the AVG for gamers	79
5.3.4	Network 4 - Cinematics in AVGs	81
5.3.5	Network 5 - Preferences for AVG gamers	84
5.3.6	Network 6 - Errors and glitches in AVGs and consoles	86
5.3.7	Network 7 - Feedback from the AVG to gamers and the sense of achievement	
	experienced	89
5.3.8	Network 8 - Motivation to play the AVG	92
5.3.9	Network 9 - Realistic experiences in AVGs and the role of avatars	94
5.3.10	Network 10 - Replayability of AVGs	98
5.4	Beginning a new phase of CGT data analysis - theoretical coding	99
5.4.1	Glaser's coding families approach	100
5.4.2	Attempting Glaser's coding families method	100
5.4.3	Asking the analytical question	101
5.4.3.1	Developing the theory	101
5.5	Summary	104
СНАРТ	ER SIX: DISCUSSION	105
6.1	Introduction	105
6.2	Play Active Theory explained	106
6.3	Comparing PAT to the literature	107
6.3.1	Flow Theory	107
6.3.2	Self-Determination Theory	109
6.3.3	Social Identity Theory	110
6.3.4	Attention, Relevance, Confidence and Satisfaction (ARCS) theory	111
6.3.4.1	Attention	112
6.3.4.2	Relevance	113
6.3.4.3	Confidence	114
6.3.4.4	Satisfaction	115
6.4	Adapted PAT	116
6.5	Recommendations and future research	116
6.6	Summary	117
6.7	Contribution	117

CHAPTER SEVEN: REFLECTION118			
7.1	Introduction	118	
7.2	What I learnt along the way	118	
7.3	What I would have done differently	120	
7.4	Methodological contribution	120	
7.5	Summary	121	
7.6	Conclusion	121	
REFERENCES			
APPENI	DIX A: DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	128	
APPENI	DIX B: DATA COLLECTION PERMISSION AND APPROVAL	161	
APPENI	DIX C: PARTICIPANT PROFILES	163	
APPENI	APPENDIX D: CENSORED PARTICIPANT PROFILES		

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Research roadmap	. 10
Figure 3.1: Process of CGT	. 27
Figure 3.2: Activity diagram of the data collection workshop procedure	. 32
Figure 3.3: Researcher's process of following CGT	. 33
Figure 4.1: CGT open and focused coding cycle	. 36
Figure 4.2: Workshop 2A and 2B strategy plan	. 41
Figure 4.3: Workshop setup	. 43
Figure 4.4: Pilot hermeneutic unit without code key	. 46
Figure 4.5: Second hermeneutic unit using code keys	. 46
Figure 4.6: CPUT Engineering building, BTech laboratory	. 50
Figure 4.7: Pineapple55 uncomfortable and withdrawn	. 51
Figure 4.8: Level of immersion and engagement greatly increases during competition	. 52
Figure 4.9: Lenboxs only using upper body movement	. 55
Figure 4.10: Lenboxs making use of his entire body	. 56
Figure 4.11: Disinterest when not playing	. 57
Figure 4.12: Image of printed code groups	. 60
Figure 4.13: Toefm and JuniorKidd frustrated at the sensor malfunction	. 61
Figure 4.14: JuniorKidd not engaged while sitting out	. 62
Figure 4.15: Merging codes together of "watching yourself playing"	. 64
Figure 4.16: A code falling into more than one code group	. 64
Figure 4.17: Code group with sub-categories	. 65
Figure 4.18: Code group avatar with its sub-categories	. 65
Figure 4.19: List of code groups in Atlas.ti	. 66
Figure 4.20: Manual checklist and combinations of code groups	. 67
Figure 4.21: Network view manager of all ten networks	. 67
Figure 5.1: The growth and change of the data collection tool over time	.71
Figure 5.2: Network view of the significance behind gamers being comfortable	. 73
Figure 5.3: Pineapple55 not too comfortable around ICARUS	.74
Figure 5.4: Toefm and 2Awesome during awkward activity	. 75
Figure 5.5: Significance of being informed and knowing what to do	. 76
Figure 5.6:Dragon Ball Z information overload	. 78
Figure 5.7: Dance Central 3 information overload	. 78
Figure 5.8: Choices granted by the AVG for gamers	. 79
Figure 5.9: Cinematics in AVGs	. 81
Figure 5.10: Comparison of cinematic styles	. 83
Figure 5.11: Preferences for AVG gamers	. 84

Figure 5.12: Errors and glitches in AVGs and consoles	86
Figure 5.13: 2Awesome switching off AVG due to sensor malfunction	87
Figure 5.14: ICARUS navigating through AVG menu	88
Figure 5.15: Feedback from AVG to gamers and sense of achievement experienced	89
Figure 5.16: ICARUS and Pineapple55 competing against each other	91
Figure 5.17: Motivation to play the AVG	92
Figure 5.18: Lenboxs and Fiki competing against each other	93
Figure 5.19: Realistic experiences in AVGs and the role of avatars	94
Figure 5.20: ICARUS matching attire to avatar	95
Figure 5.21: Variety of avatars to select from	96
Figure 5.22: XBox Kinect Adventures less realistic appearance	96
Figure 5.23: Mario and Sonic 2012 Olympics non-human avatars	97
Figure 5.24: Replayability of AVGs	98
Figure 5.25: Toefm and 2Awesome running on the spot	99
Figure 5.26: Attempt to fit existing categories into Glaser's coding families	101
Figure 5.27: First draft of the final theory	102
Figure 5.28: Second variation of the constructed theory	102
Figure 5.29: Completed constructed theory	104
Figure 6.1: Play Active Theory (PAT) diagram	106
Figure 6.2: A visual representation of SDT	110

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Data analysis phases for constructivist grounded theory (CGT)	. 28
Table 4.1: Comparison of questionnaire versions	. 37
Table 4.2: Codes gathered for both Peach and Pear after Workshop 1	. 48
Table 4.3: Workshop 2A codes for both ICARUS and Pineapple55	. 52
Table 4.4: Mobile workshop data collected - Pokémon Go	. 54
Table 4.5: Data collection codes for Workshop 2B	. 58
Table 4.6: Initial code groups after open coding and during focused coding	. 59
Table 4.7: Data collected for the final workshop	. 63

GLOSSARY

Acronyms	Definition
Abandonment	To give up completely. Synonymous with "discontinue", "stop", "give up"
ARCS theory	Attention, Relevance, Confidence, Satisfaction theory
AVGs	Active Video Games
CAQDAS	Computer Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software
CGT	Constructivist Grounded Theory
CPUT	Cape Peninsula University of Technology
Engagement	Requires time, effort and attention (Soutter & Hitchens, 2016:2) The time spent on gaming (Neys, Jansz & Tan, 2014:5)
FT	Flow Theory
GT	Grounded Theory
GTM	Grounded Theory Methods
HU	Hermeneutic Unit
HUD	Heads Up Display
Immersion	Synonymous to "absorption" (Garell, 2015:32) Focuses a gamers attention ((Baranowski, Maddison, Maloney, Medina & Simons, 2014:5)
IT	Information Technology
Mini-game	Video games with simple and easy to understand video game mechanics that last between thirty seconds to five minutes (Macvean, 2013:73)
PAT	Play Active Theory
PC	Personal Computer
QRM	Qualitative Research Methods
Replayability	With reference to a video game. Noun, "being suitable for or with playing more than once"
RPG	Role Playing Games
SDT	Self-Determination Theory
SGT	Straussian Grounded Theory
SIT	Self-Identity Theory

1. CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

Video games have come a long way from humble beginnings in 1961 to the massive industry it is today, with industry revenues bypassing 1.9 trillion US dollars and still being expected to increase by a compound annual growth rate of 5.1% by the year 2019 (Eliashberg, Hennig-Thurau, Weinberg, Wierenga, 2016:1; Egenfeldt-Nielsen, Smith & Tosca, 2009:10). Not only is the gaming industry a lucrative one, but it has also claimed hundreds of millions of gamers worldwide and is considered to still be growing at a rapid pace (Zhang, Moore, Gu, Chu & Gao, 2016:4; O'Donovan & Hussey, 2012:1; Wolf, 2007:22). These accomplishments show that it is no small matter and that this technological industry has a place to claim in the academic space.

This study focuses on the engagement and immersion of gamers in active video games (AVGs) and the factors influencing gamers' engagement and immersion. The aim is to explore the phenomenon and to address the research problem by answering the research question through the use of a suitable research methodology.

This study is grounded in a constructivist grounded theory (CGT) methodology. This means that the goal of the research is to produce a theory derived from its data. CGT is extensively explained in Chapter Three; however, there are a few key aspects to note. Each chapter is influenced by the rules of CGT and each section is influenced in the following ways:

- The research approach becomes an inductive study whereby the data determine the constructed theory
- The research question serves as a starting point, but can be susceptible to changes as the study progresses
- There are two literature reviews (Chapter Two and Chapter Six). The first serves as a preliminary literature review which does not go into detail and the second becomes more extensive as it serves as further data analysis, comparison, and discussion
- The methodology follows a specific qualitative data analysis process that consists of three phases (open coding, focused coding, and theoretical coding)
- Data collection and data analysis occur simultaneously

- Data collection only ends once data saturation has been reached; therefore, this affects the planning as no clear end date can be set
- The data collection tool evolves as more data are collected and the direction of collecting data shifts
- Chapter Six (the discussion) becomes more focused and does not include broad topics of the literature

This chapter sets the scene for the rest of the study and starts off by placing the research in context by providing the research background. The background touches on the research problem, which is preceded by the research question and aim of this study. Thereafter, a clear delineation is made of what the research will not cover, and then goes on to explain the researcher's philosophical stance. The chapter is further justified and the contribution to be made is noted. A strategic plan is presented to indicate how the researcher went about doing the research and the chapter closes off with the researcher taking into account the ethics and limitations of the study. A summary of each proceeding chapter ends off this chapter.

1.2 Contextualisation

This research focuses specifically on in-game design features of various active video games (AVGs) that influence immersion and engagement levels of AVG gamers. AVGs are video simulations that require physical body movement, unlike traditional video games whereby gamers remain sedentary (Bernstein, Gibbone, Rukavina, 2015:2). The aim is to explore the phenomenon and to address the research problem by answering the research question through the use of a suitable research methodology.

This research is based on Information Technology (IT) as well as design. Given the nature of the research, elements of human psychology are integrated into the research to understand the involvement of human factors. Grounded theory (GT) has been used as the research design because this methodology offers the opportunity to uncover new innovative ideas and theories.

One contextualisation challenge that has been encountered is the lack of knowledge over multiple disciplines.

1.3 Research background

Video games can be described in two parts: *video* meaning technology, and *games* meaning a recreational activity that consists of rules, conflict, challenge, skill ability, and an outcome or goal such as winning, losing or attaining a high score (Wolf,

2007:24). This means that video games utilise technology to bring about entertainment; however, as of 1998, video games shifted in style from being a purely sedentary activity to an active one when Konami (a video gaming company) released the first AVG, "Dance Dance Revolution" (Wolf, 2007:19). AVGs are also referred to as "exergames", "active games", "motion games", and "exertion games" (Hagen, Chorianopoulos, Wang, Jaccheri & Weie, 2016:1; Bernstein et al., 2015:2; Wu, Wu & Chu, 2015:1). Throughout this study, the active state of video gaming will be referred to as AVGs.

AVGs serve a multitude of purposes, *inter alia* for education, therapy, rehabilitation, health promotion, and advertising (Nguyen, Ishmatova, Tapanainen, Liukkonen, Katajapuu & Makila, 2017:1). The most common AVGs, having the function of promoting physical activity, host a number of benefits to the human condition (Simons, De Vet, Brug, Seidell & Chinapaw, 2014:2). Other research has shown how AVGs (which can be noted as a form of video gaming) hold a number of benefits for gamers (Altamimi & Skinner, 2012:3). These benefits include, but are not limited to:

- Medical rehabilitation
 - Assists in treating dyslexia (Franceschini, Gori, Ruffino, Viola, Molteni & Facoetti, 2013:1)
 - Improvement of balance for sufferers of muscular sclerosis (Zeng, Pope, Eun & Gao, 2017:8)
 - Enhanced attention capacity (Eichenbaum, Bavelier & Green, 2014:11; Green & Bavelier, 2003:1)
 - Treatment of depression and stress (Zeng et al., 2017:9)
 - Improved motor and balance skills (Green & Bavelier, 2003:1)
- Education
 - Developing skills (include leadership skills) (Nguyen et al., 2017:1)
 - Learning lessons (history and human culture) (Nguyen et al., 2017:1)
 - Ability to engage in multiple tasks simultaneously (Chiappe, Conger, Liao, Caldwell & Vu, 2013:1)
- Cognitive abilities
 - o Improved memory skills (McDermott, Bavelier & Green, 2014:1)
 - Enhanced and faster decision making skills (Eichenbaum et al., 2014:14; Dye, Green & Bavelier, 2009:1)
 - Encouraged creative thinking (West, Hoff & Carlsson, 2013:3)
 - o Improved problem solving skills (Adachi & Willoughby, 2017:2)
 - o Increased mental flexibility (Eichenbaum et al., 2014:12)

- Social development
 - Forging deeper friendships with people sharing similar interests (Adachi & Willoughby, 2017:3)
 - Decrease in social isolation and building of friendship networks (Kiluk, 2016:14)
 - Ability to work in a team (Adachi & Willoughby, 2017:3)
- Motor skill development
 - Bowling (Wu et al., 2015:4)
 - Tennis (Zeng et al., 2017:4)
 - Boxing (Wu et al., 2015:4)
 - Dancing (Zeng et al., 2017:1)

Although AVGs have the potential to provide numerous benefits to gamers, many studies still indicate that AVGs fail to deliver these benefits (Simons, Brug, Chinapaw, De Boer, Seidell & De Vet, 2015:18; O'Donovan & Hussey, 2012:5). This can be attributed to gamers losing interest in playing AVGs after the initial period of acquiring them (Zhang et al., 2016:8; Dutta & Pereira, 2015:1; Peng, Crouse & Lin, cited by Garell, 2015:12). It is through the persistent usage of playing AVGs that the benefits are achieved and as Simons et al. (2015:18) note, "there's a need for the new development of AVGs that will stand better in terms of sustainability". As O'Donovan and Hussey (2012:5) note, for fitness levels to be maintained or improved, any type of physical activity the gamer participates in has to be performed on a regular or sustained basis. Altamimi and Skinner (2012:11) further support this argument by claiming that exergames should be designed with sustainability in mind to achieve the benefits associated with playing AVGs. This can be translated into reaping the other benefits of AVGs, in that it can only be fully attained through repeatable use. Simons et al. (2015:5) affirm this by stating that "additional efforts are required to increase the duration of active game play".

Another challenge hindering the amount of engagement a gamer experiences with AVGs concerns its design. According to a study conducted by Simons et al. (2015:17), participants reported that AVGs are boring and this discouraged them from persisting to play AVGs. This is also noted as Buday (2015) claims that health games may be boring and it displeases video gamers who seek fun in playing AVGs.

1.4 **Problem statement**

Prolonged play of AVGs is not sustainable as gamers lose interest in playing AVGs after the initial period of acquiring them (Zhang et al., 2016:8; Dutta & Pereira, 2015:1; Peng, Crouse, Lin, 2013). This causes the gamer to lose out on a multitude of benefits associated with playing these games (Simons et al., 2015:18; O'Donovan & Hussey, 2012:5). Along with the knowledge that current AVG design can be unattractive and boring (Buday, 2015; Simons et al., 2015:17), there are no specific theories regarding AVG design found that influence game engagement and immersion. Therefore, the problem is that prolonged play of AVGs is not sustainable as gamers lose interest in playing AVGs after the initial period of acquiring the games.

1.5 Research question

Given the nature of grounded theory, the research question is susceptible to being changed as the study progresses (Stol, Ralph & Fitzgerald, 2016:5). Keeping the foregoing in mind, the initial research question to guide this study is as follows: what design factors contribute to an engaged and immersed AVG experience?

1.6 Aim

This study has two aims. The first aim is to explore the inhibiting and enhancing factors that influence engagement and immersion among AVG gamers. The second aim is to develop a theory of AVG design.

1.7 Delineation

There are a few parameters in place to scope this study. This research does not develop a physical artefact, but a theory. It does not focus on health or weight issues and concerns, but focuses on identifying enhancing and inhibiting factors which influence the gamers' levels of engagement and immersion. This study does not include virtual reality gaming as the researcher is limited in obtaining certain equipment. And lastly, this study does not address every AVG available, but makes use of a varied and limited selection of games that cover as many genres and scenarios as possible.

1.8 Philosophy

Research paradigms provide researchers with a means of studying phenomena that occur in their field of study (Du Plooy-Cilliers, Davis & Benzuidenhout, 2014:19). By adopting a specific paradigm, the remainder of the research is guided by being aligned to the paradigm of choice (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:19). A paradigm influences views, beliefs, and ways in which researchers conduct their study (Du

Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:34-35), as well as influences the lens through which the researcher perceives the data (Gray, 2004:16). Although a number of paradigms exist, there are three common paradigms used among researchers, namely positivism, interpretivism, and critical realism (Gray, 2004:17). Each paradigm consists of an epistemological, ontological, methodological, and axiological position (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:23-24; Kumar, 2011:14). Depending on the adopted paradigm, each ontology, epistemology, methodology, and axiology will differ (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:34-35).

1.8.1 Selected research paradigm

The research paradigm adopted for this study is interpretivism because it is most suited for the type of research conducted, following an inductive and subjective approach.

Epistemology

According to Du Plooy-Cilliers et al. (2014:23), "epistemology deals with the nature of knowledge and the different ways of knowing". This determines how the researcher sees and understands the phenomena and develops beliefs about it. It deals with the understanding of what knowledge is.

Ontology

Ontology concerns itself with reality, existence, and the study of being (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:23; Gray, 2004:16). It asks the question, "How does one know what is real?" Different paradigms observe the same phenomena; however, if two researchers have differing paradigms, the way in which reality is perceived may differ (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:34-35).

Methodological position

Du Plooy-Cilliers et al. (2014:24) note that methodology is a guiding system when it comes to solving problems. It contains the most appropriate research methods for collecting and analysing data. This position consists of qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-methods, among others (Gray, 2004:16), each of which is determined by the paradigm adopted by the researcher (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:24).

Axiology

Axiology offers the researcher insight into a paradigm, in what the paradigm deems as valuable (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:24). It allows the researcher to understand whether or not the values of the paradigm shape and mediate what is understood. According to Agnes and Guralnik (2001), axiology is "the branch of philosophy dealing with the nature of value and the types of value, as in morals, aesthetics, religion, and metaphysics".

1.8.2 Interpretivism paradigm

Interpretivism is the chosen paradigm for this study. Interpretivism is usually used when dealing with social science (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:27). It differs from positivism in that positivism relates to understanding objects and phenomena in the natural sciences. Interpretivism acknowledges that humans cannot be treated the same as objects, therefore a different approach or lens is needed when understanding social science phenomena (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:27).

The reason why humans cannot be studied in the same manner as objects is attributed to their constantly changing behaviour, influenced by the environment in which they find themselves (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:27). Therefore, interpretivist researchers compensate for areas in which positivists might be lacking by addressing social science issues differently (Gray, 2004:20). Interpretivist researchers mostly concern themselves with studying and describing meaningful social interactions in (mostly) social science (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:34-35), whereas positivists concern themselves mainly with understanding the causal relationships of a phenomenon.

The ontology of an interpretivist is a belief that all people experience reality differently depending on factors such as current culture, past experiences, and current circumstances, among others (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:29). This sense of reality and belief differs vastly from the positivists, who believe that reality and the experience thereof is governed and shaped by laws (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:25). According to Du Plooy-Cilliers et al. (2014), interpretivist researchers maintain the opinion that social reality is always in a flux state, meaning that reality is always changing.

Interpretivists depend largely on qualitative research methods because the aim of most interpretivist researchers is to achieve in-depth understanding of multiple realities (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:35). The interpretivist researcher usually approaches the study subjectively, attempting to understand the reality of people via the samples perspective (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:35).

Axiologically, interpretivist researchers value complex interpretations and the understanding of different social realities (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:35). This differs from the positivists' value of research, in that positivists value objectiveness

and the interpretivist researcher values uniqueness (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:35). Therefore, interpretivist researchers include their own views and interpretations as well as the views of the participants in their studies (Du Plooy-Cillierset al., 2014:31).

1.8.3 Positivism paradigm

Positivists are mainly concerned with discovering and explaining causal relationships to predict and possibly control the relevant phenomena (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:25). This paradigm is rooted in the physical or natural sciences (Kumar, 2011:14) and its ontology governs the paradigm within a set of scientific laws (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:25; Gray, 2004:18).

Positivists rely mostly on experiments and the testing and isolation of variables to achieve precision in their research (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:25). Due to their objectivist axiology, positivists highly value the honest representation and accuracy of facts (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:27). Through the accumulation of facts, positivists produce generalisations concerning causal relationships between variables, which in turn become scientific law (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:26; Gray, 2004:18). Because of this objective axiology, positivism has not been selected as the human experience cannot be accounted for from a non-subjective approach.

1.8.4 Critical realist paradigm

Critical realism is formed to fill the gap left from positivists' narrow focus and interpretivism's passive and subjective views (Gray, 2004:24) by taking aspects from both paradigms and taking the stance that, independent of human perspective, real structures exist (aligned with positivist views) and that knowledge is a social construct, which is similar to interpretivist views (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:31).

Critical realism differs from positivism in that instead of discovering causal relationships and predicting results in order to control future events, critical realism is more concerned with understanding and explaining phenomenon (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:31). This is because critical realism aims to empower people to take effective action and to question their existing reality (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:32; Gray, 2004:23-24).

Similar to the interpretivist paradigm, critical realism views knowledge as being nonpermanent because it is dependent on social contexts and underlying structures (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:32-34). However, critical realists do not view this as problematic, as they believe knowledge should be directed towards equipping people with tools to change their existing reality (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:34).

Axiologically, due to being emancipation-orientated, critical realists value freedom and equality (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:35). This differs from both positivism and interpretivism, as positivists value objective research and truth, and interpretivism values uniqueness (Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., 2014:35).

All these factors taken into consideration have led the researcher to adopt the interpretivist paradigm, as it is best suited for the study at hand.

1.9 Research strategy

This study adopts an interpretivist research philosophy and an inductive approach through the research process of constructivist grounded theory over a crosssectional time horizon. Data are collected using all sources; however, focus is placed on observations and interviews as well as secondary data of online articles and blogs of gaming sites and product reviews. Figure 1.1 depicts the overall structure of the study.

Through the use of CGT, the researcher has the opportunity to closely link the cross-disciplinary work of IT and design to form a theory grounded in both disciplines that address the issue of engagement and immersion in AVGs. However, the perspective is represented from an IT point of view.



Figure 1.1: Research roadmap

1.10 Reason for undertaking the study

The reason for undertaking this study is to contribute towards improving the experience gamers have with AVGs, as well as to lower their levels of sedentary behaviours and to promote physical activity.

1.11 Contribution

The contribution is a theory of core categories established through the constructivist grounded theory methodology, which suggests ways in which AVG design can promote continuous engagement and immersion. Another contribution is a data collection tool, used to analyse human experiences. This research contributes towards the IT body of knowledge, as AVGs are an IT artefact and addresses issues concerning AVG design.

1.12 Ethics

The nature of this research requires physical activity through play for a number of participants; therefore, ethical considerations have been taken into account. With regard to participants' involvement, indemnity forms have been issued to ensure that a mutual agreement is reached and that it is purely volunteered participation.

All participants' personal information is kept private and confidential. The identities of participants remain anonymous as they are referred to using an alias name, which is self-assigned by each participant. All pictures of participants used in this research have been approved by the individuals respectively. Consent has been requested to allow the researcher to capture visual, video, and voice data and participants have had the option to decline while still participating in the study.

Before any activities took place, the researcher thoroughly informed the participants of what was about to occur, and the researcher allowed the participants to ask any questions and answered them openly and honestly to the best of her ability. Participants were also made aware that at any point they could stop being an active participant in the study.

No criticism was passed on the participants throughout the duration of the research. The researcher respected all participants throughout the study and agreed to delete all media forms of data captured to give them peace of mind.

1.13 Limitations

Limitations were apparent in this study, which the researcher acknowledged, and where possible the researcher worked around them. The following limitations applied to this study:

The researcher was limited geographically by only selecting participants from the CPUT Cape Town Campus as well as the suburban area of Rondebosch East, as those were areas in reach of the researcher.

The researcher was limited by the number of AVGs that could be used during the study. Although many video game platforms were used, to have a holistic view of the phenomenon, time restricted the ability to play every AVG at hand. Therefore, a selected variety of AVGs were chosen, which incorporated the education, cognitive skills, sport, and rehabilitation genres.

Lastly, the researcher was greatly limited by the research methodology selected - constructivist grounded theory - as the researcher is a novice and has not attempted this type of study before. The large amounts of data to work with proved to be a massive challenge and greatly added to the workload and stress involved in sorting and analysing the data. This research methodology also limited the researcher in that the roadmap to completing the study was unclear. There was no clear indication of how many participants to involve and how many workshops to carry out before

data saturation would be reached. This inhibited clear planning as the methodology comes with the "you'll see how it turns out" con. The researcher managed this limitation by keeping a close relationship with both supervisors to ensure the conducting of the study stayed aligned with its parameters.

1.14 Thesis chapter summary

1.14.1 Chapter Two: Literature Review

Chapter Two consists of a preliminary literature review, which is aligned with the norms of constructivist grounded theory. Therefore, the literature touches on the holistic topic of AVGs; however, it is not extensive as constructivist grounded theory research refrains the researcher from tainting his/her ideas from the literature.

1.14.2 Chapter Three: Research Methodology

Chapter Three links closely to the other chapters throughout the research. It unpacks the constructivist grounded theory in detail and highlights the research process followed throughout the entire study. It addresses the many methodologies available to the researcher and justifies why constructivist grounded theory has been selected. Also, this chapter indicates how and when the data collection and analysis process occurred, as well as how the final theory should be constructed. Lastly, it provides guidance, by means of a secondary literature review, on how the research should be concluded, which serves as the discussion for the research study.

1.14.3 Chapter Four: Data Collection

This chapter discusses the data collection process, as well as pre-, during-, and post-workshop. Workshops are planned and the strategies for each workshop are described. The data collection tool is listed and described. The chapter explains how the tool changes over time, why it changes, and how it addresses the research question. The chapter discusses how the sample group has been selected and describes how participants have been recruited. Supporting software for the data stored and analysed is listed, and the units of analysis and observation are identified. Lastly, the actual data collected are displayed in table format to show what was captured. The chapter ends by introducing the data analysis section.

1.14.4 Chapter Five: Data Analysis

This chapter commences with the focused coding phase in constructivist grounded theory. At this point data have been collected and refined to a certain point. Network views depict the phenomenon at hand and analyse the data further by abstracting the coding categories into higher level groups. At the end of this chapter theoretical coding is explained, which is the last analytical phase of constructivist grounded theory. It concludes by connecting into the final chapter, where the constructed theory is placed.

1.14.5 Chapter Six: Discussion

This chapter starts off by depicting and explaining the constructed theory of the researcher. Thereafter, the chapter serves as a secondary literature review whereby the researcher compares her constructed theory to the current theories that exist in the current body of knowledge (BOK). The literature serves as additional data and further refines the theory. After adapting the final theory, the researcher places this theory back into the IT BOK by comparing it to a motivation theory. Recommendations are given and the researcher concludes the study.

1.14.6 Chapter Seven: Reflection

This chapter is a reflection of the researcher's journey and it addresses the challenges faced throughout the research process. It begins by explaining what the researcher would have done differently and what she learnt along the way. The chapter concludes with the methodological contribution and a summary of the researcher's experience.

1.15 Conclusion

In closing, this chapter stated the research problem and proposed a research question to address the problem. The strategy has been listed, as well as a brief summary of what to expect in the next chapters. The following chapter, the literature review, further contextualises the study and highlights major topics and themes to be discussed later on.

2. CHAPTER TWO: PRELIMINARY LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Given the nature of the research at hand, a constructivist grounded theory approach has been selected as the underlying methodology of choice. Therefore, in keeping aligned with the grounded theory protocol, a preliminary literature review follows. However, the literature review lacks depth with regard to how much is understood by the researcher, because grounded theory does not encourage the researcher to become saturated by the literature before the data collection and data analysis phases have been completed (Evans & Moores, 2013:13; Giles, King & De Lacey, 2013:1). This is recommended for the researcher to maintain an unbiased opinion of the phenomenon at hand and to allow for any data collected and analysed to emerge, rather than to be preconceived (Dunne, 2011:4). The largest part of this preliminary literature review is sporadic and appears as "blindly selecting topics", because the researcher is constrained from delving too deep into the literature.

With this in mind, the literature review covers a high level view of AVGs, the history of AVGs, and aspects related to the engagement and immersion of AVG designs. The research problem states that prolonged play of AVGs is not sustainable as gamers lose interest after the initial period of acquiring them (Zhang et al., 2016:8; Dutta & Pereira, 2015:1; Peng et al., 2012, cited by Garell, 2015:12). Therefore, this leads the research aim to address the exploration of inhibiting and enhancing factors that influence engagement and immersion among AVG gamers. The literature review is guided by the research question: "What design factors contribute to an engaged and immersed AVG experience?" Key search words such as *active video games, design factors, engagement,* and *immersion* also guide the literature review. The searches are conducted through CPUT's online libraries whereby the researcher interrogated the academic databases of EBSCOhost, Scopus, IEEE Xplore Digital Library, Google Scholar, Emerald, ScienceDirect and SpringerLink.

This literature review commences with the meaning of video games and delves into what AVGs are. Thereafter the adoption of video games and how everyday life has become gamified, are discussed. The literature then addresses key topics of engagement and replayability which reflect the research problem. The artefact consoles and accessories as well as in-game design factors such as sound, the user interface, and avatars of AVGs, are discussed. The literature review closes off by presenting a number of benefits associated with AVGs and the matter of

persistence in playing these types of games. The chapter is concluded with a summary of the chapter.

2.2 Video games

Video games can be described in two parts: video, meaning technology, and games, meaning a recreational activity which consists of rules, conflict between player and computer opponent, challenge, skill ability of the player, and an outcome or goal such as winning, losing, or attaining a high score (Wolf, 2007). Video games serve multiple purposes: it can be used as a source of entertainment to induce fun, as an educational tool to challenge participants to develop new skills, or as a health tool to rehabilitate users or to promote physical exertion and bodily movement; however, physical movement video games are referred to as active video games (Garell, 2015).

2.2.1 AVGs

AVGs are also known as exergames, motion games, or active games and it differs from traditional video games in that it involves video simulations and incorporates movement, whereas traditional video games remain sedentary (Bernstein et al., 2015:2). The purpose of AVGs is to promote some form of physical activity, whether the design purpose is for exercise, education, or entertainment (Garell, 2015). AVGs are used in both commercial and health settings with off-the-shelf games such as Nintendo Wii-Fit, or in medical practices where AVGs are used for rehabilitation and physiotherapy (Garell, 2015; Gomes, Carvalho, Peixoto-Souza, Teixeira-Carvalho, Mendonça, Stirbulov, Sampaio et al., 2015).

A number of researchers have identified sedentary behaviours to be a concern and identified AVGs as a feasible solution as AVGs encourage a degree of physical activity (Zhang et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2015; O'Donovan & Hussey, 2012).

2.2.2 AVG consoles and accessories

Current video game consoles are designed to incorporate AVGs (Dutta & Pereira, 2015). Microsoft Xbox has the Kinect, Sony PlayStation4 has the PS Move, and Nintendo Wii or Wii-U makes use of handheld accessories and motion sensors (Zhang et al., 2016; O'Donovan & Hussey, 2012). However, some users have reported minor problems with physical accessories taking up too much physical space (Witherspoon & Manning, 2012) and accessories being accidentally dropped, resulting in physical damage of equipment (Baranowski et al., 2014). Other gaming consoles make use of full body sensors and cameras, such as the PS4 Move (Baranowski et al., 2014). This eliminates the problem of accidental damage by not

requiring the gamer to make use of handheld accessories. Overall, AVGs are accessible through motion sensor cameras as well as through handheld sensor accessories.

2.2.3 Benefits of playing AVGs

AVGs hold a number of benefits if used correctly, as they have been designed and used for entertainment, educational, and physiological purposes. Some studies investigated the possibility of replacing non-AVGs with AVGs to reduce the amount of sedentary time people participate in due to the negative health effects that have been associated with inactive behaviours (Dutta &Pereira, 2015; Simons et al., 2015; Simons et al., 2014).

Other studies have shown that AVGs are successful in improving body composition and lowering the levels of excessive fat on the individual's body (Gomes et al., 2015; Simons et al., 2014). However, at the end of a study conducted by Simons et al. (2015), where they looked at the effects of AVG use, it has shown contradicting results whereby a control group displayed less body mass index (BMI) than the intervention group. BMI is a person's weight in kilograms, divided by the person's height in meters squared (Nicholson, McKean, Lowe, Fawcett, Burkett, 2015:2) and is a more holistic indicator of an individual's health status. Therefore, not all use of AVGs are successfully beneficial to improving gamers' physical and mental conditions.

Simons et al. (2014) posit that for AVGs to be successful in reducing sedentary behaviours and in promoting physical activity, the time spent playing AVGs needs to be increased. Therefore, there is a need for AVGs to be repeatedly played.

2.2.4 Adoption of AVGs

Initially, access to video games was limited to public spaces. This is evident with the first coin-operated video game released for arcades in 1971 (Wolf, 2007). However, shortly after, in 1972, the first home video game system was released, showing signs of rapid growth in the video game industry.

The first AVG console was made available to the public in 2006 when Nintendo launched their Wii console, which came standard with a fitness game set to encourage physical activity (Wolf, 2007). This introduced AVGs to public households and since its release, this type of video game has continued to evolve. Its growth has led to a new way of designing AVGs and has incorporated newer trends such as gamification in its design.

2.3 Gamification

Gamification is "the use of game design elements in non-game contexts" (Deterding, Dixon, Khaled & Nacke, 2011:1). According to Cugelman (2013), gamification is not a game, but an everyday activity that has been transformed through the introduction of gaming elements such as scoring systems and goal setting. This is intended to add fun to ordinary daily experiences to encourage the execution of these experiences. Cugelman (2013) identifies gamification ingredients in a list that includes goal setting, fun and playfulness, ability to overcome challenges, social connectivity, performance feedback, progress comparison, and reinforcement. Many of these elements are required to transform an ordinary activity into a gamified one.

One of the purposes of gamification is to make use of innovative technology such as AVG consoles and games as persuasive tools to alter behaviour in people (Garell, 2015), thereby allowing AVGs on consoles like the Nintendo Wii, PlayStation and XBox to bring traditional outdoor activities, such as baseball and tennis, into the internal space and encouraging physically active behaviour to individuals who may not be willing to go outside to partake in such activities.

According to Garell (2015), gamification has become a trending topic. This is evident with the release of a mobile AVG, Pokémon Go, which transforms an ordinary activity of walking around your neighbourhood into an augmented reality gaming experience. Gamers can see augmented reality Pokémon characters on their mobile devices in relation to their surroundings and are encouraged to take a walk around to find more Pokémon characters to add to their collection. There are other game design motivators to get gamers walking and moving. Poké-eggs containing unknown Pokémon characters hatch after a defined distance has been covered by the gamer. This is an example of how an ordinary daily activity of walking from one place to another has been gamified.

2.4 Design factors

2.4.1 AVG avatars

An avatar is the main character of a game through which a player interacts with the game world (Soutter & Hitchens, 2016). Depending on the game genre, the prominence of the avatar can vary. In role-player games (RPGs), an avatar may occupy the centre of the screen, whereas in first-person shooter games, a portion of the avatar may be visible.

Avatars may be fixed or customisable depending on the game being played (Soutter & Hitchens, 2016). However, it has been found that if the gamer can alter the avatar

to their own preferences, then they will experience a greater sense of enjoyment and immersion into the game itself. This customisation allows the gamer to better identify with the avatar and relate to the game world (Soutter & Hitchens, 2016).

A gamer's identification to the avatar is stronger if the avatar resembles themselves (Soutter & Hitchens, 2016). Therefore, the more one can relate to the onscreen character, the more likely they are to fully immerse themselves in playing the video game. Contrary to this, Soutter and Hitchens (2016) found that their participants report lower levels of game enjoyment and engagement when the avatar is similar to the gamer's identity.

2.4.2 AVG audio

Sound design plays an important role in video games due to its multipurpose ability. Video game sounds can be a part of the background music or can originate from interaction with in-game objects (Domsch, 2016). Gameplay sound can also be a form of feedback from the game itself to the player to inform them of tasks, or criticism as to how they are playing.

Another purpose of sound in a game is to indicate that the game is not frozen when the visual screen is stationary and no gamer input can be given, such as a transition or loading screen (Domsch, 2016). This communication with the gamer is a necessity, as it keeps the gamer informed as to the state of play they are in.

According to Domsch (2016), sound enhances the gameplay experience and allows for a greater sense of immersion into the game world for the gamer. This can be conveyed through the sound of the avatar's footsteps during player movement, as well as ambience sounds in open world games. The design of sound in video games contributes towards the level of engagement that a gamer may experience while playing (Domsch, 2016).

2.4.3 AVGs user interface

A common way for contextual information to be displayed during gameplay is through heads-up displays (HUDs). HUDs provide contextual information related to the current gameplay situation through words, numbers, symbols, or word lists (Brooksby, 2008). Types of information that one is likely to find in a HUD are scores, health bars, and experience levels (Caroux & Isbister, 2016).

According to Caroux and Isbister (2016), it is commonly found that permanent information displayed in HUDs are usually placed around the edges of the screen,

whereas temporary information is usually found in the centre of the screen, usually in the form of warning messages.

Although HUDs are an assistive aid in helping the gamer navigate through the game, some researchers, including Wilson (2006), claim that when a HUD contains too much contextual information it can decrease the level of gamer immersion in the game itself. In accordance with the previous researchers, Soutter and Hitchens (2016) make reference to flow theory in the design of AVGs, which is an optimal state of engagement necessary for continuous use of video games. They concur that when immersion levels are low gamers are in a poor state of 'flow' and will lose their desire for continuous usage of video games. In essence, low immersion leads to gamers not wanting to persist in their use of AVGs.

The composition and spatial organisation of HUDs are regarded as critical according to Caroux and Isbister (2016). The authors conducted a study consisting of a first-person shooter game and a real-time strategy game. First-person shooter games have high anticipation from the gamer; therefore their HUDs composition and spatial organisation play a role in how the gamer interacts with the game. Similarly, this can be applied to AVGs as AVG players require information from the game to know how to respond and interact with the gameplay. Caroux and Isbister (2016) suggest that HUD elements should be displayed as close as possible to the area of main action in the game to enhance the gamer's experience.

More information in a HUD is preferred by the experienced gamer than by the nonexperienced or casual gamer, because the more experienced a gamer is the more familiar he/she is with the information displayed on the HUD (Caroux & Isbister, 2016). For non-experienced gamers, heavily composed HUDs can be too much information to process (Wilson, 2006). HUD bars are preferred at the bottom of game screens (Caroux & Isbister, 2016).

2.5 Engagement and replayability

Various modes of gameplay affect the way gamers engage with the game itself (Neys, Jansz & Tan, 2014). The traditional means is single-player mode whereby an individual plays against the computer or attempts to overcome in-game challenges (Wolf, 2007). Other means of play consist of multi-player modes whereby competition is encouraged between opposing gamers and online gaming, which opens up the gamer to a global variety of opposition. The use of a multi-player mode encourages higher levels of gameplay among children and as some researchers

speculate, may be a better way to encourage continuous gameplay among gamers (Rowland, Malone, Fidopiastis, Padalabalanarayanan, Thirumalai & Rimmer, 2016).

AVGs are designed to address a variety of gamer needs. These needs are, but are not limited to (Neys et al., 2014):

- i. Diversion, whereby a gamer would want to engage in play to distract themselves from their current environment.
- ii. Arousal, which is the need for the gamer to experience a certain sense of excitement.
- iii. Challenge, whereby the gamer would want to demonstrate a level of competence.
- iv. Immersion, which is similar to diversion, but the individual will be seeking a richer experience from the game.
- v. Competition, which is the need for the gamer to prove him/herself better than his/her opponent.
- vi. Social interaction, whereby the gamer fulfils a social need to connect with others.

This means that AVGs provide multiple ways for a gamer's needs to be met and in doing so, could possibly engage the player in the activity.

2.6 Persistence

According to Neys et al. (2014), persistence in games is defined as "the actual experience of wanting to continue playing a particular game in the face of insufficient reward". Neys et al. (2014) is of the belief that the level of experience that gamers project onto themselves will affect the manner in which gamers engage and play AVGs and NAVGs. This is evident through "Gamer Identity Strength", a term used by Neys et al. (2014) to explain how gamers are more likely to persist in playing video games regardless of the level of challenge they are faced with, because being a gamer is a part of that individual's identity. However, it is commonly found that there is not much persistence in playing AVGs despite the existing theories to encourage such behaviour (Zhang et al., 2016; Dutta & Pereira, 2015; Garell, 2015).

2.7 Conclusion

The literature review briefly addressed the difference between video games and AVGs, as well as how AVGs have been adopted into the everyday lives of people. The extent to which AVGs cause engagement and immersion was covered, as well as a key point of noting that there is a lack of persistence in playing AVGs. This is accompanied by the loss of attaining the value of benefits associated with AVG

gameplay. Some features in AVGs have been covered, such as the influence of audio and visual information in these types of games and how each relates to the state of engagement and immersion that gamers experience. The literature review brings to attention the potential research problem to be discussed throughout this study.

Considering that this is a preliminary literature review, it is important to keep in mind that the lack of depth of the literature review is needed for the researcher to successfully complete the study without tainting her understanding of the phenomenon at hand.

3. CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

The following chapter discusses various research methodologies and highlights constructivist grounded theory (CGT) as the method of choice to carry out the study. This section reflects on the researcher's paradigm and shows how it relates to the chosen method. CGT is justified and its process explained in great detail. Where and how CGT influences the other areas of research, such as the research question, literature review, data collection, and data analysis sections, is indicated. It is important to note that for this study, the methodology drives the research. How data should be collected and analysed is extensively discussed and the workshop strategy plans are addressed.

3.2 Paradigm

As mentioned in Chapter One, the researcher adopted an interpretivist approach to the study, which influences the selection of an appropriate methodology. This means the methodology of choice has to be qualitative in nature.

The two choices of research methods are qualitative and quantitative (Myers, 1997:2). Quantitative methods are mostly related to a positivist approach while qualitative methods are usually concerned with understanding social phenomena, therefore the interpretivist approach is usually subjective and the quantitative methods are objective.

This research is concerned with the human experience and the interpretation of data gathered from participants. It is not quantitative and positivist, as it does not deal with statistics and calculative predictions for future events.

The reason why an interpretivist and qualitative approach is appropriate for this study is because the research problem and question concerns human experiences. This research approach is also best suited for achieving the aim of this study, which is to explore both the inhibiting and enhancing factors that influence engagement and immersion among AVG gamers. To accomplish this, the gamer's experience needs to be understood and interpreted through play. Therefore, play becomes the method.

3.3 Methodology

The choice of a research method influences the way in which the researcher gathers and collects data (Myers, 1997). It is important to consider which research methodology is appropriate for this study. There are a number of qualitative research methods (QRMs) that can be used. These QRMs include ethnography, phenomenology, classic, and Straussian grounded theory, as well as narrative studies (Myers, 1997:2-3). Each methodology has its own theoretical development and distinct procedures for collecting and interpreting data (Goulding, 2003).

Grounded theory is flexible in terms of how data are interpreted and used but follows a systematic process of coding, theoretical sampling, and data saturation (Goulding, 2003), which is well suited to interactive situations. Ethnography is more concerned with culture and focuses mainly on participatory observation and interviews (Goulding, 2003). Ethnography is useful for longitudinal studies, as it requires becoming part of a target societal group and observing the culture. Phenomenology is similar to grounded theory; however, it differs in that the result of phenomenology is a description of the participants' experience and can be seen as a reflection on the conscious experience of the participants rather than the subconscious motivation behind why (Goulding, 2003). Grounded theory differs by explaining the cause and motivation behind the phenomenon at hand (Goulding, 2003). Phenomenology also differs in its research process and only makes use of one legitimate source of data (interviews), whereas grounded theory makes use of all sources of data.

3.3.1 Different grounded theories

There are three recognised and acceptable versions of grounded theory methods (GTMs): classic grounded theory (Classic GT), originated by Barney Glaser and Anselm Strauss; Straussian grounded theory (SGT), originated by Anselm Strauss and Juliet Corbin; and constructivist grounded theory, which is originated by Kathy Charmaz (Mills & Francis, 2006).

CGT is a variation and differentiation from the original classic grounded theory (Stol et al., 2016). Although it shares similar core principles with the other versions of GTM, there are differentiations in the way coding takes place as well as differing philosophical positions and use of literature (Kenny & Fourie, 2015).

3.3.2 Disadvantages of SGT and Classic GT

A number of researchers have criticised Straussian grounded theory by arguing that it is too complicated and detracts from the true nature of grounded theory (Kenny & Fourie, 2015; Urquhart, Lehmann & Myers, 2010). SGT is seen as highly systematic and rigorous in its coding procedures, which can be limiting to exploring research phenomenon's. Straussian grounded theory emphasises complex coding techniques
and its' coding process consists of unique steps: open coding, axial coding and selective coding. Kenny and Fourie (2015) criticise that SGT's complicated coding process forces the collected data into preconceived ideas that coerce a theory, and Charmaz (2000) adds to the criticism of SGT by stating that Strauss and Corbin's version of GTM is "positivist, rigid, narrow and over complicated". For this study, SGT is not selected due to its rigid and complicated processes, as well as the further development of SGT moving in the direction of CGT. Corbin reformed SGT in the direction of CGT (Kenny & Fourie, 2015).

Classic GT is similar to CGT; however, it has been criticised as being ambivalent about its research paradigm, with a number of researchers claiming that it has a "soft positivism" approach (Kenny & Fourie, 2015). This is because Classic GT suggests that the final theory is based off a discovered pre-existing phenomenon (Kenny & Fourie, 2015). The process is also susceptible to personal biased interpretation of the data as Glaser (2002) admits by saying that "analysts are human" and can unintentionally sway interpretation according to their own personal biases. Kenny and Fourie (2015) complain that Classic GT is an inconsistent methodology as it incorporates interpretivist coding practices along with positivist research paradigms. It's coding steps consist of open coding, axial coding and selective coding. This goes against the interpretivist approach being adopted by the researcher and has influenced the researcher's decision to not select this form of grounded theory.

3.3.3 Selected methodology

Based on the comparison between various QRMs, and given the alternate grounded theories above, the selected methodology for this study is constructivist grounded theory (CGT).

3.3.4 Main claim

CGT produces a theory that is grounded in the experience of the participants as well as the experience and interpretation of the researcher (Mills, Bonner & Francis, 2006). Therefore, this research developed a theory that is 'grounded' in the experience of AVG gamers and subjective to the interpretation and experience of the researcher. The theory promotes a set of guidelines to advise the future design of AVGs to specifically encourage immersion and engagement.

For the methodology of CGT to be valid, it needs to adhere to the following core principles (Stol et al., 2016):

i. Collecting, coding and analysis of data should undergo constant comparison

- ii. Memo writing should be done to support the conceptualisation of data
- iii. Theoretical sampling
- iv. Data saturation
- v. Developing a theory
- vi. Limited exposure to literature
- vii. Treat everything as data

3.3.5 Reason for selection

CGT is based on an inductive research approach (Stol et al., 2016) which is well suited for this study as it enables the achievement of one part of the research aim, namely to propose a theory that advises the future design of AVGs to promote an immersed and engaged gamer experience.

CGT bases the final theory on the experiences of the participants (Mills & Francis, 2006), which is necessary in fulfilling the objective of answering the research aim to explore the inhibiting and enhancing factors that influence engagement and immersion for AVG gamers. In order to address the research question, the collection and analysis of participants' experiences are critical.

CGT is also selected as a methodology because it allows for a wide collection of qualitative data through many different forms (Urquhart & Fernandez, 2013). This allows for a fairly accurate overview of the phenomenon. It is also selected because the methodology follows a systematic and structured process for extracting value from the data (Evans & Moores, 2013; Urquhart & Fernandez, 2013). This structure is needed to make sense of seemingly unrelated data.

CGT provides a systematic method of collecting and analysing data and allows for an explanatory interpretation of the phenomenon (Evans & Moores, 2013). This aligns with the researcher's interpretivist paradigm approach to the study.

3.3.6 Advantages of CGT

CGT makes use of simplistic and highly adaptable coding guidelines (Kenny & Fourie, 2015). The coding steps consist of open coding, focused coding and theoretical sensitivity. The coding procedure is more interpretive and intuitive than Classic GT and SGT, and it makes use of in-depth interviews to yield a greater exploration of the meanings behind the participants' feedback (Kenny & Fourie, 2015). This aligns with the researcher's aim to explore, and it supports the interpretivist approach adopted by the researcher.

However, CGT has been criticised by Glaser (2002) as being susceptible to valuing the researcher's view as more important than that of the participants, given that it is deeply based in the interpretation of the researcher and the relationship between the researcher and participant. This has been defended by Charmaz (2006) who asserts that "we are part of the world we study and the data we collect". Therefore, it is not possible for the researcher to create an unobtrusive relationship with the social research (Kenny & Fourie, 2015).

3.3.7 CGT methodology process

CGT begins with a brief review of the literature to determine what has been done in the area of interest (Evans & Moores, 2013). This allows the researcher to identify a gap in the body of knowledge worth researching. Thereafter, during the preliminary phase, the researcher should only plan and determine how the initial data should be collected. Further planning for data collection throughout the study should not be done, as this is determined by the analysis of the data collected (Kenny & Fourie, 2015).

Data was collected during workshops, and analysed using Atlas.ti. Initial coding and memoing occurred immediately (Charmaz, 2012). The purpose of analysing data immediately is to get the researcher familiar with the data, and memoing from the start provides the researcher with an analytical momentum, which allows the researcher to consider, question, and clarify trends in the collected data (Charmaz, 2012).

Data analysis undergoes line-by-line coding, thus allowing the researcher to actively engage with the data as well as to form theoretical categories through comparative methods, memoing, and theoretical sampling (Charmaz, 2012). Comparative methods include comparing data against data, data against categories, and categories against categories (Stol et al., 2016). Theoretical sampling is the process of refining tentative theoretical categories by continuously collecting and analysing data to fill out the properties of the theoretical categories (Charmaz, 2012).

This process of collecting and analysing data was repeated until theoretical saturation occurred, which is the exhaustion of properties related to the emerged theoretical categories (Stol et al., 2016). Once data saturation has been achieved, the collection of data ceased (Charmaz, 2012). This repetitive process of collecting and analysing data in CGT is also known as "refocused coding" (Kenny & Fourie, 2015).

Once theoretical categories have been established, the researcher proceeded by refining the existing categories into the final theory (Kenny & Fourie, 2015). This theory is grounded in the data collected and analysed and serves as the research contribution. The following diagram (Figure 3.1) depicts the CGT process which has been explained above.



Figure 3.1: Process of CGT

3.3.8 CGT phases of data collection and analysis

Data analysis occurs parallel to the data collection process and consists of three main phases of constructivist grounded theory: open coding, focused coding, and theoretical coding (Evans & Moores, 2013:10; Dunne, 2011:1). Before conducting the actual data collection workshops, pilot data were collected and stored in a hermeneutic unit (HU) in Atlas.ti.

In CGT, open coding is the initial collection of data and line-by-line analysis, which results in a list of codes (Evans & Moores, 2013:10). Focused coding occurs simultaneously with open coding; however, during this phase new data are compared to existing codes and the researcher is more selective in what he/she is looking for (focused coding), as well as open coding, which results in new codes. Theoretical coding in terms of constructivist grounded theory is "the merging of concepts into groups" (Evans & Moores, 2013:10). This is the highest form of abstraction from the data and during this phase, core categories are constructed

and theoretical sensitivity is reached. This is accomplished by comparing code groups against other code groups and stand-alone codes to further abstract the substantive codes to form theoretical codes (Bryant & Charmaz, 2007:9). Substantive codes are an outcome of the open coding phase and theoretical codes are the outcome of high level abstraction when substantive codes are compared to one another and relationships are formed between them (Sbaraini, Carter & Evans, 2017:7-8; Bryant & Charmaz, 2007:9). Table 3:1 describes the three phases of data collection and analysis for a CGT study.

Phase	Method	Outcome
Open	Data vs. Data	Codes
Focused	Data vs. Codes	Code Groups / Tentative Categories

Table 3.1: Data anal	vsis phases	for constructivist	grounded theory	(CGT)

Data and Codes vs. Code Groups

After theoretical sensitivity has been reached, the researcher should compare their findings back to the literature (Giles et al., 2013:5). This is where the secondary literature review takes place and is more focused on what has been constructed. Literature serves as further data for comparison purposes and refining the final theory (Glaser, 1998).

Core Categories /Theoretical Sensitivity

3.4 Role of the researcher

Theoretical

The researcher plays a close role throughout the entire methodology process. Due to the nature of CGT, the researcher is required to interact with the participant and form a relationship to communicate and gather data. The researcher plays a pivotal role in analysing the data through the bias of his/her perception and understanding, as well as his/her ontological stance throughout the study (Urquhart et al., 2010; Mills & Francis, 2006).

This may be seen as unscientific and biased, however, due to the interpretivist ontological stance taken by the researcher and that of the originator of CGT, "we are part of the world we study and the data we collect". Therefore, it is not possible for the researcher to create an unobtrusive relationship with the social research (Kenny & Fourie, 2015).

It is necessary for the researcher to be aware of potential bias towards conducting the study (Evans & Moores, 2013). The researcher ensured an objective analysis

and interpretation of the participants' 'story' at all times. Measures have been taken to ensure that as little as possible interference occurs between the researcher and the participant during the workshop.

3.5 Limitations

This study is limited to participants of a specific geographic location, as these are areas in reach of the researcher. Also, because of the nature of the selected methodology, the study is limited to micro-focusing on data and analysis; therefore, larger concepts are overlooked as the minute details shape the output theory. Another limitation is set on the selected AVGs that were tested, as these have been selected based on previously owned AVGs. Lastly, a major limitation is placed on the researcher who has foundational knowledge in the IT sphere, but lacks design knowledge. Therefore, the researcher is not as observant to design trends that might have been relevant to this research study. To mitigate this challenge, the researcher worked closely with the co-supervisor who is qualified in the design discipline.

3.6 Ethics

Participatory interviews involve physical activity, which takes into consideration the current state of health of the participant. Indemnity forms have been drafted and given to potential participants for them to take part in the data collection process and to hold them liable and accountable for any unforeseen accidents and injuries which could occur during or after participation. AVGs require physical exertion and expenditure of energy.

Careful consideration has been given to the fact that this research entails a human testing approach. Participants' identities are and will remain anonymous, as will their weight classification and medical information. Participants have not been made to feel judged or criticised for their level of physical fitness.

3.7 Research design

This study adopted an interpretivist research philosophy and an inductive approach through the research process of CGT over a cross-sectional time horizon. Data were collected using all sources; however, focus was placed on observations and interviews by means of workshops as well as secondary data of online articles and blogs of gaming sites and product reviews (Figure 1.1).

3.7.1 Sampling

A non-random sampling process was used as it targeted a specific group of people, not gender specific. The age group targeted was between eighteen and thirty so that adult consent could be given from the approached individuals. This specific demographic was selected because gamers of different age groups prefer different video game design features. Children are more likely to have different game preferences than young adults.

The researcher selected the participants from the Cape Peninsula University of Technology and the Crawford and Rondebosch East community because participants were more accessible to the researcher in these areas. Participants have been selected based on their willingness to voluntarily partake in this study.

When deciding how many participants should be used, the initial number of participants was two. This formed the first data collection and analysis process. Thereafter, the total number of participants was determined by reaching a data saturation point (data collection ceased once the data indicated the same coding groups for data analysis). According to Khambete and Athavankar (2010), "Grounded Theory prescribes use of theoretical sampling, with no prescribed minimum number of interviews".

3.7.2 Unit of observation and unit of analysis

Both the unit of observation and the unit of analysis were people who play AVGs.

3.7.3 Tool

The data collection tool consisted of a number of components that worked together to document and manage the data collection process. These components were aimed at capturing the human experience and serve as contributing data to developing the theory. A number of video games and consoles formed part of the data collection tool so that participants could interact with these consoles to provide information to the researcher.

List of components (Appendix A):

- i. Form 1: Research consent form
- ii. Form 2: Participant coding and personal information
- iii. Form 3A: Interview questions
- iv. Form 3B: Observation
- v. Form 4: Memo
- vi. Form 5: Gameplay instructions

- vii. Form 6: Pre-test evaluation
- viii. Form 7: Participant briefing letter

List of games:

- i. Mobile: Pokémon Go
- ii. Nintendo Wii: Mario and Sonic 2012 London Olympic Games
- iii. Nintendo Wii: Trauma Centre New Blood
- iv. Nintendo Wii Fit: Shaun White Snowboarding
- v. Nintendo Wii Fit: Plus
- vi. XBox Kinect: Dance Central 3
- vii. XBox Kinect: Dragon Ball Z
- viii. XBox Kinect: Adventures
- ix. PS4: Rabbids

3.8 The CGT data collection process

Given the selected research methodology of constructivist grounded theory, data were collected from many sources, including blogs, newspapers, online articles, and journal entries (memoing). However, a large portion of data was collected primarily from people through organised workshops. Information was gathered from multiple sources to ensure that the research consisted of a qualitative understanding of the phenomenon.

Data were collected from participants by means of semi-structured interviews and the use of a smartphone to capture visual and audio data. The interview consisted of open-ended questions to extract information from the participant, as well as subquestions to probe further into the participants' responses. Interviews were voice recorded using Smart Voice Recorder software to ensure the capturing of verbal data.

3.8.1 The workshop procedure

Figure 3.2 depicts the procedures followed that guided the research workshops.



Figure 3.2: Activity diagram of the data collection workshop procedure

3.8.2 How data were collected in this study

The researcher began by allowing the participants to engage with the AVG artefact and made use of the data collection tools at hand to capture the experience (Figure 3.2). If consent has been granted, the researcher proceeded to take pictures and video footage of the participants while they played the AVG.

Thereafter, the researcher conducted a personal interview with each participant while using a voice recorder to capture the responses and taking written notes as the participants answered the interview questions.

Directly after completion of the workshop, the researcher wrote a reflective memo to capture the highlights of the experience and proceeded to digitally capture all information and store it in the Atlas.ti tool. Thereafter, the researcher read through each memo, observation form, and interview script, and conducted a line-by-line analysis and coding. Voice recordings as well as pictures were stored and coded in Atlas.ti.

After each workshop the researcher planned the next workshop strategy for future data collection.



Figure 3.3: Researcher's process of following CGT

3.9 Validity and reliability of data collected

The validity and reliability of data collected was ensured by managing and storing the collected data in Atlas.ti software. Atlas.ti is a computer-aided qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) tool that supports the process of qualitative data analysis (Friese, 2012). It does not analyse the data for the researcher; however, it does assist by providing automated processes to manage the task of organising the data.

The Atlas.ti tool assisted the qualitative data analysis by increasing the validity of the research results, especially during the conceptual stage of analysis (Friese, 2012). This is because the use of manual methods can lead the researcher to forget the data behind the concepts established through grounded theory. However, a software supported analysis makes it easier for the researcher to remember the trail of thought initially held when conceptualising theoretical categories (Friese, 2012).

Data reliability and validity was ensured by making use of memoing, which is a grounded theory technique of documenting the research process and interpreting the data as it is collected. This provided a sense of an audit trail to the data collected and a log of how the focus and nature of the research evolved as data were collected and analysed.

Pilot tests were conducted to test the process of analysis and to refine the manner in which the data were utilised during the data collection.

All forms that were part of the data collection tool were scanned and stored in Atlas.ti to ensure that no data were captured incorrectly. Coding took place on the scanned forms during data analysis.

3.10 Data analysis strategy

Our history and culture influence and shape our view of the world, and it moulds our ideas concerning the meaning of truth (Mills & Francis, 2006). This ties in to how the data have been interpreted by the researcher. The researcher therefore acknowledges that the way in which information is viewed and interpreted, is subjective to the perception of the interpreter.

For this study, Atlas.ti software was used to store and analyse the data collected. According to Friese (2012), using Atlas.ti makes it easier to analyse data systematically and to ask analytical questions. The software automates many manual processes, thus giving the researcher more time to focus on analysis. This computer-aided software assisted with the data analysis process by providing systematic structure to the analysis process, which ensured a reliable interpretation of the data collected.

This specific software is especially well-suited to assist in conducting a grounded theory methodology, as its features include coding and grouping of concepts as well as displaying data in various network views to assist in seeing the data from different angles.

Data were analysed through the CGT process. This means that as data were collected, it was analysed and re-used to create new questions to pose to the participants. Data have been coded and grouped into theoretical categories until a data saturation point was reached. Thereafter, the data formed part of a core category that was further analysed and refined to create a new theory.

3.11 Conclusion

The research methodology highlights the importance of carefully selecting the appropriate methodology that aligns with the perspective of the researcher and the nature of the research problem. CGT has been justified as the most appropriate methodology to carry out this research. How CGT influences each section of the study has been noted as the research process describes the manner in which a study should be executed. Data collection workshops and data analysis have been addressed. The analytical process for executing a CGT methodology maps the way forward for the next two chapters, data collection (Chapter Four) and data analysis (Chapter Five).

4. CHAPTER FOUR: DATA COLLECTION

4.1 Introduction

The data collection process is structured around the parameters in line with CGT. Although CGT accepts all sources of information as data, the main source of data used comes from conducting semi-structured interviews with participants through interactive workshops. CGT has a unique way of conducting its data collection process as it occurs simultaneously with data analysis. It is important to keep in mind that CGT makes use of three phases, which controls the process of collecting and analysing data to forming a theory. Figure 4.1 visually presents the process of simultaneous and repetitive data collection and analyses throughout the CGT study.



Figure 4.1: CGT open and focused coding cycle

The chapter focuses on phase one of CGT. The focus is on open coding and crossing over into phase two of the focused coding. However, only the data collected is presented; the analysis of the data collected is indicated in Chapter Five.

This chapter also covers the three versions of the data collection tool. The data collection is discussed and the data are described. Workshop structures and strategies as well as the software used to store and analyse the collected data are discussed.

4.2 Tool description

The interview questions component (Appendix A, Form 3A) of the data collection tool consists of three versions: i) the initial interview questions, ii) version 2, and iii) version 3. The first questionnaire consists of four questions. Each variation contains new questions required to elicit information in answer to previous questions asked while analysing the data.

Table 4.1: Comparison of questionnaire versions

	Version 1	Version 2	Version 3
Question 1	Were you engaged and/or immersed?	Were you engaged and/or immersed? How did you feel?	Were you engaged and/or immersed? How did you feel?
Sub- question 1	At which points did you feel engaged / immersed?	At which points did you feel engaged / immersed?	At which points did you feel engaged / immersed?
Sub- question 2	What aspects about this activity engaged/ immersed you most?	What aspects about this activity engaged / immersed you most?	What aspects about this activity engaged / immersed you most?
Sub- question 3	What aspects about this activity frustrated / put you off the most?	What aspects about this activity frustrated / put you off the most?	What aspects about this activity frustrated / put you off the most?
Question 2	What will make you want to play this game again?	What will make you want to play this game again?	What will make you want to play this game again?
Sub- question 1	What features would you like to see added / removed?	What features would you like to see added / removed?	What features would you like to see added / removed?
Sub- question 2	What would you like to see more of / less of?	What was your opinion about the challenges in the game?	What was your opinion about the challenges in the game?
Sub- question 3	How did you feel about the challenges in the game?		
Question 3	Do you feel as though you exercised after playing this AVG?	How did you feel playing alongside somebody?	How did you feel playing alongside somebody?
Sub- question 1	How much?	Would you prefer playing alone or with someone?	Would you prefer playing alone or with someone?
Sub- question 2	How little?	How would you describe your relationship to the other participant?	How would you describe your relationship to the other participant?

	Version 1	Version 2	Version 3
Question 4	Do you feel as though your needs as a gamer were met?	Did you at any point feel silly or uncomfortable playing?	Did you at any point feel silly or uncomfortable playing?
Sub- question 1		Does how you look when playing bother you around another gamer?	Does how you look when playing bother you around another gamer?
Sub- question 2		Why, or why not?	Why, or why not?
Question 5		Do you feel as though your needs as a gamer were met?	Do you feel as though your needs as a gamer were met?
Question 6			What opinion do you hold concerning the avatars?

The tool itself consists of eight components:

- i. Participant briefing letter
- ii. Research consent form
- iii. Participant coding and information form
- iv. Pre-test evaluation form
- v. Observation form
- vi. Memo form
- vii. Interview questions form
- viii. AVG instructions

4.3 Purpose of each component

The data collection tool consists of eight components and each one serves a specific purpose in this research. The following section briefly describes the purpose of each component. It was necessary to make use of multiple tools for the researcher to capture the phenomenon from as many perspectives as possible.

4.3.1 Research consent

The research consent document serves as a formal letterhead from CPUT providing information to the participants regarding the researcher's supervisors as well as the faculty research ethics committee secretary and his/her contact details (Appendix A, Form 1). This document provides the participants with the necessary information to make inquiries concerning the authenticity of the research workshops being carried out by the researcher. The consent document also asks for permission to collect data from the participants. The document needs to be signed for the participants to

take part in the research activity. However, they are permitted to not participate, if at any stage they feel to withdraw from participating.

4.3.2 Participant coding and information

The participant coding and information form (Appendix A, Form 2) contains fields requesting the personal information of the participants, such as name, age, and medical condition. One of the main purposes of this form is to allow the participants to create their own aliases, which they are identified by in the study. This is to protect their identities throughout the research. Another purpose of the form is to serve as a checklist to introduce the study in more detail. At the end of the form permission requests are made to ask the participants' consent to being recorded visually and audibly for further analysis of the data captured.

4.3.3 Interview questions

The interview questions component (Appendix A, Form 3A) serves a major role in identifying the information needed to understand the phenomenon. It serves a great purpose for the researcher and allows interaction between the participants and researcher. This form has undergone the most alterations, as it is the main form used to extract data and information from the workshop. This form allows for the extraction of specific information regarding questions derived from previous analysis from the participants and gives meaning to the data analysed.

4.3.4 Observation

The observation form (Appendix A, Form 3B) is intended to assist in identifying the factors that should be taken into account when observing the research activity. This is meant to make it easier to observe the surroundings without missing any obvious factors. Observations include the actual environment, the state of the participants themselves, the gaming console, and how the participants interact with it. The researcher conducted a self-evaluation to establish any possible personal influences on the process of observation and data collected.

4.3.5 Memo

The memo form (Appendix A, Form 4) is important in documenting multiple sections of the workshop. Memos are used to document observations, conducting reflection reports, and analysing data.

4.3.6 Gameplay instructions

The AVG instructions component (Appendix A, Form 5) is designed solely for the participants to allow the researcher to have as little interaction with the research

activity as possible. This is to ensure the non-interference of the researcher. The instructions give the participants a great deal of leeway to move around in the AVG, to simply be themselves, and to discover where there are uncertainties in playing the AVG.

4.3.7 Pre-test evaluation

The pre-test evaluation form (Appendix A, Form 6) is intended to identify the prestate of the participants before conducting the activity in case any state might justify why they behave in the way they proceed to do. The pre-test evaluation determines the participants' level of fitness, the type of gamer the participants are, their needs and preferences when playing AVGs, and their current emotional and physiological state at the time of playing the game.

4.3.8 Participant brief

The purpose of the participant briefing letter (Appendix A, Form 7) is to provide a summary of the nature of the research being conducted so that the participants are well informed. The letter is given to participants for safe keeping so that they have an informed understanding of the activities they partake in.

4.4 Workshop strategy

The initial workshop has no particular goal in mind other than observing the participants and capturing and analysing the data. From the first workshop's analysis, the research tool is adapted as more questions emerge relating to the engagement and immersion experience.

The second workshop has a strategy in mind to identify the behaviours between unknown people. For the second workshop, a male and female are used and the difference in behaviour is notable. The aim is to identify whether or not the sequence of activities influence the participants' performance by scheduling the most energy intense activities first and then alter this for a separate workshop where the least energy intensive activity is done first. Workshop 2 and Workshop 4 both make use of the XBox 360 between strangers of the same gender and opposite genders.

Workshop 3 consists of one participant who plays with a mobile AVG. This is to observe how a player reacts when playing alone.

After Workshop 4, the strategy incorporates the use of three participants instead of two to determine if the number of simultaneous players influences engagement and immersion levels. For this study, awkward activities were specifically aimed for because the trend of uncomfortable bodily movements and stances stood out as a significant factor influencing engagement and immersion levels.

Workshop 5's interview questions incorporate questions (Appendix A, Form 3A) pertaining to the avatar specifically, because the involvement of avatars seems to be a trending factor in AVGs, and because participants spent a great deal of time elaborating on their views of the avatars during previous workshop interviews in this study.

Figure 4.2 displays the workshop strategy for Workshop 2A and 2B, which compares the order of AVGs and the number of participants playing at one time.



Figure 4.2: Workshop 2A and 2B strategy plan

4.5 Workshop flow

4.5.1 Before the workshop

The data collection process began by approaching an individual from the sample group and asking if they would like to participate. With their willingness expressed, the researcher asked for their contact details to schedule their time slot. Thereafter, the researcher booked a venue in the Engineering building at CPUT, Cape Town Campus. The rooms made available were 2.25, 2.26 and the IT BTech laboratory. Workshops were usually planned for one per week, for the researcher to have enough time to plan the workshop strategy, book the venue, to meet with the co-supervisor to analyse the data after the workshop, and to reconstruct the data tool where needed. Once a date had been established, the participants were contacted and asked to come in. The gaming console was selected for the participants prior to the workshop instead of allowing the participants to decide. This was done to have better control over the workshop strategy.

4.5.2 During the workshop

The workshop began with the researcher introducing the research project and by introducing the participants to each other. The introduction included a description of the research activity that the participants would be performing, as well as ensuring them they could stop the activity at any time. All ethical considerations were taken into account and an indemnity form was given to each participant to sign so that they would take full responsibility for their involvement in the research project. The introductions were done in a safe and friendly manner, respecting each participant in the process.

After completing their indemnity forms, the researcher proceeded by handing over a list of instructions for each AVG to the participants (refer to Form A for instructions). At this point the researcher took up a seating position away from the participants, and allowed them to execute their instructions while they played the AVGs. The researcher observed the participants playing and took down notes where necessary (see observation and memo forms). The researcher took videos and pictures only during workshops where participants gave their consent. The only time the researcher stepped in was when the participants did not know what to do and asked for assistance. Figure 4.3 is an image of the space used to host the initial workshop.



Figure 4.3: Workshop setup

Each workshop had an average duration of two hours. On completion of the research activity, both the participants and the researcher reported for an interview (Appendix D). Voice recordings were done during each interview in order to capture all information for further analysis by the researcher at a later time; written notes were also taken throughout the interview as a method of documenting the answers given by each participant. Participants were thanked upon completion of the workshop.

4.5.3 After the workshop

After the workshop the researcher collected all the pre-interview and interview forms and completed these forms. Thereafter, a memo was written for each workshop to record the observations made by the researcher. All the forms were digitally scanned and captured into Atlas.ti.

Data analysis commenced after the initial workshop. As each form was transcribed line by line, the initial set of codes emerged. Four hundred and ten (410) codes were originally formed after the initial workshop as coding was done *in vivo*, meaning each code, although the same as another, was captured verbatim.

After transcribing the data, the researcher met with the co-supervisor to discuss the workshop execution and the codes that were identified. Both supervisor and co-supervisor attended the first two workshops to facilitate the session and to provide constructive feedback to the researcher. Feedback was given by the co-supervisor and the researcher proceeded by altering the data collection tool where needed,

planning a new workshop strategy, and repeating the data collection process. This process of collecting data was repeated until data saturation was reached.

4.6 Ethics

The workshops were audibly recorded and visually captured with the consent of the participants. The CPUT Cape Town Campus security manager was approached to ask for consent to host non-CPUT students on site, and consent was granted. Letters of consent are attached in Appendix B.

Data collection has a degree of validity due to it being digitally captured while simultaneously being documented primarily by means of observations. Images and voice recordings depict events accurately and video recordings capture the full experience of the workshops.

The manner in which data are stored and preserved ensures the reliability of the data collection. Atlas.ti hosts the data, which include scanned copies of all forms, memos, and interview questions. Due to multiple forms of the same data (documents, images, voice, and video) the data collected maintain its relevance, accuracy, and reliability.

The Atlas.ti tool and its purpose have been mentioned in Chapter Three, section 3.9.

4.7 Open coding phase

This section focuses on the specific data collected for each workshop and the codes that emerged from it. Data collected were grouped per workshop and tabulated. This section also serves as a narrative account of the events that took place.

Before the researcher hosted any data collection workshops, a pilot test was conducted on test data to ensure the correct use of the Atlas.ti tool and the familiarisation of the process of storing and managing data. Atlas.ti is the computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) supported by the Cape Peninsula University of Technology. The use of Atlas.ti offers the opportunity to store, code, and analyse large volumes of qualitative data. The software also provides a mechanism that clearly shows relationships between data and emerging categories. These qualities relate directly to the required process of a grounded theory study.

4.8.1 Pilot analysis: exploring the process and building CAQDAS proficiency

Initially the researcher collected articles and reviews of AVGs online, which consisted of blogs, product reviews, images, and ratings. The AVG articles were

specific to the PlayStation 4, XBox Kinect, and Nintendo Wii consoles, as well as mobile AVGs.

The articles were stored in separate folders for each AVG and the documents were stored in Atlas.ti HU. This initial test data were coded and assisted the researcher in becoming familiar with working with the analytical tool, as well as experimenting with new methods that would be best to code the data. Multiple attempts were made before understanding the difference between normal coding and *in vivo* coding. *In vivo* coding proved to be more beneficial in that it took the analysis deeper by using the actual words the reviewers used.

Each article was read line by line to submerge the researcher in the data. While reading and coding each line, the reviews shaped the researcher's idea of what critics and users look for in AVGs and what differentiates favourable conditions from non-favourable ones. Conducting a pilot analysis also gave the researcher an estimate of what to expect in dealing with the amount of data when conducting the workshops for data collection.

The first draft of the pilot HU was labelled "Pilot Hermeneutic Unit" and consisted of two hundred and eighty four (284) codes (Figure 4.4). The researcher became more familiar with the tool and began creating code groups. However, at this point the researcher encountered the first major problem. The codes had no way of differentiating themselves from others. Because the focus and scope of collecting and analysis data used immersion and engagement and guide posts, codes such as "social experience" have not provided sufficient knowledge on whether or not it contributed towards engaging and immersive experiences or if it took away from it. Therefore, coding was done again with the difference of incorporating a key into the codes to differentiate between inhibiting and enhancing factors.

Families	Name	Grounded	Density	Author	Created	Modified	Families
Show all Codes	💥 easy integration into personal life	11	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:31:37 PM	19/10/2016 07:31:37 PM	Gamification - Enhances E/I
ugs & Glitches - Frustrating (7)	💥 missing features	10	0	Super	19/10/2016 06:57:33 PM	19/10/2016 07:36:27 PM	Lack of features - Inhibiting E/I - Frustrati
hallenge x Skill Alignment (14)	💥 environment not well suited for the game	10	0	Super	24/10/2016 01:25:13 PM	24/10/2016 01:25:13 PM	Unplayable Environments - Inhibiting E/I
naracters & Design (9)	💥 bugs and glitches	10	0	Super	19/10/2016 06:58:05 PM	19/10/2016 06:58:05 PM	Bugs & Glitches - Frustrating
Ilecting Characters (13)	🛱 collecting	10	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:04:21 PM	19/10/2016 07:32:22 PM	Collecting Characters
ompeting (9)	X lack of content/features	8	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:28:45 PM	19/10/2016 07:29:15 PM	Lack of features - Inhibiting E/I - Frustrati
entextual Information (5)	🔆 heavy on resources	5	0	Super	24/10/2016 01:42:48 PM	24/10/2016 01:42:48 PM	5.
okes Feelings and Emotions (12)	X increased social activity	5	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:12:35 PM	19/10/2016 07:12:35 PM	Socializing - Inhibiting and Enhancing E/
ercising - Enhancing and Inhibiting E/L(5)	🔆 encourages exercise	5	0	Super	24/10/2016 02:18:19 PM	24/10/2016 02:18:19 PM	Exercising - Enhancing and Inhibiting E/I
ploring (7)	Social aspect	5	0	Super	24/10/2016 01:28:21 PM	24/10/2016 01:28:21 PM	Socializing - Inhibiting and Enhancing E/
meplay Modes (4)	S collecting pokemon	4	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:05:02 PM	19/10/2016 07:05:02 PM	Collecting Characters
mification - Enhances E/I (3)	S handheld controls preferred	4	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:41:48 PM	19/10/2016 07:42:13 PM	Controllers
imorous (2)	Strails to meet expectations/hype	4	0	Super	24/10/2016 01:49:08 PM	24/10/2016 01:49:08 PM	Needs & Expectations Fulfilment
ppropriate AR Landmarks (2)	Should add more features	4	0	Super	24/10/2016 01:36:07 PM	24/10/2016 01:36:07 PM	Lack of features - Inhibiting E/I - Erustrat
ck of activity/things to do (7)	V lack of depth	4	0	Super	19/10/2016 08:53:49 PM	19/10/2016 08:53:49 PM	Lack of Depth and Meaning
ck of Depth and Meaning (12)	Ž nice graphics	4	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:53:54 PM	19/10/2016 07:56:10 PM	Characters & Design
ck of features - Innibiting E/I - Frustrating (31)	X noorly developed features	4	0	Super	19/10/2016 07:10:18 PM	19/10/2016 07:10:18 PM	Lack of features - Inhibiting F/L- Erustrat
biton controls (6)	X poonly developed readers		0	Super	24/10/2016 02:01:27 PM	24/10/2016 02:01:27 PM	Socializing - Inhibiting and Enhancing E/
eeds & Expectations Fulfilment (5)	S limited environment features	3	0	Super	24/10/2016 02:12:17 PM	31/10/2016 04-58-06 PM	Lack of features - Inhibiting E/L- Erustrat
orly Designed (6)	X classic characters are good		0	Super	24/10/2016 01:57:26 DM	24/10/2016 01:57:26 DM	Characters & Design
oviding Distraction (4)	X classic characters are good		0	Super	24/10/2010 01:37:20 PW	24/10/2010 01:37:20 PW	Gamification Enhances E/I
pitition - inhibiting E/I (4)	Se gaminication		0	Super	10/10/2010 01:56:20 PW	10/10/2010 01:56:20 PW	Third and Applications
cializing - Inhibiting and Enhancing E/I (11)	Chird-party tracking websites		0	Super	19/10/2010 00:35:17 PW	19/10/2016 00:35:17 PM	Challenges Skill Alignment
und/Voice/Music (5)	S impossible competition to beat		0	Super	19/10/2010 07:19:10 PW	19/10/2010 07:50:50 PW	Challenge x Skill Alignment
oryboarding & Plot (7)	X good music		0	Super	19/10/2016 07:49:20 PM	19/10/2016 07:49:20 PM	Sound/Voice/Music
ggested Improvements (8)	× exploration		0	Super	24/10/2010 12:59:05 PW	24/10/2010 12:39:03 PW	Exploring
rget Market (2)	Se it s very shallow	3	0	Super	19/10/2010 08:52:37 PM	24/10/2016 02:19:30 PM	Lack of Depth and Meaning
ne Concuming (3)	Sk game crasnes		0	Super	24/10/2010 02:11:06 PW	24/10/2010 02:11:06 PW	Bugs & Olitches - Prustrating
ne consuming (5)	Se trading	3	0	Super	19/10/2010 00:58:24 PW	19/10/2016 06:58:24 PW	Lack of features - Inhibiting E/I - Frustrati
projuble Elition interior interior interior	to play in	3	0	Super	24/10/2016 01:23:32 PM	24/10/2016 01:23:32 PM	Unplayable Environments - Inhibiting E/I
	•						

Figure 4.4: Pilot hermeneutic unit without code key

This second test HU was labelled "2017" and consisted of four hundred and thirty (430) codes (Figure 4.5). Through the second batch of coding and analysis data, the researcher became more comfortable using the analytical tool and was able to use more meaningful naming conventions when labelling codes. This was useful in deriving greater meaning and value from the data.

Families Name		Grounded	Density	Author	Created	Modified	Families	_
ihow all Codes		1	0	Super	23/01/2017 09:44:59 PM	23/01/2017 09:44:59 PM		
X - too demanding		1	0 0	Super	18/01/2017 08:21:38 PM	18/01/2017 08:21:38 PM		
X - the fights seemed awfully repetiti	ive	1	0	Super	24/01/2017 10:49:13 AM	24/01/2017 10:49:23 AM		
X - storvline too short		1	0	Super	23/01/2017 10:04:53 PM	23/01/2017 10:04:53 PM		
X - story takes a while to make sense	/happen	1	0	Super	23/01/2017 09:26:36 PM	23/01/2017 09:26:36 PM		
X - story has plot holes		1	0	Super	23/01/2017 09:07:45 PM	23/01/2017 09:07:45 PM		
X - the controls all feel weird		1	0	Super	18/01/2017 08:34:35 PM	18/01/2017 08:34:42 PM		
X - the challenges are pretty lame		1	0	Super	18/01/2017 08:31:05 PM	18/01/2017 08:31:12 PM		
💥 X - tedious slog going through the T	V series	1	0	Super	24/01/2017 09:52:07 AM	24/01/2017 09:52:07 AM		
X - restricted by physical room size		1	0	Super	18/01/2017 04:46:32 PM	18/01/2017 04:46:32 PM		
X - poor character voicing		1	0	Super	23/01/2017 07:51:28 PM	23/01/2017 07:51:28 PM		
💥 X - points/rewards don't measure up	to level	1	0	Super	18/01/2017 07:35:38 PM	18/01/2017 07:35:38 PM		
X - player has to do boring punching		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 10:25:09 AM	24/01/2017 10:25:09 AM		
💥 X - poor game plot		1	0	Super	18/01/2017 08:27:05 PM	18/01/2017 08:27:05 PM		
💥 X - poor game goals / superficial cha	allenges	1	0	Super	18/01/2017 08:32:44 PM	18/01/2017 08:32:44 PM		
💥 X - poor combo system registered or	n kinect/	1	0	Super	24/01/2017 09:57:06 AM	24/01/2017 09:57:06 AM		
💥 X - physical external game cards to u	unlock co	1	0	Super	24/01/2017 02:47:26 PM	24/01/2017 02:47:26 PM		
🗱 X - overdone concept		1	0	Super	23/01/2017 10:27:33 PM	23/01/2017 10:27:33 PM		
💥 X - over powered special moves		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 01:51:46 PM	24/01/2017 01:51:46 PM		
💥 X - online scores don't differentiate l	level of di	1	0	Super	23/01/2017 09:58:41 PM	23/01/2017 09:58:41 PM		
🗱 X - overly simplistic story mode		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 01:43:01 PM	24/01/2017 01:43:01 PM		
💥 X - overly basic gameplay		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 02:42:45 PM	24/01/2017 02:42:45 PM		
X - overlapping guiding instructions	/miss the	1	0	Super	23/01/2017 07:35:37 PM	23/01/2017 07:35:37 PM		
🗱 X - repetitive cut scenes		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 10:42:50 AM	24/01/2017 10:42:50 AM		
💥 X - repetitive		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 02:41:14 PM	24/01/2017 02:41:14 PM		
💢 X - repeated ingame cinematic		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 10:49:59 AM	24/01/2017 10:49:59 AM		
X - replicated battle modes : pointles	ss	1	0	Super	24/01/2017 01:44:10 PM	24/01/2017 01:44:10 PM		
💥 X - repetitive motions used to contro	ol the game	1	0	Super	24/01/2017 10:42:50 AM	24/01/2017 10:42:50 AM		
X - repetitive material/instructions		1	0	Super	24/01/2017 09:55:24 AM	24/01/2017 09:55:24 AM		
				III				

Figure 4.5: Second hermeneutic unit using code keys

The same process of reading, coding, and line-by-line analysis was used for the second HU and this was a continuous analytical method to deeply immerse the researcher in the data. However, a problem encountered during the second pilot HU was the duplication of codes. This was as a result of the use of *in vivo* codes as many of the same concepts were captured separately due to the different naming of the codes. This was dealt with by merging codes of the same meaning, which in turn added to the groundedness of that particular code.

Thereafter, the actual data collection workshops were planned and conducted.

4.8.2 Beginning the workshops: exploring the initial data

The beginning of the workshops and the open coding phase occurred in January 2017. Each participant was asked to assign an alias name to him/herself to be identified by throughout the study. Participant one decided to go by the name Peach and participant two selected Pear.

The first workshop took place on 25 January 2017 in the Engineering building at the Cape Town Campus of CPUT. Peach and Pear played Just Dance 4, Mario and Sonic 2012 London Olympics, Wii Fit Plus, and Shaun White on the Nintendo Wii console. However, they have not granted permission to be recorded or to be photographed (Appendix D).

The workshop started off by introducing the participants to the researcher and giving Peach and Pear their briefing on what to expect during the workshop. They were very excited to take part and were eager to fill out the paper work, in which they provided more personal information about themselves.

The activity sequence was plotted out; however, Peach and Pear, being so comfortable and eager to play dictated the flow of the workshop activities. This was pleasant for the researcher in that it allowed for the researcher to step out of the interactive space and observe from a distance the manner in which the participants interacted with the AVG.

Peach and Pear specifically preferred alternating between rounds rather than waiting for the one player to complete all activities before the next player commenced. This provided information on the flow in which AVG gamers would normally want to play.

During the first workshop, the way in which the participants viewed and prioritised the avatars stood out, especially the way in which the avatars reflected the gamer. If

the avatar was a fictional non-human character, the gamer would start taking on the persona of the avatar by mimicking the avatar's movements, sounds, and gestures. Peach began flapping her arms as wings when playing with a chicken character. At this point it was observed that the way in which the gamers identified with avatars was an important factor in AVGs.

Winning stood out as another major factor in engaging and immersing the participants as there were many verbal and physical reactions to scoring, unlocking in-game rewards and viewing the final scores and passing comments on how well the other performed. Peach and Pear both preferred playing a different mini-game instead of progressing with the one or repeating a round. The level of competition and social interaction were other factors that stood out during the first workshop. A joint interview was conducted with both Peach and Pear to gather detailed feedback from their experience. Table 4.2 shows the codes gathered for both Peach and Pear after Workshop 1.

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability
Variety of AVGs	Limited functionality	More focused on the second round of play	Clear tutorials and instructions	Clear tutorials and instructions
Clear instructions and tutorials	Confusion with sensor accessories	More motivated to play again after losing first round	Subtitles to accommodate voice prompts	Competing against another
Music	Too many rounds of a mini-game	Non-human avatars spark interest in gamer	Full body sensor	Having fun
Avatars	Limited body movement	Prefer to play again if alternating with another player	Novelty AVG genres	Realism
Realism	Losing	Prefer progression over repeating a round		
Competition	Unrealistic			
In-game rewards	Do not understand AVG controls			
Winning	Uncertainty			
Cinematic clips	Getting moves wrong			
Novelty	Accidental physical contact			
AVG feedback	Fatigue			
Having fun	Sensor responsiveness			

Table 4.2: Codes gathered for both Peach and Pear after Workshop 1

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability
Fair challenge	Complicated main menu			
Customisation options				
Good graphics				
Viewing final scores				
Easy menu navigation				

The frequency for each factor differed. After the first workshop was conducted, the data collection tool (the interview document, observation document, memo document, photos, and voice recordings) were scanned and stored in Atlas.ti. Lineby-line analysis and *in vivo* coding took place. From the codes that were captured and the experience gained from the first workshop, the researcher adapted the data collection tool to capture more detailed information about specific trends. More data were needed, therefore a workshop strategy was planned and the second set of participants was contacted and their workshop was scheduled (refer to section 4.4).

Phase two of the analysis is focused coding, whereby specific observations were looked for. However, simultaneously, initial coding still took place with focused coding as new data were captured.

4.8.3 Continuing the collection of data: Workshop 2A

With the continuation of data collection during Workshop 2, the open coding process continued and contributed to the initial stages of focused coding. Before the second workshop was conducted, a workshop strategy was planned to observe specific trends concerning information observed from the first workshop. The strategy was designed to identify new data and trends, and to clarify assumptions about previous data captured. Workshop 2 was split into Workshop 2A and Workshop 2B as the same console was used in both workshops.

The following section serves as an account of the events that took place during Workshop 2A.

Workshop 2A took place on 3 February 2017 in the Engineering building, BTech laboratory and made use of the XBox Kinect console which used Dragon ball Z,

Dance Central 3, and Kinect Adventures AVGs. Figure 4.6 shows the setup of the space used for Workshop 2A.



Figure 4.6: CPUT Engineering building, BTech laboratory

ICARUS, male, and Pineapple55, female, were complete strangers who participated in the second workshop (2A). This combination was selected specifically to observe whether or not the personal relationship between two participants influenced the way in which gamers would play an AVG. It does influence the manner in which one plays.

The level of discomfort from Pineapple55 was most notable while not playing the AVG (Figure 4.7). Instead of engaging in the AVG verbally while ICARUS was playing, Pineapple55 remained quiet and to herself. There was a high level of disinterest when not playing the AVG if the other person was a stranger. This differed from the two sisters Peach and Pear who took interest in the other's gameplay and remained engaged and immersed, unlike Pineapple55 who lost engagement and immersion while ICARUS was playing. However, Pineapple55 retained eye contact on the AVG while not playing, but refrained from any further participation.



Figure 4.7: Pineapple55 uncomfortable and withdrawn

ICARUS was extremely excited to participate in the workshop and had high energy levels. He showed more full body movement throughout the workshop and was more vocal than Pineapple55.

Throughout the second workshop, a new factor that presented itself was the level of comfort and how that influenced the gamers' engagement and immersion. This was related to the awkward activities required to play the AVG for a dancing game, as well as the most noted fact that there were two participants of different gender who had no affiliation to one another.

Following up from the previous workshop, the high intensity behind Dragon Ball Z further clarified how fatigue levels influence engagement and immersion. It was observed that when the players experienced fatigue, they were less likely to fully engage and be immersed in the activity at hand. It was also noted that they started to slow down as fatigue stepped in.

A significant moment noted was how competing in a social activity simultaneously influenced the relationship between the two participants. During Dance Central 3, both Pineapple55 and ICARUS began talking to one another when facing off against each other in a dance battle. This improved Pinapple55's level of comfort tremendously as she became much more vocal and interactive with the AVG as well as with her fellow participant. The improvement of their relationship assisted in the engagement to the AVG as they were both more focused and motivated to play against one another from that point onwards (Figure 4.8). It was also observed that

there was a greater sense of team work between each participant from that point onwards.



Figure 4.8: Level of immersion and engagement greatly increases during competition

On completion of this workshop, Pineapple55 and ICARUS had their interviews and their contributions were added to the existing HU in Atlas.ti.

The codes captured for the second workshop can be seen in Table 4.3, Workshop 2A codes for ICARUS and Pineapple55. Again, the frequency of each code differed, which influenced the level of groundedness behind each one. At this point, the data were merely coded before analysing it, until Workshop 2B was conducted. This way, the strategy plan could be given time to discern any major trends and differences between the data captured. However, while coding the existing data, some codes became more grounded and groups of patterns were already beginning to emerge. Hints of groups began to emerge by codes that duplicated each other when the same experience appeared more than once. Table 4.3 represents the codes for both ICARUS and Pineapple55 for the data that have been collected for Workshop 2A.

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability
Viewing final score	Sensor failure	Prefer progression over repeating a round	Clear instructions and tutorials	Clear instructions and tutorials
Scoring bonus	Missing a target	Watching someone else play makes the other want to play	Variety of song choice	Competing against another
Clear instructions and tutorials	Viewing pictures of self-playing after every round	Nostalgia	Translucent avatars	Having fun and exercising

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability
Watching someone else play	Playing one at a time	Would play around a stranger acting silly	Moving picture tiles for upcoming dance moves	Realism
Avatars resemble the gamer	Difficult menu navigation	Initial interaction with a stranger makes the gamer really uncomfortable	More instructions	Challenge
Music	Challenge too difficult			
Freestyle dance mode	Unexpected cinematic			
Variety	Small range of sensor		******	
Competition	Avatars blocking view			
Childhood nostalgia	Looking silly			
Popular TV series	Lack of competition and challenge			
Cinematic clips	Playing around a stranger			
Beating your own old score	Watching someone else play			
Having fun	Initial uncertainty			
Exercise	Being nervous			
Accurate sensor	Fatigue			
Playing together				
Social activity				
Playing				
Feedback				
Novelty				
Encouragement from others				

4.8.4 Mobile AVG workshop: Pokémon Go

Workshop 3 took place on 8 February 2017 at CPUT Cape Town Campus and consisted of only one participant, John. The purpose behind this was to observe any trends when an AVG is played completely alone and on a mobile device platform. This single participant workshop formed part of a series of workshops with varying numbers of participants to contribute to a variety of play scenarios. The AVG played was Pokémon Go, whereby John took a twenty minute walk around the campus depending on where the AVG suggested he walk. John did not grant permission to be photographed during the workshop, but agreed to an interview on completion of the activity.

During the activity, John's engagement was minimal and peaked when a Pokémon or Pokéstop appeared in his vicinity. It was observed that the lack of social activity did not give him much motivation to continue playing nor did it increase his level of activity when walking around. John wandered mostly back and forth with no set direction, unless a Pokémon appeared. This gave greater insight into the influence of social interaction on the engagement and immersion of AVGs, as well as how the lack of instructions can take away from the experience.

It was not the intention of the study to capture every possible play scenario, as the emerging theory is a substantive grounded theory (exploring a specific context). To inform formal theory, more testing scenarios are needed (refer to Chapter Six, section 6.7 or Chapter One, section 1.7).

Another notable trend that emerged was the number of times the AVG crashed and the network gave issues. Sometimes it would result in losing the Pokémon and other times the AVG would freeze and John would have to restart the game. The frustration was minimal but notable and inhibited his immersion into the AVG.

The codes from this workshop were added to existing codes, but gave more insight to new aspects of the AVG, especially the social aspect and how errors majorly affected the gamer's state of engagement. Table 4.4 tabulates the data collected from Workshop 3.

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability
Collecting Pokémon and items	Lack of social grouping	Intrinsically motivated to play the AVG; not much to do with the AVG itself	Realistic map	Realism
Realism	Bugs and glitches			
Augmented reality	AVG crashes			
Childhood nostalgia				
Meeting people				
Popular TV show				

Table 4.4: Mobile workshop data collected - Pokémon Go

From this point onwards, existing codes in Atlas.ti were beginning to show depth as some codes' level of groundedness increased. However, data saturation was not possible as new trends kept emerging and more areas of AVG play needed to be explored.

4.8.5 Continuing to collect data: Workshop 2B

Workshop 2B took place on 13 February 2017 in the Engineering building, CPUT Cape Town Campus. It made use of the XBox Kinect and the same AVGs as Workshop 2A to carry out the strategy plan and make specific observations.

The participants for this workshop were Fiki and Lenboxs, who were complete strangers, and males. Trends between strangers of different and same genders were observed to note whether it influenced the way in which participants engaged and immersed themselves in AVGs. Not much difference was noted compared to findings from previously conducted workshops, as Lenboxs showed signs of being very uncomfortable and not as engaged throughout the entire workshop. Being uncomfortable mostly affected the type of body movements the player used when playing (Figure 4.9). If you are uncomfortable, you are more reluctant to move fully, which in turn affects the ability to perform and win, which in itself was a rewarding and engaging experience. Analysis showed that the bigger the movements or the more body parts incorporated in the movement and execution of the moves had a direct relation to how engaged and immersed an individual became in the AVG experience.



Figure 4.9: Lenboxs only using upper body movement

Being uncomfortable also made the gamers more self-conscious about how they appeared when executing the moves. Lenboxs was very hesitant and against playing the dancing game. During this workshop it was observed that when the gamers becomes self-conscious they are not fully immersed, because they are more concerned with what is going on around them than on the AVG itself.

This workshop also aimed to determine whether or not the order of activities played a role in how much fatigue influences engagement and immersion. Although fatigue directly determined whether or not a participant continued to play, it did not affect the way in which participants engaged with the AVG. After Fiki left the room, Lenboxs became more engaged and immersed in the AVG and began using fuller body movements (Figure 4.10).



Figure 4.10: Lenboxs making use of his entire body

The factor of not knowing each other affected the competitiveness between the two players. They both became disinterested in competing against one another and became more interested in their own individual progress and performance. The lack of competition presented itself in many moments of both participants being disengaged in the activity, by walking away from the console every time they completed a round.

When observing the other player, the participant sitting out would watch the other's performance, unless they were asked by the other to leave the room. Although eye contact was made now and then for the gamer sitting out, there was a clear lack of interest in the AVG (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.11: Disinterest when not playing

The sensor malfunctioned many times during the workshop and it disrupted the immersion that Fiki and Lenboxs experienced. Lenboxs mentioned not being able to select the avatar he wanted due to the Kinect sensor being too sensitive and he kept missing the option he would have preferred. During the interview, Lenboxs mentioned how much the inaccuracy of the sensor put him off and disrupted his experience. Fiki also complained that the sensor failed to detect his movements accurately, which caused a degree of frustration. At the end of this workshop, the relationship between both participants did not improve and they each gave their account of their experience.

The codes which emerged from this workshop were aligned with previous data collected, but some new information featured. The existing data became extremely grounded and clear groups were emerging. After the workshop, the data were coded and analysed and clear categories started to crystallise (Table 4.5). It was decided that a final workshop should be conducted to confirm the patterns and trends that emerged and to further saturate the existing data.

Table 4.5: Data collection codes for Workshop 2B

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability
Successfully executing moves	Watching the cinematics	More comfortable playing alone instead of around a stranger	Clear instructions	Clear instructions
Watching someone else play to learn from	Watching the tutorial while someone else is playing	Prefer progressing a round instead of repeating it	New genres	Challenge
Clear instructions	Getting moves wrong	Disinterest in final score	Translucent avatars	Tutorials
Full body movement	Awkward activities		Full body sensor	Competing against another person
Avatar resembles gamer	Difficulty navigating menu		Tutorials	
Music	Long cinematics		Direct competition	
Gathering, collecting, earning items	End of play		Options to choose angle and view of play	
Viewing pictures of self-playing	Poor sensor responsiveness		More characters to play with	
Novelty	Not much competition or challenge			
Challenge	Difficult movements			
Viewing final scores	Confusing gameplay - uncertainty of what to do			
Simple movements	Trying out something new			
Avatar appearance	Avatar does not resemble gamer			
Social activity	Missing target			
Easy menu navigation	Fatigue			
Leniency with points	Screen too overloaded with information			
Variety	Tiring activities	•		
Unlock in-game content	Bugs and glitches			
Browsing through song menu				
Freestyle dance mode				
Selecting an avatar				

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability
Winning				
Hitting targets				
Feedback of performance				
Good graphics				
Easy adaptability				
Interesting storyline				
Competing against another person				
Customisation option				
Visual and written feedback				

4.8.6 The initial code book

After conducting the fourth workshop and analysing the data, a code book of each code and its level of groundedness was printed and physically placed into groups. Twenty eight (28) groups were formed, which covered all aspects of the AVG that was experienced (Figure 4.12). Because no codes were without a group, it suggested that no new data were emerging and that data should be near the saturation point. Table 4.6 lists the initial group of codes that emerged from the data collected and analysed through the open and focused coding phase of CGT. However, focused coding as a phase had not yet come to an end.

Code groups						
Appearance/Graphics	Competition	Menu	Realism			
Avatar	Customisation	Movement	Self-develop			
Being informed	Enjoyment	Narrative	Sensor			
Bugs and glitches	Exercise	Nostalgia	Social			
Cinematics	Feedback	Act of playing	TV show			
Comfort	Lack of control	Novelty	Variety			
Challenge	Self-expression	Preference	Winning and success			

Table 4.6: Initial	code groups after	open coding and	during focused	codina
	couc groups alter	open county and	uuring roouscu	county


Figure 4.12: Image of printed code groups

To check for data saturation, a final workshop was done. The achievement of data saturation would be indicated when all the new codes could fit into the existing groups.

4.8.7 Checking for data saturation: an account of the final workshop

On Saturday, 18 February 2017, Workshop 4 was held at a private residence to observe the difference in environment and whether or not that influenced the manner in which participants engaged themselves with the AVG. Another observation planned was the use of three participants, instead of two, to monitor the difference between more or less players. The participants who took part in this workshop were JuniorKidd, 2Awesome, and Toefm.

They made use of the PlayStation 4 console and the AVG used was Rabbids Invasion, which is an interactive TV series. This particular AVG allowed the researcher to observe the differences in immersion experienced by the gamer during play of an AVG which entirely consisted of interactive cinematics. This would be in contrast to other AVGs that utilise cinematics sporadically between gameplay.

Factors that stood out predominantly during this workshop were the level of competitiveness surrounding a socially interactive game. Participants were very much engaged and immersed throughout the experience, showing great enthusiasm in winning, beating their opponent, and in wanting to play again after losing to someone who is considered a friend/acquaintance.

The game required high levels of physical activity and full body movement as well as audio input from the participants. It engaged them visually and through audio means. A major component of the AVG that captured the participants' full attention was the reliance on continuously watching the screen to play, because quick interaction was required to gain points and to beat the opponent.

Trends that also emerged during this workshop were the frustration and disruption caused by the sensor failing to accurately detect body movements, and pausing the gameplay (Figure 4.13). The frequency of this particular error popping up caused the participants to switch off the AVG and restart after a while. This lowered their desire to want to engage themselves in the AVG (2Awesome, Toefm, JuniorKidd interview - voice recording).



Figure 4.13: Toefm and JuniorKidd frustrated at the sensor malfunction

Being situated in a private resident environment, the researcher observed whether or not outside people who are not involved in playing the AVG would disrupt the immersion and engagement of the participants. When non-participants were in the nearby vicinity, engagement and immersion were not lost.

The participants played two at a time and the level of engagement of the participant sitting out was observed (Figure 4.14). At times the participant not playing would be engaged and at other times there would be zero engagement or eye contact with the screen, nor would they participate verbally. Therefore, it is not clear whether or not being actively involved in playing the AVG would ensure engagement and immersion.



Figure 4.14: JuniorKidd not engaged while sitting out

When errors occurred, the participants took action in how to resolve it. At the end of the workshop, a joint interview between all three was held and each answered the questions in turn. The interview was voice recorded and all three participants gave the researcher permission to photograph, video, and audibly record them.

The data collection tool was digitally captured and stored in Atlas.ti. Line-by-line coding followed, matching trends to existing codes. Nothing new particularly emerged through this workshop, and after coding the data collected it was decided to cease data collection. The codes collected reaffirmed previous data and codes (Table 4.7).

On completion of Workshop 4, after the data were captured and analysed, a backup of the current state of Atlas.ti HU was made. This was to prevent any data loss or damage going forward when analysing the codes against one another and merging same concepts together. The video and voice data recorded were reviewed repeatedly to ensure nothing was left out when conducting the analysis and coding.

Table 4.7: Data collected for the final workshop

Enhancing engagement and immersion	Inhibiting engagement and immersion	Observations	Wants or requests	Replayability	
Easy menu navigation	Easy menu Watching the cinematic clips		Full body sensor	Having fun	
Watching someone else play	Watching someone Getting moves else play wrong			Competing against each other	
Viewing final scores	Sensor errors	Comfortable being silly around friends		Having fun and exercise	
Playing together	Fatigue				
Having fun	Losing				
Sensor accidentally letting you win	Watching ending cinematic				
Competing against each other	Stepping out of sensors range				
Popular TV show	Sensor causing you to lose				
TV series genre	Dressed uncomfortably				
Winning	Awkward activities				
Avatar appearance					
Interesting storyline					
Novelty					
Full body movement					
Successfully executing moves					
Social competition					
Awkward body poses					
Social activity					
Viewing achievement boards					
Half body movement					

4.8 Abstraction of the code groups

The following section delves into the abstraction of the emerged code groups. This still falls under the focused coding phase of CGT; however, the outcome of this section leads the data analysis phase of the next chapter. This section is an important stepping stone to reaching the full data analysis phase. It focuses on merging codes together to increase the level of groundedness found in the code groups and sets the foundation for comparing code groups together.

4.9.1 An account of the first level of abstraction

After a backup of the HU was made, the codes were ordered by their level of groundedness. Then, from the codes that held the highest level of groundedness, they were merged with other codes of the same meaning. This further added to the level of groundedness of that particular code (Figure 4.15).

Conserved (Sec.)			X	Merge Codes:-> Z - viewing pictures of self playing	
	bark skeesback on personal level of fitness ing /identifying yoursef (ingame (actual picture) mg what your edong feedback on screen ang gicturus of self pilying al feedback the freedback	1 1 0 1 3 6 0	hor e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	avalar doesn't reflect gamer, but does spark an interest (1-0) Characters spark interest (1-0) curbus about executing moves (1-0) interested in games relection (1-0) 0 - spacing major interest in the level over (sietCling a new miningame (4-0) 0 - standing major sames made them want to win (2-0) 0 - challenging games made them want to win (2-0) 0 - challenging games made them want to win (2-0) 0 - condertable playing alonguid comering (1-0) 0 - condertable playing alonguid comering (1-0) 0 - doesn't thow interest in a stranger (1-0) 0 - doesn't thow interest in a stranger (1-0) 0 - intring induction to keep playing instrituut to do wint game (self (1-0) 0 - like the ling is that appeal to percent likes (2-0) 0 - like the ling is that appeal to percent likes (2-0) 0 - like the delong to understand the playing instrituut to the games effect (1-0) 0 - like the delong to understand the player player delong the strater (2-0) 0 - like the delong to understand the player player (2-0) 0 - nothing to do understand reguider player player (2-0) 0 - nothing to do undexaura the player player (2-0) <t< th=""><th></th></t<>	
	32 Z - viewing final scores	1/-	0 Super	O - prefer playing with someone than alone (1-0) O - prefer to observe how to play first (1-0)	
	SZ Z - weaking pictures of sell playing SZ - visual feedback. SZ - visual guide on screen SZ - visual guide on screen SZ - visual guide on screen SZ - visite images gring instructions SZ - visite ending of instructions SZ - visite ending instructions	6 6 0 1 0 2 1 2	0 Super, 0 Super 0 Super 0 Super 0 Super 0 Super	O - préfet to sélect a new min gans (5 a) O - printet to sélect a new min gans (5 a) O - printet location makét (Fasierto play Johgsidé a stranger (0-0) O - renady punctidhoso artono (1-0) O - renady punctidhoso artono (1-0) O - repating a licet to better ones sél (1-0) O - repating a licet to better ones sél (1-0) O - relating a licet to better ones sél (1-0)	
	Z - watches introduction movie clip	1	0 Super	Close	

Figure 4.15: Merging codes together of "watching yourself playing"

Thereafter, with the manual code groups kept in mind, codes were digitally grouped together into the relevant categories. By merging codes together of the same naming conventions, it simplified the grouping of codes. Some codes, however, fell into more than one group, which was the beginning step in forming relationships between the codes (Figure 4.16).

💦 🗸 – prefer cartoon characters for TV series g	1	v	Juper	24/02/2017 02:20:00 FIVE	24/02/2017 02.23.03 FIVI	FICICICIUC
Here the second something in a game that	0	1	Super	29/01/2017 07:05:52 PM	11/03/2017 12:26:48 PM	Preference
💥 O - prefer playing with someone than alone	1	3	Super	24/02/2017 02:11:38 PM	08/03/2017 03:39:50 PM	Social
💥 O - prefer progressing the level over selecti	8	1	Super	06/02/2017 01:51:58 PM	11/03/2017 12:27:14 PM	Preference, Self Develop
💥 O - prefer to play the same game when alte	1	0	Super	29/01/2017 06:20:37 PM	27/02/2017 04:32:12 PM	Preference
💥 0 - re-enact your childhood cartoon	1	0	Super	06/02/2017 02:07:48 PM	06/02/2017 02:07:48 PM	Nostalgia

Figure 4.16: A code falling into more than one code group

Twenty eight (28) code groups emerged after the initial analysis. Some code groups reflected more than one sub-category (e.g. the "being informed" and "avatar" code groups consisted of multiple sub-categories). In total, the twenty eight (28) code

groups and sub-categories were digitally recorded as thirty six (36) digital groups in the Atlas.ti HU.



Figure 4.17: Code group with sub-categories



Figure 4.18: Code group avatar with its sub-categories

Once the groups were formed, the code names reflected the attributes of the groups (Figure 4.19). After the groups were formed, possible relations between the groups were examined. The first step in identifying possible relationships was looking at the codes that fell into more than one category. These relationships, tighter with the memos of the workshops held, were used to mix and match groups together on

specific nodes and form network views. Multiple networks were discarded because the relation between codes was not clear.

🗱 Code Manager [HU: Workshops Codes]	
Codes Edit Miscellaneous Output View	
1 🖉 ⇔ ⇔ 📿 ≪ 📲 🗙 🖨 🔲 (
Families	T
Show all Codes	1
Achievement and Reward (12)~	
Act of Playing (2)~	11
🚫 Avatar: Becoming like the avatar (5)~	
💭 Avatar: Identifying yourself through the avatar	
🚫 Avatar: Other (6)~	
🚫 Avatar: Transparency (3)~	
Being Informed: Animated Movement Images (
Being Informed: Certainty (6)~	
Being Informed: Information Overload (1)	
Being Informed: Uncertainty and Confusion B	
Bugs and Glitches (2)~	
Challenge (8)~	
Cinematic (11)~	
🚫 Comfort and Familiarity (12)~	
Competition (8)	
😳 Customize (4)~	
Enjoyment (3)~	
Exercise (8)~	
See black (5)~	
Solution of Control (1)	
Menu (4)~	
Movements (19)~	
Music (1)~	
Narrative (3)~	
🚫 Nostalgia (2)~	
🚫 Novelty (6)~	
🚫 Preference (13)~	
😳 Realism (7)~	
Self Develop (7)~	
Self Expression (2)~	
Sensor (12)~	
209 Codes	

Figure 4.19: List of code groups in Atlas.ti

A number of combinations of groups were manually written out, the codes were analysed, and relations were formed between them (Figure 4.20). The total list of groups was written and combinations were made incorporating each one along the line. Some groups held close relationships to one another, whereas other stood on their own and explained themselves.

CHECKLIST N. Brokingersting Lubureener + 200000 Barry advert County + Taural E Engrigodal 3 her of passing (largering) 6- Innorman to the City 5 Nome / to Contrary 4 Reis informed Brief E laterace - source - Maria + her of 10 Lines S. Bug and amous Comment & and I To come E Municoles T. Fiscante A TOWNSPACE 6 Contores - Cailor to Tomination ... Sparst - 1 t-Companion Companitors - Berry witcover + coccus 0) CURRONIAC H-Engineerin G-Enercise Cuymore + Prelennes + Number and and weater th Graphick + Appearance States) Except - Manuser vintered of comment Technick & Self Densing a alaria LL. Nectris + Companya ť N. WHITE a mainten & second objecto 14 KERTHINK Greght . Bring libered - Librarian Brilling an strandge an hadaana of These Marcian & Amiron photon a training 2 November + Andream + (comments) of send phones les au participadi complicition 25 Silf Expression 2 Indenen at Ducky 2 - Sovier -3 Try to 0 On con Sit aprate . Experie Dr. Second TY SHIES ast Thank 0 1-24 Vocitions

Figure 4.20: Manual checklist and combinations of code groups

After a number of attempts at forming possible network views, a total of ten networks were depicted that encapsulated the trends noticed throughout the analysis and data collection. The networks were each given descriptions and described the relationships between code groups based off specific codes/nodes (Figure 4.21).

君 Network View Manager [HU: Workshops Codes]								
NetworkViews Edit Miscellaneous View								
1 P - K III → Search (Name) X								
Name	Size	Quotes	Author	Created	Modified			
📲 Achievement + Reward & Competition & Feedback	17	136	Super	07/03/2017 12:05:55 PM	08/03/2017 01:00:24 PM			
📲 Avatar & Realism	14	33	Super	14/03/2017 01:58:04 PM	14/03/2017 02:31:54 PM			
📲 Being Informed	16	52	Super	14/03/2017 03:31:51 PM	14/03/2017 03:43:17 PM			
📲 Choice	13	36	Super	11/03/2017 12:13:33 PM	14/03/2017 02:46:27 PM			
📲 Cinematic & TV Series	23	45	Super	10/03/2017 10:39:34 AM	14/03/2017 02:49:35 PM			
📲 Comfort + Familiarity & Movements & Social	16	120	Super	07/03/2017 11:19:46 AM	08/03/2017 03:08:55 PM			
📲 Errors	13	51	Super	08/03/2017 03:44:33 PM	10/03/2017 10:32:27 AM			
📲 Exercise & Movements & Enjoyment	15	75	Super	07/03/2017 10:57:56 AM	14/03/2017 02:44:38 PM			
📲 Motivation	13	139	Super	12/03/2017 08:52:00 PM	14/03/2017 02:32:53 PM			
📲 Preference	12	40	Super	14/03/2017 02:49:43 PM	14/03/2017 03:00:54 PM			

Figure 4.21: Network view manager of all ten networks

4.9 Conclusion

This data collection chapter introduced the tools that were developed and used to capture the research phenomenon. The tool and process flow was explained for

each workshop conducted. Strategies guided by the data collected were presented for the workshops. Each workshop was given a recollection account of events which took place along with the data captured for each workshop session. After each workshop the data determined the future direction of where the next phase of research would go. Along with this, the data collection tool was altered after most workshops to adapt to the purpose of the study. After coding and grouping the codes, abstraction activity followed, forming the foundation for the next chapter, the data analysis.

5. CHAPTER FIVE: DATA ANALYSIS

5.1 Introduction

The analysis of the data begins in the focused coding phase of CGT and ends with the theoretical phase, where theoretical sensitivity is reached and the final theory is proposed. Network views encapsulating the code groups formed through the open and focused coding phase are depicted throughout this section and serve as the analysis for the research. Atlas.ti provides the necessary views to form these networks and assists in understanding and interpreting the relationship between the data. However, this section begins by presenting the findings, mostly pertaining to the evolvement of the data collection tool over time and then transitions into the indepth analysis of the network views. The chapter closes by introducing the theoretical phase of CGT and proposes the constructed theory. This theory links to Chapter Six, the discussion.

5.2 The evolution of the data collection tool

The following section discusses how the tools and forms used to collect data changed throughout the data collection phase of the research. Conducting the data collection has been a trial and error exercise, however, as time passed the process became clearer to the researcher. Minor changes have been made to the tool in order to be aligned with the research question, namely "What design factors contribute to an engaged and immersed AVG experience?"

5.2.1 The initial changes

After the initial workshop with Peach and Pear, the co-supervisor suggested making alterations to the participant coding and information form regarding the request for consent. The initial form had not requested consent to publish images taken during the workshop or informing the participant of what will happen with their data upon completion of the analysis. The alterations give more access to the usage of information acquired and the participants more control over how the media is used and discarded.

Alterations have been made to the interview questions document (Appendix A) due to observations that have been made while conducting the initial workshop. It did not occur to question the relationship between the participants playing. It was observed that Peach and Pear have a close relationship, being sisters, and their interactions influenced the AVG playing experience. This manifested as greater confidence during interaction and a more playful attitude to the experience as a whole. The resulting gameplay and interaction was observed as more engaged and immersed. The social interaction between two strangers was then questioned by adding the question, "What would the reaction be between two strangers?" A further alteration to the interview questions form included asking whether the participants prefer to play with someone (known or stranger) or rather play alone. The outcome from this observation was that gamers prefer to play together rather than alone. During his post-workshop interview, ICARUS said that he likes playing alongside somebody (Appendix D, Question 3, as well as 2Awesome, JuniorKidd, and Toefm during their voice recorded interview).

5.2.2 The second set of changes

The second and third workshop both consisted of version two of the research tool. However, after conducting the second workshop, it was noted that some of the required activities for the XBox made participants feel extremely uncomfortable and foolish. Therefore, the interview questions form was altered again to include questions pertaining to this observation.

5.2.3 The final changes to the tools

Finally, the interview question forms were altered again to account for a trend that emerged, namely the influence of the avatars on the gamers. The final workshop incorporated version three of the interview questions form (Table 4.1). Throughout the process, the workshop strategy constantly changed to align with observations and trends to be explored.

Figure 5.1 represents a visual display of the dates when the data collection tools were altered after workshop sessions. Many of the changes were based on the workshop strategies surrounding the collection of data, as well as from previous data collected.

	0	Task Name	Duration	Start	Finish	Predecessors	Resource Names	22 Jan '17 29 Jan '17 05 Feb '17 12 Feb '17 19 Feb '17 26 Feb '17 5 M IT WIT FIS S M IT WIT FIS
1	T	Default Tool V1	21 days?	Wed 14/12/16	Wed 11/01/17			
2		Workshop 1 Nintendo Wii	1 day	Wed 25/01/17	Wed 25/01/17	1	Pear,Peach	Pear,Peach
3		Tool Alterations V2	1 day?	Tue 31/01/17	Tue 31/01/17	2		
4		Workshop 2 Xbox 360	1 day	Wed 01/02/17	Wed 01/02/17	3	Icarus,Pineapple55	Lcarus,Pineapple55
5		Workshop 3 Pokemon Go	1 day?	Wed 08/02/17	Wed 08/02/17	4	John	John
6		Workshop 4 Xbox 360	1 day?	Mon 13/02/17	Mon 13/02/17	5	Fiki,Lenboxs	Fiki,Lenboxs
7		Tool Alterations V3	1 day?	Fri 17/02/17	Fri 17/02/17	6		
8		Workshop 5 PlayStation 4	1 day?	Sat 18/02/17	Sat 18/02/17	7	2Awesome,JuniorKidd,Toefm	📥 2Awesome,JuniorKidd,Toefm
	_							
	_							
	_							
	_							
	-							

Figure 5.1: The growth and change of the data collection tool over time

5.3 Analysis of network views

In this section and phase of CGT for the analysis of the data, focused coding guided the analysis by means of comparing codes against code groups. The expected outcome was tentative categories forming the basis for the theoretical phase and for constructing the proposed theory. The following is a set of ten network diagrams incorporating all twenty eight (28) code groups that initially emerged through abstraction in Chapter Four (Table 4.6), and depicts the relationship between them, which is a strong motivator for GT. The relationships between codes indicate code density and the frequency of codes depict the level of groundedness and relevance. The process of abstracting data into codes and codes into code groups was preceded by further abstraction of the code groups into relational network views:

- i. Network 1 Significance behind gamers being comfortable
- ii. Network 2 Significance of being informed and knowing what to do
- iii. Network 3 Choices granted by the AVG for gamers
- iv. Network 4 Cinematics in AVGs
- v. Network 5 Preferences for AVG gamers
- vi. Network 6 Errors and glitches in AVGs and consoles
- vii. Network 7 Feedback from the AVG to gamers and the sense of achievement experienced
- viii. Network 8 Motivation to play the AVG
- ix. Network 9 Realistic experiences in AVGs and the roles of avatars
- x. Network 10 Replayability of AVGs

These networks are the result of the focused coding process (explored in Chapter Four), grounded in the data from the various research activities. The raw observations and findings that informed both the open coding and focused coding processes were represented as tables in Chapter Four:

- i. Table 4.2: Codes gathered for both Peach and Pear after Workshop 1
- ii. Table 4.3: Workshop 2A codes for both ICARUS and Pineapple55
- iii. Table 4.4: Mobile workshop data collected Pokémon Go
- iv. Table 4.5: Data collection codes for Workshop 2B
- v. Table 4.7: Data collected for the final workshop

Continuing from Chapter Four's abstracted code groups, the following network views have been drafted to show the relationship between code groups and to further abstract the data to a higher level.



5.3.1 Network 1 - Significance behind gamers being comfortable

¹Figure 5.2: Network view of the significance behind gamers being comfortable

¹Figure 5.2: Red lines should be overlooked as they indicate the nodes belonging to the code group (red lines cannot be removed using the software). Black lines indicate contradictions. Green lines indicate support. Pink lines indicate causal reasons.

The type of relationship a gamer has with another is directly related to his/her level of comfort while playing. If they are unknown to each other and have no relationship, they may be likely to feel uncomfortable. This might be more when a female is playing alongside a male. It was not the intention of the study to capture every possible play scenario, as the emerging theory is a substantive grounded theory (exploring a specific context). To inform formal theory, more testing scenarios are needed (refer to Chapter Six, section 6.7 or to Chapter One, section 1.7). This has been evident between Pineapple55 and ICARUS (Figure 5.3). Pineapple55 felt very uncomfortable, and it has been noticeable throughout her experience as well as during her interview. However, if the competitors have an existing relationship with each other, they experience a greater level of engagement and immersion while playing AVGs. This has been the case between Peach and Pear, who are sisters, and between JuniorKidd, Toefm, and 2Awesome, who are friends.



Figure 5.3: Pineapple55 not too comfortable around ICARUS

Being uncomfortable while playing usually manifests as nervousness in a gamer, disinterest in being competitive (noticed through lack of interest in viewing personal final scores), and finding awkward activities to be disengaging and non-immersive. This can be observed in the lack of body movement and the hesitance to play the AVG. All of these inhibit engagement and immersive states and lowers a gamer's motivation to continue playing the AVG.

Interestingly, when a gamer is comfortable and playing alongside an acquaintance, awkward activities become engaging and immersive, and appearing foolish in front of the other person hardly hinders engagement or performance. The same awkward activities that initially will put off strangers evoke a light-hearted nature to friends who display laughter and a sense of camaraderie towards one another (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4: Toefm and 2Awesome during awkward activity

Feeling uncomfortable is so inhibiting towards engagement and immersion that the participants reported they would rather prefer to play alone than with a stranger. This contradicts the observation that despite being strangers, gamers are not too concerned by playing around someone they do not know. This was noted by ICARUS during his interview (Appendix D, Interview Question 3). This could be because gamers prefer playing with someone more than playing alone. This is supported by the observation that playing one at a time is disliked among players, who would prefer to play together. However, it is important then that the activity encourages relationship building, because the lack of friendship inhibits the gamer's state of engagement and immersion.



5.3.2 Network 2 - Significance of being informed and knowing what to do

²Figure 5.5: Significance of being informed and knowing what to do

²Figurer 5.5: Red lines indicate nodes stemming from its code groups. Pink lines indicate it is part of the node. Blue lines indicate it is directly linked to the node. Green lines indicate support relationships. Orange lines indicate contradictions. Black lines indicate the node is associated with the other.

The "Being informed" category is highly valued by AVG gamers. Knowing what to do directly affects the way a gamer plays and performs. Certainty in knowing what to do while playing is a highly engaging and immersive factor and is achieved through the means of clear and informative tutorials and instructions from the AVG throughout playing the game. Participants were given a list of general instructions to follow, however, the main instructions came from the AVGs they played.

When the gamers can easily identify the goals of the AVG as well as the physical movements needed to achieve these goals, they become more certain in their ability to perform, which in essence results in a successful round of play (by either winning or by achieving the in-game goal). To understand the controls and mechanics of the gameplay, the AVG needs to provide clear instructions and tutorials for how to play. This enables the AVG to be engaging and immersive for the gamer.

When the goals of the AVG are unclear or the instructions for how to play are unclear, it disrupts the engagement of the gamer. Not knowing how to play can inhibit a gamer from playing at all. This breaks immersion and engagement completely and was noticeable when Peach and Pear played on the Nintendo Wii. Not knowing how to play volley ball for Mario and Sonic Olympics and not knowing how to position the Wii board for Shaun White greatly disrupted their engagement and broke their immersion into the AVG completely, because they became more focused on how to play than actually playing the game.

Therefore, tutorials are highly valued, especially when the gamer has never played the AVG before. Most participants listed the need for clearer instructions while playing. For the XBox Kinect, the players generally struggled with the initial start movement to begin the mini-game in Kinect Adventures and requested that it be taken out as it is confusing and distract the gamers from being engaged and immersed. For Dance Central 3, participants playing the XBox all mentioned the issue of the upcoming dance moves being very uninformative, because the images are static (non-moving) and depict animated movements which the players need to perform. Fiki and Lenboxs did not know how the moves should be executed to play that AVG.

For all the complicated body movements needed to play AVGs, the user interfaces are usually loaded with instructions and information, such as in the case of Dragon Ball Z and Dance Central 3 (Figure 5.6 and Figure 5.7) in contrast to simple movements that have clear instructions. This information overload and clutter of the screen is distracting for the gamers as they do not know which tile of instruction is

applicable at that moment. Fiki mentioned that he did not know whether he should mirror the dance moves or do it with his right hand when the avatar moves their right hand, or face to his right when the avatar faces to their right hand side.



Figure 5.6:Dragon Ball Z information overload



Figure 5.7: Dance Central 3 information overload

The confusion of information overload or lack of instructions usually results in gamers losing points by getting moves wrong and failing the round or the competition. Losing in itself lowers the motivation for gamers to keep playing, especially if they lose more often than winning. Therefore, AVGs should try to incorporate as many forms of tutorial and instructive guides as possible be it written, verbal or through animated pictures; however, it should not be too much information which clutters the user's interface and bombards the gamer with too much information. This will have a negative influence on the gamer's engagement and immersive states. When instructions are simple, clear and concise, it will be highly engaging and immersive for the players.



5.3.3 Network 3 - Choices granted by the AVG for gamers

³Figure 5.8: Choices granted by the AVG for gamers

³Figure 5.8: Red lines indicate relation to the code group. Blue lines indicate a direct link relationship. Green lines indicate support relationships. Black lines indicate an association between nodes.

Preferences speak about the specific gamer and what he/she likes. Depending on the wants and needs of a particular gamer, some AVGs may not appeal at all, despite having engaging and immersive factors incorporated into the AVG itself. A gamer has specific game genre preferences as well as personal objectives and motives for wanting to play. What may make one person want to play can vastly differ from another individual, and this is independent of the AVG (Appendix A, Form 6: Pre-Test Evaluation).

When the gamer has specific needs and the AVG is able to fulfil those needs, the gamer is more likely to engage. In the instance of Fiki, who listed learning as a need, he specifically looked at whether or not the AVG provided learning material and skills. When the AVG manages to fulfil the needs of the gamer, the individual is more likely to experience satisfaction from playing.

Self-development speaks closely to the needs of a gamer, as many gamers listed exercise and learning as part of their needs, both of which contribute towards personal development of physical and mental ability. AVG gamers perceive value in these games if they can benefit from learning and developing after playing these games. This is reason to encourage AVG gamers to continue playing these types of games.

5.3.4 Network 4 - Cinematics in AVGs



⁴Figure 5.9: Cinematics in AVGs

⁴Figure 5.9: Red lines indicate relation to code group. Black lines indicate association with the nodes as well as "is a" relationships. Green lines indicate support relationships. Purple lines indicate "is part of" relationships. Blue indicates "is cause of" relationships.

TV series genre games are extremely effective in engaging players, especially when it brings about a sense of nostalgia from childhood favourites. When this genre of TV series gameplay is combined with cinematics from the actual show, it greatly enhanced immersion into the AVG. This was noticed when Lenboxs, during his post-workshop interview, commented that he liked the Dragon Ball Z game storyline and he mentioned that watching the TV series in a game would make him want to play again and finish the game. However, it should be noted that having extensively long cinematics become disruptive for the AVG gamer as they begin to lose immersion as the cinematic draws out. Lenboxs explicitly skipped the cinematic for each AVG he played after a while.

Introduction cinematics were very engaging and immersive for the participants as they showed a curiosity towards understanding what the AVG entails. Very rarely did anyone skip the introduction clips to a game or a mini-event in the game. However, with the ending cinematic clip there was a conflict of interest between some participants who preferred to watch it and remain engaged and immersed, whereas for others, they lost interest as soon as the activity itself was over.

During the ending of a mini-game there would usually be an ending cinematic which would include the avatar either celebrating a victory or having lost the round. For the Nintendo Wii, Mario and Sonic London Olympics, the avatars were usually shown on a podium celebrating their victory. It was observed that Peach and Pear always watched the ending cinematic of a mini-event and even went as far as imitating the entire persona of the avatar they were playing as. If the avatar was shaking their hands together to indicate victory on the podium, the participants themselves would imitate the gestures performed by the avatars themselves. This victory cinematic was highly engaging and immersive for each of them respectively. What could be the cause of this ending cinematic being so engaging and immersive is the fact that it incorporates winning, which in itself is a highly engaging and immersive state for players. The cinematic then adds as an enhancing factor to extend the moment of victory and enjoyment.

Having many short interim cinematic clips randomly throughout gameplay is extremely distracting and hinders engagement and immersion among gamers. This was most noticeable when Pineapple55, ICARUS, Fiki, and Lenboxs played Dragon Ball Z on the XBox Kinect. In contrast, Rabbids Invasion, an interactive TV show game, which utilises one long cinematic throughout the gameplay, was very engaging and immersive for JuniorKidd, 2Awesome, and Toefm, because the nature

82

of playing the AVG was dependent on constant observation and interaction. Figure 5.10 shows the comparison of the two different types of styles.



Figure 5.10: Comparison of cinematic styles

This contradicts the observation that AVG gamers dislike long cinematic clips; however, in the instance of playing Rabbids Invasion, the cinematic was interactive, therefore, the gamer was not standing stationary throughout the procedure. It was noted that having an interactive cinematic game genre for AVGs was highly engaging and immersive for the participants.



5.3.5 Network 5 - Preferences for AVG gamers

⁵Figure 5.11: Preferences for AVG gamers

⁵Figure 5.11: Red lines indicate relation to code group of origin. Pink lines indicate "is part of" relationships. Green lines indicate support relationships. Black lines indicate associative relationships.

Music in AVGs sets the tone for the activity at hand and the mood of the game. Fast paced action games have fast paced music. When music fills the environment of the AVG, the gamer becomes more immersed in the activity.

Many gamers prefer a variety of options and the ability to choose their preferences. With regard to music, gamers like the ability to choose songs they prefer in order to play the event of the AVG. It is extremely engaging when songs made available by the AVG fit the preference of the gamer as this boosts the level of satisfaction and fun while playing, which in turn links to replayability.

Customisation allows for the gamer's preferences to be met by providing the gamer with more options. With regard to avatars, which are very engaging features for the gamer, the customisation option adds variety to the AVG, which in turn touches on the preferences of the gamer who could prefer many options. For example, Peach and Pear stated that they want more variety in what they can do in the mini-games and avatars made available to them.

AVGs cannot meet every single gamer's needs and wants; however, by providing a customisation spectrum, the AVG can bridge the gap of fulfilling the gamer's needs by a significant amount. When ICARUS and Lenboxs complained about the visibility and obstruction of the avatar figure itself in the AVG, they requested to have the option to choose the transparency of the character. If a spectrum of transparency was made available to the gamer, it would more likely increase their level of immersion in the game directly in line with their own specific preferences. Giving the gamer a choice in the settings of an AVG is highly immersive as it lowers the chance that they would find little features distractive if they could alter it to their preference.



5.3.6 Network 6 - Errors and glitches in AVGs and consoles

⁶Figure 5.12: Errors and glitches in AVGs and consoles

⁶Figure 5.12: Red lines indicate association to the origin code group. Blue lines indicate direct link relationships. Green lines indicate support relationships. Black lines indicate association, "cause of" and "part of" relationships.

Errors are a hindrance to experiencing an optimum level of engagement and immersion. Bugs and glitches are minor errors which distract the gamer from the activity at hand. However, not all glitches are critical, in that they do not make the gamer turn the AVG off at that moment. Having an AVG crash or not responding would be a major error and this will cause the gamer to have to switch the AVG off to reboot/restart it. However, these technical faults do cause an increase in frustration experienced by the gamer. Most bugs and glitches occur through the motion sensor or camera, which detects the body movement of the gamer. If the player steps out of range of the camera, the sensor will likely cause the game to pause, causing an immediate disruption in the gameplay. The sensor may also fail to detect the movements of the body, which in turn results in the gamer losing points or even the game. When the gamer loses because of the sensor causing errors, the frustration is enough for the players to turn off the AVG and not want to be engaged any longer. This was evident when Toefm and JuniorKidd were playing Rabbids Invasion on the PS4 and the sensor continuously failed to detect their movements, or falsely gave points for incorrect movements, giving the opponent an unfair advantage. The continuous pausing caused 2Awesome to turn off the entire game and restart it, because of errors experienced (Figure 5.13). This hindered immersion and engagement completely for those participants.



Figure 5.13: 2Awesome switching off AVG due to sensor malfunction

It makes sense why losing a game, regardless of the cause, breaks immersion and engagement, because AVG gamers value winning. Also, the lack of control experienced when the sensor malfunctions goes beyond the gamer and increases frustration.

Menu navigation is an engaging experience in itself, as gamers take their time to browse through all the options available to them. With regard to a motion detection sensor controlling the navigation experience, it is noted that an over sensitive response to the camera can make menu navigation extremely difficult. This was seen in Dance Central 3 and Dragon Ball Z, where ICARUS, Pineapple55 and Lenboxs struggled to navigate through the respective menus. Other than notable frustration, Lenboxs and Fiki ended up selecting avatars which did not resemble them, as it was too difficult to pinpoint the sensor on the options that they wanted (Figure 5.14). This failure to select an avatar (which adds to the gamer's engaged and immersive experience) influenced the gamers, in that they were hardly immersed in the AVG at hand and showed signs of being very distracted (apart from being uncomfortable around a stranger).



Figure 5.14: ICARUS navigating through AVG menu

Game crashes are extreme cases whereby the game freezes or turns itself off. This was evident in the case of John who was playing Pokémon Go, and reflected back on past experiences when playing the mobile AVG. Servers constantly being down or the game freezing was noted as massively disengaging and off-putting for him. Technical errors hamper the engaging and immersive experience that AVG gamers have. It is necessary for mechanics to be functioning seamlessly.



5.3.7 Network 7 - Feedback from the AVG to gamers and the sense of achievement experienced

⁷Figure 5.15: Feedback from AVG to gamers and sense of achievement experienced

⁷Figure 5.15: Red lines indicate relation to origin code group. Green lines indicate support relationships. Pink lines indicate "is cause of" relationships. Black lines indicate "is part of", "contradicts", and "is associated with" relationships between nodes.

Viewing final scores and leader boards had the highest level of groundedness in achievement and reward. The act of observing one's final score was the most prominent point of engagement and immersion with the AVG for most gamers. Viewing one's final score is a part of winning or measuring how well the gamer performed, and is associated with a sense of achievement and accomplishment.

"Winning" as an engaging and immersive experience is supported by noting that losing a game contributes towards lowered levels of engagement. Gamers lost interest in playing an AVG if they lost more often than they won. However, this is a contradiction to the observation made, whereby gamers are more excited to play after losing a round. In the instance of this observation of losing, it was usually related to a competitive loss whereby someone would be eager to play again in order to beat their opponent. This was noted between 2Awesome and Toefm, when the one lost, the other wanted to play again to do better.

Winning, feeling accomplished, and observing how well an AVG gamer performed each contributes towards being engaged and immersed in the AVG; however, it occurs through the feedback mechanisms of the AVG. When a player's actions reflect in real time on the screen, it evokes immersion into the AVG. Written and visual feedback are indicators of how well the gamers are doing, which is important because it allows the gamers to make changes where necessary to improve their performance and their chance of winning.

Competitiveness has a major influence on the engagement and immersive states of the gamer and ties into the replayability of the AVG (Figure5.16). Competition contributes towards the immersive and engaged state a gamer experiences, through the experience of "beating your opponent". Beating your opponent is a part of winning, which is an enhancing factor to being engaged and immersed. Also, many participants, including ICARUS (during his post-workshop interview), 2Awesome, JuniorKidd, and Toefm (during their voice recorded interview) reported that they prefer playing with someone rather than playing alone, and the act of playing with someone improves their desire to want to play. The reason for preferring to play against someone was the sense of competition that came out of it.



Figure 5.16: ICARUS and Pineapple55 competing against each other



5.3.8 Network 8 - Motivation to play the AVG

⁸Figure 5.17: Motivation to play the AVG

⁸Figure 5.17: Red lines indicate origin code group. Blue lines indicate directly linked relationships. Green lines indicate support relationships. Black lines indicate "is part of" and "is associated with" relationships.

Having a reasonable challenge is extremely engaging and immersive for players. If gamers do not have a manageable challenge they are able to overcome, they are likely to either become bored or frustrated. Having a good challenge encourages engagement and immersion. Overcoming a fair challenge gives the gamer a sense of accomplishment and reward, which is noted through the act of winning. However, another way of receiving a challenge is through direct competition with another gamer. Competing against another gamer is highly engaging and immersive and encourages replayability. This is supported by the social factor in gaming, whereby playing together socially is a highly enjoyable experience. Most AVG players displayed a preference of playing with another over playing individually. The social aspect when coupled with direct competition drives the motivation for gamers to play AVGs (Figure 5.18).



Figure 5.18: Lenboxs and Fiki competing against each other



5.3.9 Network 9 - Realistic experiences in AVGs and the role of avatars

⁹Figure 5.19: Realistic experiences in AVGs and the role of avatars

⁹Figure 5.19: Green lines indicate support relationships. Black lines indicate associative relationships, as well as contradiction and "is part of" relationships.

The more realistic features appear to be in an AVG, the more immersive it is for the gamer. This is supported by the observation that gamers dislike unrealistic attributes in an AVG. This is closely related to the design and appearance of the avatars available in an AVG.

Gamers become more immersed and engaged in the AVG when they can identify themselves in the avatar with which they play. This was apparent when ICARUS explicitly stated he was selecting his particular avatar because it is dressed the same way as himself (Figure 5.20). He further went on to keep that same avatar throughout his time playing Dance Central 3, despite there being a number of other avatars to choose from.



Figure 5.20: ICARUS matching attire to avatar

This contradicts the observation that gamers like to have variety, because when presented with a number of characters to play with, they were likely to choose and keep the one that mostly resembles them self, even if the only attribute they share is the same gender.

This was also noted throughout Peach and Pear's experience when playing Shaun White, in that they did not want to play as the male character, and this caused a drop in their engagement of play. They were not focusing, because they did not like the non-relating avatar they were playing with.
However, in contradiction to relating to the avatar, it was observed that despite the avatar being different from the gamer, the avatars in themselves sparked much interest in the gamers and encouraged engagement and immersion. When there was a large variety of characters to choose from, gamers took their time to browse through each option (Figure 5.21). And when the avatar did not resemble the gamer, players were more likely to select them based off their design and appearance (Fiki and Lenboxs selected avatars based off their physical attractiveness).



Figure 5.21: Variety of avatars to select from

Although good graphics and realistic features encouraged and enhanced engagement and immersion, it has not negatively influenced AVGs with poorer graphics, as the participants who played on the Nintendo Wii and who played XBox Kinect Adventures reported experiencing high levels of fun and engagement throughout their workshops, despite the other games having a less realistic appearance and non-human avatars (Figure 5.22 and Figure 5.23).



Figure 5.22: XBox Kinect Adventures less realistic appearance



Figure 5.23: Mario and Sonic 2012 Olympics non-human avatars

Therefore, relatively poor graphics and appearance were not enough to put gamers off from playing AVGs.

5.3.10 Network 10 - Replayability of AVGs



¹⁰Figure 5.24: Replayability of AVGs

¹⁰Figure 5.24: Red lines indicate origin code group. Blue lines indicate directly linked relationships. Green lines indicate support relationships. Black lines indicate associative relationships.

This category speaks directly to the research problem as it addresses the issue of playing an AVG again after its initial use.

When asked, "What would make you want to play again?" participants' answers mostly included having fun, or remembering that they had fun when playing the AVG. When mentioning having fun, it was often coupled with "having fun while exercising". AVG gamers placed an almost direct relationship between exercising and having fun.

When asked about what the AVG gamer would like to see more of being incorporated into the AVGs they were experimenting on, Toefm, JuniorKidd, and 2Awesome each wanted more physical activity added to the gameplay activities. This could be influenced by their level of fitness (each of whom is fit). However, full body movement was noted to be an enhancing factor towards high levels of engagement and immersion. This is supported by the observation that "not much body movement" was related to low levels of engagement and immersion.



Figure 5.25: Toefm and 2Awesome running on the spot

Full body movement is exercise or physical exertion. It was noted that the more the body moves, or the more one exercises, the more that individual is experiencing engagement and immersion, which directly correlates to having fun and exercise. This directly influences an AVG gamer's enjoyment and desire to want to persist in playing an AVG after its initial use (Figure 5.25).

5.4 Beginning a new phase of CGT data analysis - theoretical coding

The theoretical coding phase marked the final step in the data analysis process for CGT with the expected outcome being a proposed theoretical model consisting of

saturated core categories (Sbaraini et al., 2017). To achieve theoretical sensitivity, another trial and error approach was needed to find which method would best fit the abstraction task.

Theoretical sensitivity is one's ability to understand an empirical phenomenon in theoretical terms (Glaser, 1992). By doing so, relevant concepts may be identified in the phenomena to indicate some type of coexistence between the emergence of the data (Kelle, 2017). This is a necessary step needed in the final phase of CGT in the final formation of a theoretical contribution.

After conceptualising the code groups by network views, there was still a large volume of data to work with and further abstraction was needed to reach theoretical sensitivity. This caused a problem in deciding how to manage and conceptualise the network views to make theoretical sense of it.

Because of the large volume of data being used, an assistive method to further abstract the data was needed. Literature was consulted on how to achieve theoretical sensitivity in a GT study. It was during this search that the researcher found Glaser's coding families. The coding families seemed to be an appropriate method to use because it provided a systematic approach to filtering data and making sense of it, and it potentially allowed the researcher to have a better sense of control over working with a large volume of data.

5.4.1 Glaser's coding families approach

Theoretical coding families stem from different sociological and philosophical contexts and are grouped together into families to allow the researcher to better identify relations between their codes (Kelle, 2017:4). The purpose of Glaser's coding families is to bridge the gap that exists between the emergence of data in a researchers work, with the achievement of theoretical sensitivity (Kelle, 2017:3), which is the process of abstraction and moving from phase two of focused coding to phase three of theoretical coding. However, there are many limitations and disadvantages when using Glaser's constructs that may possibly stifle the data and making the task too laborious for novice researchers (Kelle, 2017:4; Böhm, 1994:5).

5.4.2 Attempting Glaser's coding families method

After attempting to utilise some of Glaser's coding families to classify the substantive codes already found, it was found that the method was, as the literature indicated, too restrictive and it appeared to force the data into predefined moulds (see AAPPENDIX E: GLASER'S CODING FAMILIES for enlarged image).



Figure 5.26: Attempt to fit existing categories into Glaser's coding families

Along with the resistance to force the data into predefined moulds, the researcher being a novice was not in the best position to be using Glaser's coding families, as it required extensive knowledge of how to apply it correctly to one's research (Kelle, 2017:6; Böhm, 1994:5). A thorough understanding of Glaser's coding families was needed and the researcher greatly lacked in that knowledge. With these two reasons in mind, it was decided to abandon the use of Glaser's coding families to further abstract the core categories and to reach theoretical sensitivity.

5.4.3 Asking the analytical question

It was difficult to find an appropriate means to further conceptualise the tentative categories. After careful consideration, the ten network views were taken into account and a specific analytical question was asked: "What common pattern/trend occurs through all or most of the sets of networks?"

Taking into consideration the events that took place throughout the workshops and interviews, as well as the relationships formed between the code groups, the following concept emerged: that at some point the gamer experienced a state of being engaged or immersed; however, that alone was not sufficient to guarantee the continual use of an AVG. Two steps are needed to ensure replayability.

5.4.3.1 Developing the theory

The first draft is shown in Figure 5.27.



Figure 5.27: First draft of the final theory

When analysing each of the networks there is acknowledgement of some flow between being engaged and being motivated which will in essence lead to replayability. However, this fails to address many of the minor details, such as what if someone is engaged but still does not play? As a result, a further adaption of the conceptual model was designed, as shown in Figure 5.28.



Figure 5.28: Second variation of the constructed theory

The second diagram better illustrates the idea that being engaged and immersed leads to replayability, and it acknowledges that the lack of engagement and immersion or factors leading directly to distraction contribute towards abandonment. Motivation plays a pivotal role in the mix as well. The problem with this diagram is the assumption that motivation drives the inhibiting and enhancing factors of engagement and immersion, is not necessarily true, i.e. being motivated results in engagement and immersion, and not being motivated results in disengagement and non-immersion. Motivation is argued as an independent factor that should stand on its own in conjunction with the inhibiting and enhancing factors.

Ultimately, these two theoretical model drafts led to the final diagram, which more accurately illustrates the factors contributing to replayability and abandonment. Figure 5.29 is explained in Chapter Six (Play Active Theory explained). The theoretical construct as shown in Figure 5.29 best describes the inhibiting and enhancing factors contributing towards the engagement and immersion of AV gamers, specifically what leads to the abandonment and replayability of an AVG.

For easier readability purposes, Figure 5.29 is redesigned to better illustrate the flow of the continuum discussed in Chapter Six, section 6.2. The redesigned diagram holds the same meaning and utilises colour and a horizontal line to depict the movement of the continuum, as it is easier to read from left to right.



Figure 5.29: Completed constructed theory

5.5 Summary

The focused and theoretical coding phase of CGT in data analysis was conducted and the outcome is a proposed theoretical model depicting the design factors in AVGs that influence a gamer's engagement and immersion levels. The proposed theoretical model was formed through the abstraction of ten network views (section 5.3), which consist of substantive codes and relationships. This chapter also addressed the evolution of the data collection tool, and closed with the final theoretical construct, which is explained in detail in Chapter Six.

6. CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION

6.1 Introduction

Chapter Six serves as a secondary literature review (see section 2.1), however, in keeping aligned with CGT, the nature of the secondary literature review differs from traditional literature reviews in that it also serves as a discussion of the theory constructed. According to Giles et al. (2013:5), the purpose of conducting a secondary literature review for a CGT study is "to allow the researcher to engage with ideas relevant to the research and to assist the researcher in positioning their study in the existing body of knowledge, as well as to clarify the theoretical contribution being made". The chapter starts by explaining the constructed theory developed in Chapter Five, which is grounded in the data, compares it to the current literature review serves as additional data in a constant comparison against the constructed theory, which determines how the theory is edited and refined (Glaser, 1998:67). To end the chapter, the final proposed theory is positioned in the existing body of knowledge to ensure a valid contribution has been made.

Literature was reviewed in comparison to the emerged theory. The searches were conducted through CPUT's online libraries whereby the researcher interrogated the academic databases of EBSCOhost, Scopus, IEEE Xplore Digital Library, Google Scholar, Emerald, ScienceDirect, and SpringerLink. Keywords were derived from the constructed theory: "engagement and immersion", "motivation", "abandonment and replayability", "challenge and competition", "achievement and reward", "exercise and having fun", and "active video games". These key words guided the secondary literature review. However, searches were limited to articles in relation to motivation theories, mostly because the search had to be more focused. Not all literature was consulted.

Chapter Five closes off by depicting a diagram of the final constructed theory, which is labelled Play Active Theory (PAT). This is a substantive theory derived from the data collected and formed through the process of CGT. Section 13.2 discusses PAT in detail and compares it to Flow Theory (FT), Self-Determination Theory (SDT) and Social Identity Theory (SIT). Each theory either serves as a motivational theory or a theory that relates to engagement and immersion.

105

6.2 Play Active Theory explained

Figure 6.1 depicts the constructed theory formed through the CGT process and explains the nature of engagement and immersion that gamers experience when playing AVGs as well as their enhancing and inhibiting design factors contributing towards participants' experience. The theory is labelled the Play Active Theory (PAT) and should be viewed as being two halves of the same continuum.



Figure 6.1: Play Active Theory (PAT) diagram

PAT starts at the left side of the diagram. There are a number of design factors leading to abandonment in AVGs for a gamer. Influential inhibiting design factors to engagement and immersion in AVGs are mechanical errors, such as bugs and glitches resulting in for example games crashing or freezing. The second inhibiting factor to engagement and immersion would be a feeling of discomfort by the gamer. This could occur because of a number of reasons, such as the AVG requiring the gamer to contort their body into uncomfortable and awkward positions. The uncomfortable feeling can increase when surrounded by other people that would be considered 'strangers' or 'non-friends'. When a culmination of inhibiting factors occurs, frustration increases in the gamer. Either a build-up of frustration or a once off bug/glitch could be sufficient to result in abandonment of the AVG.

On the other hand, if the gamer does not experience any errors and discomfort, they are likely to become seamlessly engaged and immersed in the AVG. This is the vertical dotted line connecting the two halves of the continuum. Once the gamers find that they are experiencing a seamless state of engagement and immersion, they may still abandon the AVG once they cease to play.

For replayability to be achieved, the gamer needs to at least be experiencing seamless engagement and immersion. For the AVG to be replayable, the engagement needs to be seamless in that there are no distractions to their engagement and immersion. With the presence of enhancing factors and motivation factors, the gamer will more likely experience replayability. The more the gamer experiences enhancing factors, such as competition, challenge and reward, the more immersed the gamer may become and this betters the chance for replayability. However, these enhancing engagement factors may still not be sufficient to ensure replayability. It only moves the gamer higher on the PAT continuum towards replayability. Once intrinsic motivation is introduced to the continuum alongside enhancing factors, the more likely the gamer will experience replayability.

One of the most influential enhancing factors of engagement and immersion that may lead directly to replayability is having fun while exercising. This was noted by the majority of participants (2Awesome, Toefm, ICARUS, JuniorKidd, Pineapple55, and Lenboxs) whose responses indicated having fun and exercising together in the same answer when asked the question, "What would make you want to play again?" during their interviews. Along with this, to ensure replayability the gamer needs enhancing engaging and immersive factors as well as a motivational factor to encourage intrinsic motivation to want to persist in playing AVGs. Therefore, a formula for achieving AVG replayability could be:

Replayability = Seamless engagement and immersion + enhancing factors + motivational factor

6.3 Comparing PAT to the literature

Throughout reviewing the literature pertaining to the design of video games and AVGs, researchers mention a number of supporting theories that influence these artefacts. Of these theories four stand out in particular, as they are mentioned across articles. The theories currently influencing the design of AVGs and video games are: Flow Theory (Csikszentmihalyi, 1975), Self-Determination Theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985), Social Identity Theory and ARCS theory. Each theory is briefly explained and compared against PAT to identify supporting and differing claims.

6.3.1 Flow Theory

Flow Theory (FT) is mentioned across a number of AVG design articles and represents the psychological side of how a gamer would interact with the game (Bunnell & Pruna, 2016; Csikszentmihalyi, 2007). Originally founded by Csikszentmihalyi (1975), FT is known as "complete absorption in what one does" or

as "optimal experience and optimal development" (Nakamura & Csikszentmihalyi, 2002:1).

In the design of AVGs, FT is utilised with the hope that it may increase the habitual use of playing these type of video games (Straker, Fenner, Howie, Feltz, Gray, Lu, Mueller et al., 2015:5). With regard to the habitual use of AVGs, FT makes mention of an "autotelic experience", which is an intrinsic motivation to participate in any given activity (Nakamura & Csikszentmihalyi, 2002:1). Therefore, the main purpose of implementing FT in the design of AVGs is to get gamers to persist in the usage of these products. Altamimi and Skinner (2012:10) further support this notion as they list FT as being necessary for ensuring the sustainability of playing exergames, and therein achieving the health benefits associated with these games.

A number of characteristics constitute being in a "state of flow" or being optimally engaged and immersed in an experience. With regard to the design of AVGs, specific conditions are needed to be in a state of flow. According to Garell (2015:34-35) and Straker et al. (2015:5-6) the conditions required are:

- i. A balance between the activity's level of difficulty and the gamer's level of skill to overcome the challenge
- ii. Presentation of clear goals and objectives in the AVG
- iii. Immediate and continuous feedback during and after gameplay
- iv. Full concentration of the gamer
- v. The gamer must feel a sense of control
- vi. Intrinsic motivation
- vii. Sense of losing track of time
- viii. Social immersion and interaction

These characteristics represent the features of FT in the design of AVGs and they are somewhat coherent with PAT proposed in this research. PAT supports FT in that it lists a set of requirements favourable for the gamer to be in an optimal state of engagement and immersion. Some of these requirements are: full concentration of the gamer, presentation of clear goals and objectives in the AVG, the feeling of a sense of control by the gamer and intrinsic motivation. However, FT differs in that it does not mention a sense of a continuum whereby the amount of engagement experienced or not experienced leads to replayability or abandonment of AVGs. If FT is adhered to, the gamers may find themselves on the vertical line of the PAT whereby they will be in a state of seamless play, which is the first step required before they can achieve replayability.

6.3.2 Self-Determination Theory

Self-Determination Theory (SDT) is used in the design of video games as a means to ensure the persistence of its usage as well as a motivational theory to encourage intrinsic motivation to encourage gamers to continue their habitual use of AVGs (Zhang et al., 2016:4; Neys et al., 2014:2). Persistence can refer to a behavioural pattern which is concerned with continuing to play video games, despite setbacks, insufficient rewards, and frustration of achieving goals (Neys et al., 2014:2).

According to Zhang et al. (2016:4), SDT is based off a continuum structure whereby there are two opposite extremes: one being amotivation and the other being motivation. This theory looks at the types of rewards associated with different levels of motivation. It also claims that the more time one spends engaged in a habit, the more likely they are to be intrinsically motivated, which is considered the most self-determined form of motivation (Neys et al., 2014:3).

This continuum structure relates to the structure of PAT as it indicates a movement between the states experienced by the gamer. In PAT, the more one moves to an end of the spectrum, the more likely they will experience replayability (or abandonment of the AVG), which is similar to the notion of SDT, whereby intrinsic motivation results in an individual participating in an activity out of their own free will, regularly.

According to SDT, when an individual is considered amotivated, that individual requires external rewards to further motivate them to persist in an activity, but the more intrinsically motivated individuals are, the more likely they will partake in an activity out of free will (Zhang et al., 2016:4). PAT relates to SDT in that when the individuals find themselves at the lower half of the diagram (and are not in a seamless state of play), they require that distracting factors be removed and engaging factors be present. These are external factors. When a seamless state is achieved, motivation is required to encourage gamers to experience replayability. The rewarding factors mentioned in PAT, such as "achievement and reward", serve as motivational factors to encourage replayability in AVGs.

SDT relates to FT, as Csikszentmihalyi (1991) claims that one of the principles to achieve flow is intrinsic motivation, otherwise referred to as an "autotelic experience", whereby doing the task becomes a reward on its own.

The four extrinsic motivations that make up the continuum are external regulation whereby: i) behaviour is controlled by external rewards, ii) introjected regulation,

iii) where an individual seeks social approval to motivate their behaviour, iv) identified regulation, v) where someone does an activity because of their own interests and abilities, and vi) integrated regulation whereby an individual partakes in an activity because it has become a part of their lifestyle (Zhang et al., 2016:4). Figure 6.2 depicts a visual overview of SDT.



Figure 6.2: A visual representation of SDT

PAT differs from SDT in that SDT does not address specific factors that inhibit or enhance the gamers experience when playing AVGs. It addresses the motivational factors which encourage gamers to participate in an activity. However, aspects of SDT and FT, such as the continuum structure and movement of motivation in SDT and specific conditions needed to be met in FT, align with the principles of PAT.

6.3.3 Social Identity Theory

Social Identity Theory (SIT) is not as prominent as FT and SDT. However, it contributes towards what could possibly influence persistence in playing AVGs. By explaining the social dynamics of video games, SIT assists in understanding what could possibly motivate an individual to play AVGs (Neys et al., 2014:1).

SIT suggests that the way in which individuals classify themselves along with their social group, has an association with levels of motivation (Neys et al., 2014:3). Therefore, if classified as being a gamer, the gamers would conform to the norms of that type of group, be it that they play digital games. This idea is supported by Johnston and Whitehead (2011:2) who note that a sense of community among gamers can be formed in an online gameplay environment or in a physical reality of

a social group of friends. According to Neys et al. (2014), the more an individual identifies themselves through gaming, the more likely they are to persist in playing despite in-game setbacks and challenges.

The different types of gaming groups can be classified as: i) heavy-gamers, ii) hardcore-gamers, and iii) casual gamers (Neys et al., 2014). There is no hierarchical structure to the type of gamer one might classify themselves as. Each group, depending on their own perceived level of identity to games, would persist in playing video games differently to the other groups.

PAT supports SIT with regard to the social dynamics. PAT recognises that social influence, especially with regard to a "healthy social challenge", greatly influences the motivation one has to continue playing an AVG. However, it differs by claiming that the way gamers identify themselves influences the persistence of playing. Throughout this study, it is found that gamers are likely to persist in playing when a friendship is present between competitors. The friendship level of participants and the level of healthy competition determined whether or not the gamers felt a need to play again. The way in which the players identified themselves in the study did not influence their desire to want to play again.

6.3.4 Attention, Relevance, Confidence and Satisfaction (ARCS) theory

While researching SDT, the researcher came across its origin, which lies in the education field (Chen & Jang, 2010:1). Chen and Jang (2010:1) introduce the ARCS motivational model, which was originally created for being used in the discipline of education. The authors highlight the value of the ARCS model and they also show that educational motivation theories can be applied across disciplines, such as using SDT in the areas of politics, healthcare, and religion (Chen & Jang, 2010:1). Furthermore, Jokelova (2013:1) agrees with Chen and Jang (2010) by stating that the ARCS model can also be used within a variety of fields and for a variety of audiences. It is with this reasoning that the researcher decided to further investigate the ARCS motivational theory to determine whether or not the principles would apply to the AVG discipline, as well as to compare the findings of this research with the ARCS motivational theory.

The ARCS (Attention, Relevance, Confidence and Satisfaction) motivational model was developed to address issues regarding learning motivation (Jokelova, 2013:1). The model deals with the concept of becoming and remaining motivated to persist with the task at hand, which originally is to motivate students to learn academic content (Visser & Keller, 1990:4). ARCS comprises four main components, each of

which should be met in order for someone to become and remain motivated to persist in performing a task such as learning (Yau, 2015:2). The four components of the ARCS model are: i) attention, ii) relevance, iii) confidence, and iv) satisfaction (Yau, 2015:2; Jokelova, 2013:1; Visser & Keller, 1990:4).

6.3.4.1 Attention

The purpose of the A in ARCS is to acquire and maintain the attention of students throughout the instructional content (Yau, 2015:2; Jokelova, 2013:1). In alternate disciplines this translates into acquiring and maintaining the attention of the audience throughout the activity. The category of attention holds two subgroups, which is curiosity and sensation seeking (Keller, 2008:2-3).

Curiosity addresses the students' attitude towards unresolved problems and how they would become engaged through techniques that stimulate the learners' sense of inquiry (Keller & Suzuki, 2004:3). Jokelova (2013:1) also notes that if the process of discovering the unknown does not occur fast enough, the students' motivation to continue will diminish. This identified need for exploring the unknown translates into what is observed in AVGs, as firstly the gamers' attention would need to be acquired (becoming engaged) and then maintained. Curiosity in AVGs could manifest itself in the gamer exploring the artificial world and discovering unknown areas, being motivated through in-game objectives.

A principle from curiosity which translates into the experience a gamer has with AVGs is the amount of time an activity can take. As is found with the dragged-out cinematics and time consuming game rounds, the gamers lost interest in playing (refer to Chapter Five, section 5.3.4).

With sensation seeking, one should vary the approaches taken to invoke stimulation, as people are bound to lose interest in any given activity after time has passed (Keller, 2008:3). This presents itself as the need for novelty. With the origin of ARCS in a classroom environment, students show a need for novelty in order to motivate their learning experiences. This can be directly seen with regard to gamers engaging with AVGs. There is a prominent desire for novelty as gamers found it kept them interested in playing the AVG.

The ARCS model goes on to suggest strategies for combating each obstacle to one of its four categories (Jokelova, 2013:1-2). With regard to attention, the model suggests using variation as a tool against monotony, which learners found brought about a sense of boredom (Keller, 2008:3). This is found as an appealing

characteristic in AVGs as gamers showed a great interest in variation, having many options at their disposal and found that it made the AVG more interesting. Another strategy suggested by the ARCS model to capture and maintain attention is to change the modes of delivery of instruction to the learners (Keller & Suzuki, 2004:3). This can be seen by the participants in this study, when AVG gamers show a great deal of importance regarding "being informed" and many list that they prefer audio, written, and visual (pictures) modes of instruction.

In addition to the previous suggestions, another is for educators to include humour into their lessons to gain the attention of the learners (Jokelova, 2013:2). This is also noted in AVGs with regard to the narrative storylines the games follow. Gamers indicate a preference for funny storylines, with particular regard to the PS4 AVG, Rabbids Invasion. Another strategy recommended to gain the learners' attention is to provide them with a choice to pick topics that suite them (Keller, 1987:4). This is clearly seen with the participants in this study who indicate their liking of having options available for them to make choices, relating to which avatars they can play with, the sound tracks to play to, customisation options for features in the game such as camera angles and the choice of which mini-games to participate in.

The category of attention ties in closely with PAT, as it agrees that the first step to maintaining motivation of the audience is to capture the individuals attention and then to apply strategies to maintain it. This relates to the horizontal line of PAT, which says gamers first need to be engaged seamlessly before they can achieve replayability, which would be sustained motivation to play.

6.3.4.2 Relevance

Relevance refers to perceptions and feelings towards desired outcomes or ideas based upon one's own goals, values, and motives (Keller, 2010). This means that an individual becomes motivated to engage in a learning activity (or any activity, including the use of AVGs) when the activity presented serves to fill the needs or goals of the individual. As long as the activity itself is seen as relevant to the person (in terms of meeting their goals, matching their values, or being in alignment with their motives), the individual will likely be motivated to participate in that task.

Relevance in ARCS concerns itself with meeting or satisfying the needs of the students, as well as saying that when the students' goals are being achieved through the activity, learners are more likely to stay motivated (Keller, 2008:3; Keller & Suzuki, 2004:3; Keller, 1987:3).

Looking at the category of relevance in further detail, it can be broken down into the need for achievement, power and affiliation, as well as being associated with a level of competence (Keller, 2008:3). PAT aligns with this notion because achievement and reward is a key factor in ensuring replayability. The gamers became more motivated when scoring highly, completing the main goals of the AVGs, and when beating their opponents.

The need for power manifests itself through team work, whereby the group all works towards accomplishing a common goal (Jokelova, 2013:2; Keller, 2008:3). This is clearly noted in AVGs whereby group work is greatly valued in accomplishing a common goal, for example, when players were asked about the mobile AVG Pokémon Go, participant John reported that he enjoyed the social factor of the AVG where one could meet potentially new friends who all shared a common goal of catching Pokémon together in public.

According to Jokelova (2013:2), the need for affiliation is "the extent to which an individual seeks out social interactions and friendships with other individuals". This is in alignment with Social Identity Theory, as well as a sub-category of SDT, whereby the influence of social factors contribute towards an individual's intrinsic motivation to participate in an activity. It is also in direct alignment with PAT, as the social factor when included with healthy competition and friendship (in being comfortable playing around others), greatly improves one's desire to continue playing the AVG.

Lastly, with regard to relevance, the need to feel competent in what an individual is doing is highly valued and contributes towards learners staying motivated to complete their learning instruction (Keller & Suzuki, 2004:3). Being competent aligns with PAT in that being informed is highly valued by the participants. When the gamers felt competent and well-informed in what they were doing, they highly valued it and enjoyed their experience of playing AVGs much more. It is when there is a lack of clear instruction and not knowing what to do that they found themselves unable to play and lost their motivation to continue.

Therefore, the sub-category of relevance in the ARCS model aligns and reiterates what PAT portrays.

6.3.4.3 Confidence

According to Keller (2010:135), confidence is a sub-category of the ARCS model and refers to "people's expectancies for success in the various parts of their lives". However, it focuses more on the level of control that individuals have over their behaviour (Yau, 2015:3). Jokelova's (2013:3) opinion gives more insight into confidence and describes it as when an individual believes they have a chance to succeed, knowing that the outcome of success was derived from the person's own ability to execute the task and not by an external influence. Therefore, the need to exercise control is highly valued and relates to the individual's motivation to persevere in the task at hand (Yau, 2015:3). Yau (2015:3) further affirms that perseverance is an effect of confidence.

Confidence deals with variables regarding students' perception and feelings of personal control and expectations for success (Keller, 2008:3). Jokelova (2013:3) states that with regard to confidence and the exercise of control, the amount of effort put in should reflect the amount of success achieved. Also, Jokelova further identifies a potential hazard, which is when an external influence or an uncontrollable factor leads to the learners' failure. Jokelova (2013:4) labels this as "learned helplessness" and directly links it to being disengaged and unresponsive. PAT relates closely with observation as bugs, glitches and errors, all of which are out of the gamers control and could potentially lead to the gamers' failure, adds to the level of frustration experienced, and often times results in the abandonment of the AVG (through being unresponsive to the game or disengaged).

Also, throughout the study it isnoted that gamers needed to feel to a high degree in control of their actions and felt more immersed in the AVG when they saw their movements being reflected accurately in the AVG. Being in control formed one of the tentative categories through which PAT is built.

6.3.4.4 Satisfaction

The final sub-category of the ARCS model is satisfaction and it refers to how individuals feel about their achievements, specifically feeling good (Keller & Suzuki, 2004:3). Satisfaction is different from the other three categories in that it concerns itself specifically with the post-activity (Jokelova, 2013:5). What is important to note about the satisfaction sub-category is that "it is a prerequisite for any future task" (Jokelova, 2013:5), meaning, satisfaction is the factor that motivates people to continue doing an activity after the present task has been completed (Proske, Roscoe, McNamara, 2014:3).

PAT is in agreement with this stance that the number one factor which directly relates to replayability is enjoyment and satisfaction. When gamers experience a culmination of the following factorsthey are likely to replay the AVG: i) having fun

while exercising, ii) achievement and reward, iii) challenge, iv) competition, and v) a good narrative (all of which lead to enjoyment and satisfaction).

Another factor of satisfaction refers to positive feedback immediately after the activity (Woo, 2014:6). After a task has been completed, educators are encouraged to give feedback to the students by commenting on the students' successful completion of the work (Jokelova, 2013:5). This reinforcement after the task increases the likelihood of the same behaviour occurring again in the near future (Keller, 2008:3). This is noted during the observation of gamers playing AVGs, whereby the gamers show a great interest in viewing their personal scores after each round of play. Scoreboards and in-game achievement feedback mechanisms are highly valued and encourage the gamers to improve on their current abilities.

6.4 Adapted PAT

After reviewing the literature and acknowledging that motivational theories are needed to be analysed and reviewed, comparisons have been made between PAT and current theories being utilised in the design of AVGs.PAT supported each theory to a certain extent.

PAT needs to stand on its own and represent the phenomenon at hand. Each theory currently in literature partially addresses the problem, but each theory lacks components of the other to successfully address the issue of persistence in playing AVGs. Therefore PAT, which identifies factors leading to replayability and abandonment of AVGs, is proposed as a new theory on gaming design.

6.5 Recommendations and future research

The ARCS modelis well structured and covers most of the existing motivational theories such as FT, SDT and SIT in one or more of its sub-categories. It is also discovered that the findings and principles of PATalign with each of the sub-categories of the ARCS model. Therefore, it is concluded that PAT fills the gap of knowledge for AVG motivation and engagement and immersion when being applied with the knowledge borrowed by the ARCS motivational theory.

The ARCS model should be used in the IT discipline when designing AVGs, as it incorporates all the findings of the factors leading to engaging and motivating gamers to persist in the use of these types of video games. PAT includes most of the points mentioned in the ARCS model, and it is recommended to utilise the ARCS model in conjunction with PAT, as the ARCS model gives specific structured

steps to motivate the people participating in the relevant activities and PAT is a more specific theory grounded in the experience of playing AVGs.

Future research should consider the testing pool for data collected and people sampled in order to get a greater perspective and analysis of the phenomenon. Future research should also consider testing other factors in AVGs and different scenarios and environments, which could yield different results. A different demographic of people should be sampled and tested as this might also bring forth new and different information. Further studies should be done internationally on AVG experiences, especially first world countries, as their cultures and economic climates may change the opinions and beliefs of participants in other parts of the world.

6.6 Summary

This chapter discussed PAT with regard to existing theories, including FT, SDT, SIT, and ARCS. Similarities and differences of the four theories were highlighted, and it was found that each theory alone is not sufficient to affirm PAT. After using the theories as a lens, these theories have been compared to the proposed PAT. After considering all the theories and their similarities and differences to PAT, it has been concluded that PAT can be proposed as a theory on its own.

6.7 Contribution

PAT contributes specifically to AVG designers and developers who wish to produce artefacts that will be replayable among AVG gamers and for people who wish to benefit from these types of games in the long term with regard to their overall skill development, medical rehabilitation, education, maintenance and improvement of cognitive abilities, and social development. The theoretical contribution is specific to the IT body of knowledge (BOK) as it is designed specifically for the AVG experience and it is a very detailed and fixed theory. The usage of PAT is for understanding engagement and immersion along with design factors in AVGs. The most important aspects to take into consideration are the contribution of design factors that ensure replayability. Lastly, PAT differs from the ARCS theory model in that it incorporates the principles of ARCS motivation as one aspect of its components. Therefore, PAT should be used in conjunction with the ARCS theory model to ensure optimal design of AVGs.

7. CHAPTER SEVEN: REFLECTION

7.1 Introduction

The following section serves as a reflection of the study conducted and addresses the challenges encountered by me and what I have learnt throughout the research process. I discuss how the challenges were mitigated and what I would have done differently. The chapter concludes with the methodological contribution of the study.

7.2 What I learnt along the way

Throughout the research process many lessons were learnt, some of which required me to go back and make amendments to the writing of the study. However, there were some significant learning points along the way.

The first major learning point was identifying a suitable methodology to answer the research questions and address the research problem. It was important to know every step of the GT process and to decide which form of GT would work best for the nature of the study and my level of experience. Although CGT allowed for a greatdeal of flexibility, it still posed a massive challenge for a novice researcher who was not initially prepared for the large volume of data and the amount of uncertainty that accompanies taking on a methodology such as this. A major challenge was the distortion of the predefined research process, which is usually a deductive approach, followed by a full literature review and then data collection. For CGT, the process was reversed, being inductive by nature. This difference in research approach caused a great deal of discomfort for me as I did not know what to expect or do because there was little information to work with without an initial literature review that goes in depth about the subject topic.

Being a novice, there was great pressure from having to work with such a large volume of data and a great deal of uncertainty. In order to work through the challenge of structuring data, an Atlas.ti qualitative data analysis tool was used. Ironically, the tool itself posed a new challenge. Atlas.ti is a complex tool which requires training to learn not only how to conduct qualitative data analysis, but also how to do it in the tool itself. This added to my workload as multiple attempts of testing data had to be used in new HUs to learn how to use the software. When it came time to collect and analyse the actual data which was to be used from the workshops, I made multiple backups of the HUs to allow for possible mistakes and backtracking if I needed to go back to a previous state. Code books were also printed out to keep track of every step of coding I went through. It is a good idea

todo this, even though initially it will be extremely overwhelming, but once one becomes used to the process it becomes extremely reliable and useful when manipulating your collected data.

The way I addressed the posed challenges was to work closely and meet regularly with both my supervisors in order to manage the uncertainty and to make sure that the study was still going in the right direction. My supervisors also were great at motivating me to pursue the study until the end and provided great insights into what to try and where to go. With regard to managing the large volumes of data, it was helpful to store everything in well-organised local files on my personal computer (PC). It was also helpful to learn how to use the CAQDAS tool very early on and to make some test HUs to practically learn how to use the tool and to understand the CGT research process. I also consulted YouTube videos to help with learning the Atlas.ti tool.

A minor challenge encountered along the research process was the limitation of a geographical area where I could find potential participants for the study. This along with the uncertainty of not knowing how many participants would be needed added pressure to plan accordingly when making laboratory room reservations for data collection testing. To manage this challenge, I decided to print flyers advertising the research workshops around the CPUT Cape Town Campus. Many interested participants responded to these advertisements and I easily found enough people to participate in the study. As for the uncertainty of not knowing how many workshops would have to be planned for, I decided to make a block booking over a period of three months with the CPUT Campus security manager to allow for conducting workshops over weekends with people who might not be CPUT students. This worked out because three months was much longer than what was needed to conduct the data collection process. Therefore, I recommend planning for extreme case scenarios but making the most out of the time allocated per workshop. Although I was limited to finding participants, the advertisement posters assisted in attracting potential participants.

A final challenge and limitation experienced was the selection and availability of AVGs to use as testing games in the study. Here, it was necessary to accept the limitation and to make the most of what was available. Including most genres and platforms of AVG consoles helped greatly providing the most holistic view of the phenomenon at hand.

119

7.3 What I would have done differently

If I had a chance to go back and redo the study, there would only be a few things which I would have done differently. It would be possible that I would not choose to do another CGT study, as the amount of work and data becomes quickly overwhelming. This also made data analysis extremely difficult as I had to make a judgement call on which areas to focus on and which areas to stop pursuing. These judgement calls were solely based on the level of groundedness of the codes emerging. I acknowledged that there were many avenues of research pertaining to AVGs that could still have been explored, but it was not feasible for the scope of this study. Therefore, I would opt for a more sizeable and manageable research methodology to address the posed research questions and problem. However, I do not regret conducting a CGT study, as there were many skills to learn from going through this process, along with learning how to deal with limited time constraints.

With regard to the research done, I would not do much differently other than to just follow the steps of CGT very closely and to document each and everything done along the way. Every piece of information is useful in a CGT study and contributes to the final product. Reading becomes a normal part of research regardless of which methodology any researcher decides to follow.

7.4 Methodological contribution

When conducting a CGT research study, the most important aspect to realise from the beginning is how much the methodology influences every other part of the research. It is important to understand these influences as they will dictate how and what you can and should do as a researcher. Knowing these factors early on really assisted me in planning accordingly and understanding the nature of my work.

The bulk of the work happens during data collection and data analysis for a CGT study. It worked out well for me to have multiple data collection components such as observation forms, interview forms, and memos to capture different aspects of the phenomenon at the same time. Having this in place before any data collection workshop is conducted is even better as the event takes place so quickly that it is easy to miss out on important information. Therefore, it is recommended to use multiple data collection and capturing tools.

After each data collection workshop, I adapted the data collection tool to keep it constant with the line of analysis that needed to be followed. This constant changing and updating of the data collection tool is similar to the agile development methods used in the IT discipline, whereby developers make constant prototypes and updates to existing software to keep up with customer and market demands. This same principle was applied to altering the DC tool throughout the CGT process and workshops and it worked well for me.

7.5 Summary

The study addressed the problem of prolonged play of AVGs as not being sustainable as gamers lose interest in playing AVGs after the initial period of acquiring the games. The main research question asked was what design factors contributed to an engaged and immersed AVG experience? The aim of the study was to explore the inhibiting and enhancing factors that influenced engagement and immersion among AVG gamers. The second aim was to develop a theory of AVG design. The research problem was addressed as the research question was answered by achieving the goals of the two aims: to explore the inhibiting and enhancing design factors in AVG that influenced engagement and immersion and to develop a sustentative theory. CGT was used as the underlying methodology to collect and analyse data, which was coded and abstracted to form PAT. PAT was compared to literature in Chapter Six, and recommendations for future research were made. PAT addressed the issue of replayability and abandonment of AVGs and suggested specific engaging and immersive factors to take into consideration when designing future AVGs.

7.6 Conclusion

Therefore, the next researcher who decides to take on a CGT study should be well organised, extremely analytical, and be able to manage pressure and uncertainty well. They should also be mentally flexible as that is needed to get through the many unexpected twists and turns of a CGT study.

REFERENCES

- Adachi, P.J.C. & Willoughby, T. 2017. The link between playing video games and positive youth outcomes. *Child Development Perspectives*, 1-5.
- Agnes, M. & Guralnik, D.B. 2001. *Webster's New World College Dictionary*. 4th ed. M. Agnes & D.B. Guralnik (eds). IDG Books Worldwide.
- Altamimi, R. & Skinner, G. 2012. A survey of active video game literature: from theory to technilogical application. *International Journal of Computer and Information Technology*, 1(1):20-35.
- Baranowski, T., Maddison, R., Maloney, A., Medina, E. & Simons, M. 2014. Building a better mousetrap (exergame) to increase youth physical activity. *Games for Health Journal*, 3(2):72-78. http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/g4h.2014.0018.
- Bernstein, E., Gibbone, A. & Rukavina, P. 2015. Task design and skill level perceptions of middle school students toward competition in dance-related active gaming. *The Physical Educator*, 72:99-122.
- Böhm, A. 1994. Theoretical coding: text analysis in grounded theory. London: Sage.
- Brooksby, A. 2008. Exploring the representation of health in videogames: a content analysis. Cyberpsychology & Behavior: The Impact of the Internet, Multimedia and Virtual Reality on Behavior and Society, 11(6):6-9.
- Bryant, A. & Charmaz, K. 2007. The Sage handbook of grounded theory. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Buday, R. 2015. Games for health: an opinion. Games for Health Journal, 4(1):38-42.
- Bunnell, S. & Pruna, H. 2016. *Effects of challenge and skill on videogame flow*. Human Factors and Applied Psychology Student Conference. Paper 23. http://commons.erau.edu/hfap/hfap-2016/posters/23.
- Caroux, L. & Isbister, K. 2016. Influence of head-up displays' characteristics on user experience in video games. *International Journal of Human Computer Studies*, 87:65-79. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2015.11.001.
- Charmaz, K. 2000. Grounded theory: objectivist and contructivist methods. *The Handbook of Qualitative Research:* 509-35.
- Charmaz, K. 2006. Constructing grounded theory: a practical guide through qualitative analysis. London: Sage.
- Charmaz, K. 2012. The power and potential of grounded theory. *Medical Sociology Online*, 6(3):2-15. http://www.medicalsociologyonline.org/resources/Vol6Iss3/MSo-600x_The-Power-and-Potential-Grounded-Theory_Charmaz.pdf.
- Chen, K.C. & Jang, S.J. 2010. Motivation in online learning: testing a model of selfdetermination theory. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(4):741-752. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.011.

- Chiappe, D., Conger, M., Liao, J., Caldwell, J.L. & Vu, K.L. 2013. Improving multi-tasking ability through action videogames. *Applied Ergonomics*, 44(2):278-284. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2012.08.002.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. 1975. Play and intrinsic rewards. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 15(3):41-63.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. 1991. Flow: the psychology of optimal experience. Academy of Management Review, 16(3):636-640.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. 2007. Finding flow.

http://psychologytoday.com/articles/index.php?term=pto-19970701-000. [Accessed: 19/05/2016].

- Cugelman, B. 2013. Gamification: what it is and why it matters to digital health behavior change developers. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(12):1-18.
- Deci, E.L. & Ryan, R.M. 1985. The general causality orientations scale: self-determination in personality. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 19(2):109-134.
- Deterding, S., Dixon, D., Khaled, R. & Nacke, L. 2011. From game design elements to gamefulness: defining gamification. *Proceedings*. The 15thInternational Academic MindTrek Conference on Envisioning Future Media Environments (MindTrek '11): 9-11. http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2181037.2181040%5Cnhttp://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=2 181037.2181040.
- Domsch, S. 2016. Hearing storyworlds: how video games use sound to convey narrative. *Audionarratology: Interfaces of Sound and Narrative*, 52:185.
- Dunne, C. 2011. The place of the literature review in grounded theory research. *Internation Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 14(2):111-124.
- Du Plooy-Cilliers, F., Davis, C. & Benzuidenhout, R.-M. (eds). 2014. *Research matters*. 1st ed. South Africa: Juta Legal and Academic.
- Dutta, N. & Pereira, M.A. 2015. Effects of active video games on energy expenditure in adults: a systematic literature review. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 12(6):890-899.
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1732320275?accountid=11440%5Cnhttp://pr7mz9r q5v.search.serialssolutions.com/?ctx_ver=Z39.88-2004&ctx_enc=info:ofi/enc:UTF-8&rfr_id=info:sid/ProQ:psycinfo&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:journal&rft.genre=article &rft.jtit.
- Dye, M.W.G., Green, C.S. & Bavelier, D. 2009. Increasing speed of processing with action video games. *The Association for Psychological Science*, 18(6):321-326.
- Egenfeldt-Nielsen, S., Smith, J.H. & Tosca, S.P. 2009. *Understanding video games: the essential introduction*. 1st ed. New York: Routledge.
- Eichenbaum, A., Bavelier, D. & Green, C.S. 2014. Video games play that can do serious good. *American Journal of Play*, 7(1):50-72.
- Eliashberg, J., Hennig-Thurau, T., Weinberg, C.B. & Wierenga, B. 2016. Of video games, music, movies, and celebrities. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 33(2):241-245. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2016.03.004.

- Evans, G.L. & Moores, L.J. 2013. A novice researcher's first walk through the maze of grounded theory: rationalisation for classical grounded theory. *Grounded Theory Review*, 12(1):37-55.
- Franceschini, S., Gori, S., Ruffino, M., Viola, S., Molteni, M. & Facoetti, A. 2013. Action video games make dyslexic children read better. *Current Biology*, 23(6):462-466. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.01.044.
- Friese, S. 2012. Qualitative data analysis with Atlas.ti. London: Sage.
- Garell, C. 2015. *Health games healthy in what way? A systematic review of the current state of research.* Master's thesis. University of Gothenburg. doi:10.13140/RG.2.1.3897.9281.
- Giles, T.,King, L.& De Lacey, S. 2013. The timing of the literature review in grounded theory research: an open mind versus an empty head the timing of the literature review in grounded theory. *ANS Advances in Nursing Science*, 36(2): E29-40. doi:10.1097/ANS.0b013e3182902035. April-June.
- Glaser, B.G. 1992. *Basics of grounded theory analysis: emergence vs forcing*. California: Sociology Press.
- Glaser, B.G. 1998. *Doing grounded theory: issues and discussions*. California: Sociology Press.
- Glaser, B.G. 2002. Forum: qualitative social research sozialforschung constructivist grounded theory? *Analysis*, 3(3):93-105. http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/viewArticle/825/1792.
- Gomes, E.L.F.D., Carvalho, C.R.F., Peixoto-Souza, F.S., Teixeira-Carvalho, E.F., Mendonça, J.F.B., Stirbulov, R., Sampaio, L.M.M. & Costa, D. 2015. Active video game exercise training improves the clinical control of asthma in children: randomised controlled trial. *PLoS ONE*, 10(8):1-12.
- Goulding, C. 2003. Grounded theory, ethnography and phenomenology strategies for marketing research. *European Journal of Marketing*, 39(3/4):294-308. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090560510581782
- Gray, D.E. 2004. Doing research in the real world. 1st ed. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Green, C.S. & Bavelier, D. 2003. Action video game modifies visual selective attention. *Nature Publishing Group*, 423:6. May.
- Hagen, K., Chorianopoulos, K., Wang, A.I., Jaccheri, M.L. & Weie, S. 2016. Gameplay as exercise designing an engaging multiplayer biking exergame. *CHI 2016 Adjunct Proceedings*, 1872-1878. May.
- Johnston, H. & Whitehead, A. 2011. Pose presentation for a dance-based massively multiplayer online exergame. *Entertainment computing*, 2(2):89-96. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2010.12.007.
- Jokelova, A. 2013. ARCS motivational model: theoretical concepts and its use in online courses. IEEE International Conference on Emerging eLearning Technologies and Applications: 189-194.

- Kelle, U. 2017. "Emergence" vs. "forcing" of empirical data? A crucial problem of "grounded theory" reconsidered. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 6(2):1-15.
- Keller, J. & Suzuki, K. 2004. Learner motivation and E-learning design: a multinationally validated process. *Journal of Educational Media*, 29(3):229-239. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1358165042000283084.
- Keller, J.M. 1987. Development and use of the ARCS model of motivational design. *Journal* of *Instructional Development*, 10(1932):2-10.
- Keller, J.M. 2008. First principles of motivation to learn and e3-learning. *Distance Education*, 29(2):175-185.
- Keller, J.M. 2010. Motivational design for learning and performance: the ARCS model approach. In *Motivational Design for Learning and Performance*. Boston, MA: Springer: 43-74.
- Kenny, M. & Fourie, R. 2015. Contrasting classic, Straussian, and constructivist grounded theory: methodological and philosophical conflicts. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(8):1270-1289.
- Khambete, P. & Athavankar, U. 2010. Grounded theory: an effective method for user experience design research. *Design Thoughts*, 11-24.
- Kiluk, A. 2016. Exergaming as a didactic tool in physical education. *Studies in Sport Humanities*, 19:11-16.
- Kumar, R. 2011. Research methodology: a step-by-step guide for beginners. 3rd ed. Sage.
- Macvean, A. 2013. Understanding the exergame user experience: users' motivation, attitude and behaviour in a location-aware pervasive exergame for adolescent children. Heriot-Watt University.
- McDermott, A.F., Bavelier, D. & Green, C.S. 2014. Memory abilities in action video game players. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 34:69-78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.01.018.
- Mills, J., Bonner, A. & Francis, K. 2006. Adopting a constructivist approach to grounded theory: implications for research design. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 12(1):8-13.
- Mills, J. & Francis, K. 2006. The development of constructivist grounded theory. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 5(1):25-35.
- Myers, M.D. 1997. Qualitative research in information systems. *MISQ Discovery*,21. June. doi:10.2307/249422.
- Nakamura, J. & Csikszentmihalyi, M. 2002. *The concept of flow optimal experience and its role in development*. Netherlands: Springer: 89-105.
- Neys, J.L.D., Jansz, J. & Tan, E.S.H. 2014. Exploring persistence in gaming: the role of selfdetermination and social identity. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 37:196-209. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.

- Nguyen, H., Ishmatova, D., Tapanainen, T., Liukkonen, T.N., Katajapuu, N. & Makila, T. 2017. Impact of serious games on health and well-being of elderly: a systematic review. *Proceedings.* The 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences: 3695-3704.
- Nicholson, V.P., McKean, M., Lowe, J., Fawcett, C. & Burkett, B. 2015. Six weeks of unsupervised Nintendo Wii Fit gaming is effective at improving balance in independent older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 23(1):153-158.
- O'Donovan, C. & Hussey, J. 2012. Active video games as a form of exercise and the effect of gaming experience: a preliminary study in healthy young adults. *Physiotherapy (United Kingdom)*, 98(3):205-210. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2012.05.001.
- Peng, W., Crouse, J.C. & Lin, J.-H. 2013. Using active video games for physical activity promotion: a systematic review of the current state of research. *Health Education & Behavior*, 40(2):171-192.
- Proske, A., Roscoe, R.D. & McNamara, D.S. 2014. Game-based practice versus traditional practice in computer-based writing strategy training: effects on motivation and achievement. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 62(5):481-505.
- Rowland, J.L., Malone, L.A., Fidopiastis, C.M., Padalabalanarayanan, S., Thirumalai, M. & Rimmer, J.H. 2016. Perspective on active video gaming as a new frontier in accessible physical activity for youth with physical disabilities. *Perspective*, 96(4):521-533.
- Sbaraini, A., Carter, S.M. & Evans, R.W. 2017. How to do a grounded theory study: a worked example of a study of dental practices. *BioMed Central*: 11(1):128.
- Simons, M., De Vet, E., Brug, J., Seidell, J. & Chinapaw, M.J.M. 2014. Active and non-active video gaming among Dutch adolescents: who plays and how much? *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 17(6):597-601.
- Simons, M., Brug, J., Chinapaw, M.J.M., De Boer, M., Seidell, J. & De Vet, E. 2015. Replacing non-active video gaming by active video gaming to prevent excessive weight gain in adolescents. *PLoS ONE*, 10(7):1-22.
- Soutter, A.R.B. & Hitchens, M. 2016. The relationship between character identification and flow state within video games. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 55:1030-1038. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.11.012.
- Stol, K.-J., Ralph, P. & Fitzgerald, B. 2016. Grounded theory in Software Engineering research: a critical review and guidelines. The 38thInternational Conference on Software Engineering, August.
- Straker, L.M., Fenner, A.A., Howie, E.K., Feltz, D.L., Gray, C.M., Lu, A.S., Mueller, F., Simons, M. & Barnett, L.M. 2015. Efficient and effective change principles in active videogames. *Games for Health Journal*, 4(1):43-52. http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/g4h.2014.0077.
- Urquhart, C. & Fernandez, W. 2013. Using grounded theory method in information systems: the researcher as blank slate and other myths. *Journal of Information Technology*, 28(3):224-236.
- Urquhart, C., Lehmann, H. & Myers, M.D. 2010. Studies in information systems. *Information Systems Journal*, 20(4):357-381.

- Visser, J. & Keller, J.M. 1990. The clinical use of motivational messages: an inquiry into the validity of the ARCS model of motivational design. *Instructional Science*, 19(6):467-500.
- West, S., Hoff, E. & Carlsson, I. 2013. Playing at work: professionals' conceptions of the functions of play on organisational creativity. *The Internation Journal of Creativity & Problem Solving*, 23(2):5-23.
- Wilson, G. 2006. Off with their HUDs! Rethinking the heads-up display in console game design. https://www.gamasutra.com/view/feature/130948/off_with_their_huds_rethinking_.php? page=2. [Accessed: 17 April 2013].
- Witherspoon, L. & Manning, J. 2012. Active gaming: the future of play? *American Journal of Play*, 4(4):464-487. http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ985601.
- Wolf, M.J.P. 2007. The video game explosion: a history from PONG to PlayStation and beyond. The video game explosion. Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press.
- Woo, J.C. 2014. Digital game-based learning supports student motivation, cognitive success, and performance outcomes. *Educational Technology and Society*, 17(3):291-307.
- Wu, P.T., Wu, W.L. & Chu, I.H. 2015. Energy expenditure and intensity in healthy young adults during exergaming. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 39(4):557-561.
- Yau, H.K. 2015. Identify the motivational factors to affect the higher education students to learn using technology. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 14(2):89-100. http://www.tojet.net/articles/v14i2/14212.pdf.
- Zeng, N., Pope, Z., Eun, J. & Gao, Z. 2017. A systematic review of active video games on rehabilitative outcomes among older patients. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 6(1):33-43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2016.12.002.
- Zhang, T., Moore, W., Gu, X., Chu, T.L. & Gao, Z. 2016. Promoting children's physical activity in physical education: the role of active video gaming. *Journal of Teaching, Research, and Media in Kinesiology*, 1(1):1-13.

APPENDIX A: DATA COLLECTION TOOLS

Form 1: Research Consent Form



I ______ in my capacity as an individual give consent in principle to allow <u>Adele Braaf</u> a student at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology, to collect data as part of his/her M Tech (IT) research. The student has explained to me the nature of his/her research and the nature of the data to be collected.

This consent in no way commits any individual to participate in the research, and it is expected that the student will get explicit consent from any participants. I reserve the right to withdraw this permission at some future time.

In addition, the individuals name may or may not be used as indicated below. (Tick as appropriate.)

	Thesis	Conference paper	Journal article	Research poster
Yes	X			~
No		X	X	Χ

Signature

Name & Surname _____

Date____

Form 2: Participant Coding and Personal Information

PARTICIPANT CODING AND INFORMATION



Full Name				
Gender	Male	Female	Τ)	ick box where applicable)
Cell Number		-		
Email Address				
Age				

Alias	
Research Activity	
Date	

STEPS	
CHECK	INSTRUCTIONS
	Talk about the project
	Introduce the project, yourself and the goals of the study
	Talk about why you are doing this and what excites you about the project
	Explain what the participant can expect and what research activities you hope they will participate in
	Give the participant a description of the study to keep (document)
	Talk about the person
	Ask the participant if they have any questions or concerns
	Note down any that they have and answer their questions
	Talk about the process
Introduce the research activity	
--	
Explain any tools that you will be using	
Inform the participant of the approximate duration of the activity	
Restate that all activities are voluntary and that they are able to stop participating at any point during the session	
Talk about the protocol	
Introduce the ethics process and consent form	
Walk the participant through the form	
Note down any concerns and how you addressed them	

Would you agree to the following:	Yes	No
Being voice recorded during interviews?		
Being visually photographed before and during gameplay?		
Allow pictures taken in workshop to be published in thesis?		

Please note, all voice and video recordings, as well as pictures taken are solely for the

purpose of reflection and analysis from the researcher. None of these materials will be published or made available to the public and will be deleted on completion of analysis. If the researcher would like to use an image, you will be personally contacted to ask for permission to make use of said material. Should you not wish to have your picture used you may decline permission and the researcher will not make use of it.

Participant Signature

Form 3A: Interview Questions

Version 1

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Question 1	Were you engaged and/or immersed?
	At which points did you feel engaged / immersed?

What aspects about this activity engaged / immersed you most?
What aspects about this activity frustrated / put you off the most?

Question 2	What will make you want to play this game again?	
	What features would you like to see	
	added/removed?	
	What would you like to see more of/	
	less of?	
	Add	Remove

	How did you feel about the challenges in the game?	
Question 3	Do you feel as though you exercised after playing this AVG?	
	How much?	

	How little?
Question 4	Do you feel as though your needs as a gamer were met?

Thank you for your time!!!

Version 2

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Alias	
Date of interview	AVGS
Research Activity	

Question 1	Were you engaged and/or immersed? How did you feel?
	At which points did you feel engaged / immersed?

		-
ľ		
I		
ŀ	What aspects about this activity engaged / immersed you most?	
	What aspects about this activity frustrated / put you off the most?	
	What aspects about this activity indicated / put you on the most:	
ļ		
		1

Question 2	What will make you want to play this game again?
	What features would you like to see added/
	removed?

	What was your opinion about the challenges in the game?
Question 3	How did you feel playing alongside somebody?
	Would you prefer playing alone or with someone?
	How would you describe your relationship to the other participant?
Question 4	Did you at any point feel silly or uncomfortable
	playing

	Does how you look when playing bother you around another gamer?
	Why, or why not?
Question 5	Do you feel as though your needs as a gamer were
	met?

Thank you for your time!!!

Version 3

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Alias	
Date of interview	AVGS
Research Activity	

Question 1	Were you engaged and/or immersed? How did you feel?
	At which points did you feel engaged / immersed?

		-
ľ		
I		
ŀ	What aspects about this activity engaged / immersed you most?	
	What aspects about this activity frustrated / put you off the most?	
	What aspects about this activity indicated / put you on the most:	
ļ		
		1

Question 2	What will make you want to play this game again?
	What features would you like to see added/removed?
	What was your opinion about the challenges in the game?

Question 3	How did you feel playing alongside somebody?
	Would you prefer playing alone or with someone?
	How would you describe your relationship to the other participant?
Question 4	Did you at any point feel silly or uncomfortable
	playing

	Does how you look when playing bother you around another gamer?
	Why, or why not?
Question 5	Do you feel as though your needs as a gamer were
	met?
Question 6	What opinion do you hold concerning the avatars?

Thank you for your time!!!

Form 3B: Observation

OBSERVATION FORM

Alias	
Date of observation	AVGS
Research Activity	

This form is to be used in conjunction with the interview form. Take note of key aspects that you observe before and/or during the research activity. Indicate if you have asked the participant about something you have noted.

Pictures may be used to facilitate observations

	Total time played	
The Person	Take note of the level of engagement, emotions, reactions	CHECK
	to questions and body language	
The Environment	Take note of the context and setting	

The Dessered Teel	Take note of how the tool is interacted with	
The Research Tool	Take note of now the tool is interacted with	
The Desserator	Pohoviour and reflective practice	
Othor		

Form 4: Memo

МЕМО

Research Activity

Research Activity

Date



TITLE/NA	Memo		
ME	Date		

Participants/Alia	ses	
referred to:		

PURPOSE OF						
MEMO						
Observation		Fuent		Theory		
Observation	Ľ	Eveni		Implication	on	
Data Comparison	ld	ea		Other		



KEY	7	
POINTS		
	•	

WII FIT PLUS

Welcome to Wii Fit Plus. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise.

Note: No jumping on the Wii-Fit Board! Please remove your socks.

- 1. Select an avatar
- 2. Follow onscreen prompts
- 3. Select "Training" option
- 4. Select your Trainer
- 5. Select your workout
- 6. Repeat your workout or select one other workout
- 7. On completion, report for your post-game interview

Thank you for participating!!!

Figure F5.1: Wii Fit Plus instructions

POKEMON GO Welcome to Pokemon Go. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise. If you already have Pokemon Go installed on your device, you may continue with the instructions. If you do not have Pokemon Go installed, please proceed to do so. This will be a 20 minute exercise. Utilise this time to do most of your exploring. 1. Create your avatar 2. Take a walk around the building (1 - 2km preferable) 3. If a Pokemon pops up on your radar, attempt to capture it 4. Note how many Pokemon you were able to catch during this time 5. If you are in the position of a Poke-egg, attempt to hatch it by walking the required distance 6. Try to obtain a training medal 7. On completion of these objectives, report back for your post-game interview Thank you for participating!!! Figure F5.2: Pokémon Go instructions

WII TRAUMA CENTRE

Welcome to Wii Trauma Centre. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise.

Please make use of the Wii-remote and nunchucks.

- 1. Select "New Game"
- 2. Select your preferred level of difficulty
- 3. Select the "Guest" account
- 4. Watch the cinematic
- 5. Select "T1" for the tutorial
- 6. Select "T2"
- 7. Complete level 1-1 "In a Remote Town"
- 8. Choose the surgeon you would like to play with
- 9. On completion of the game, report back for your interview

Thank you for participating!!!

FigureF5.3: Wii Trauma Centre instructions

WII-FIT: SHAUN WHITE

Welcome to Wii-Fit Shaun White. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise.

Note: No jumping on the Wii-Fit Board! Please remove your socks.

- 1. Select your Wii avatar
- 2. Select Single-Player mode
- 3. Riding Controls: Select the balance board and controller
- 4. Stay off the board and Press "A" button
- 5. Step on board once it is initialized (You may change your board sensitivity)
- 6. Follow onscreen prompts
- 7. Go to Map
- 8. Play Race
- 9. Repeat race if you like x 2
- 10. Attempt next challenge x 2
- 11. On completion, please report for your post-game interview

Thank you for participating!!!

FigureF5.4: Wii Fit Shaun White instructions

WII MARIO AND SONIC 2012 LONDON OLYMPICS

Welcome to Wii Mario and Sonic 2012 London Olympics. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise.

Please make use of the Wii-remote and nun-chucks for this exercise.

- 1. Select the "Guest" profile
- 2. Select the "Single Match" option
- 3. Choose an event you would like to play
- 4. Select "One Player"
- 5. Choose a character or Mij avatar to play with

Please note: Depending on the event selected, you may have to select multiple characters for your team.

- 6. Follow the onscreen instructions and rules
- 7. Go to controls and familiarise yourself with the settings
- 8. Start the event activity
- 9. Repeat the event if you like or select a new event

You may partake in a maximum of 3 rounds, either repeated or new events

10. Upon completion, report for your interview

Thank you for participating!!!

FigureF5.5: Wii Mario and Sonic instructions

PLAYSTATION 4 RABBIDS

Welcome to PlayStation4 Rabbids. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise.

Please note, this game should be played in pairs.

- 1. Position your body to fit the camera
- 2. Select the start button
- 3. Press Enter "X"
- 4. Select "Sticky Rabbit" gameplay block
- 5. Follow the onscreen instructions until the chapter is complete
- 6. On completion, report back for your interview

Thank you for participating!!!

FigureF5.6: PlayStation 4 Rabbids instructions

XBOX KINECT DANCE CENTRAL 3

Welcome to XBox Kinect Dance Central 3. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise.

- 1. Select "Main Menu"
- Select the "Dance" option
- 3. Select "Perform"
- Pick a song from the list The further down the song list you go, the more complicated the dance moves are
- 5. Select your preferred level of difficulty
- 6. Change your dancer
 - a. Select a character
 - b. Choose their style
- 7. Change the venue
- 8. Select "Start"
- 9. Follow the onscreen prompts on the right hand side of the screen
- 10. You may repeat the song or you may select a new song
 - You may complete a maximum of 3 rounds in total
- 11. Upon completion, report back for your interview

Thank you for participating!!!

FigureF5.7: XBox Kinect Dance Central 3 instructions

XBOX KINECT DRAGONBALL Z Welcome to XBox Kinect Dragonball Z. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise. 1. Raise your hand to the sensor block on the Main Menu 2. Select the Guest account 3. Select the Memory Unit (not cloud storage) 4. Do NOT select the "Save Data" 5. Select "Story Mode"

- 6. Select the tutorial
- 7. Complete the first tutorial
- You may complete all tutorials, however this is not necessary. At any time feel free to opt out of the tutorial to continue
- 8. Select the "Saiyan Saga Story"
- 9. Select the "Raditz Saga"
- 10. Follow the onscreen instructions
 - You may skip the cinematic if you wish. To do this, raise your right hand until the dial ring completes
- 11. Defeat your opponent
- Follow the onscreen prompt where appropriate
- 12. Upon completion, please report for your interview

Thank you for participating!!!

FigureF5.8: XBox Kinect Dragon Ball Z instructions

XBOX KINECT ADVENTURES

Welcome to Xbox Kinect Adventures. Please complete the following list of instructions and report for an interview on completion. Kindly note that you may withdraw from participation at any point during this exercise.

- 1. Select the "Start" button
- 2. Follow and read the onscreen instructions
- 3. Select "Free Play"
- 4. Select any activity of your choice
- 5. Select the stage you would like to play in
- 6. Follow onscreen instructions and play the round

Collect as many coins as possible throughout the activity

Once complete, you may repeat this level or you may continue to the next stage

You may either repeat or continue for a maximum of 3 rounds in total

- 8. You may also choose to do a new activity instead of repeating the same event
- 9. On completion, report back for your interview

Thank you for participating!!!

FigureF5.9: XBox Kinect Adventures instructions

Form 6: Pre-Test Evaluation

PRE-TEST EVALUATION



Participant's Alias

Date	

Question 1	How would you rate your current level of physical fitness?				
	Unfit / Inactive				
	Moderately Fit				
	Fit				
	Super Active]			

Question 2	How would you classif	as a gamer?	
	Non-Gamer		
	Casual Gamer		
	Gamer (Regular)		
	Hardcore Gamer		

Question 3	What do you particularly look for when choosing to play an AVG?				
	Fun				
	Learning				
	Exercise				
	Competition				
	Distraction				
	Pleasure				
	Other				

Question 4	How are you feeling?
l	





A GROUNDED THEORY FOR ACTIVE VIDEO GAME DESIGN TO PROMOTE GAMER ENGAGEMENT AND IMMERSION

Participant Briefing

The purpose of this study is to develop a theory concerning future design for active video games (AVGs). Through the use of existing gameplay consoles and AVGs, you will be participating by playing a number of selected games and noting certain aspects of the game that appeals to your immersive and engaged state.

The workshop will involve physical activity from your part as well as interviews and observations from the researcher. You will need to consent to the requested permissions of the researcher; however, you may decline and not participate in this study. All your information will be treated confidentially and you will be given an alias name as a reference for your inputs. You will need to complete an indemnity form stating that you will take responsibility for yourself throughout the workshop.

Whilst participating in the research activities, please take note of what you are experiencing, in order to be aligned to the purpose of this study.

Thank you for your time and efforts. I hope you enjoy yourself.

CPUT IT Masters Student: Adele Braaf, 211241369

APPENDIX B: DATA COLLECTION PERMISSION AND APPROVAL

Permission to collect data on CPUT Cape Town Campus



MTech (IT) Research Process for Conducting Data Collection Workshop

Adele Braaf 211241369

Supervisors:

Mr Jay Barnes	barnesj@cput.ac.za
Mrs Vikki Du Preez	dupreezv@cput.ac.za

To whom it may concern: please find attached a detailed process explaining how the workshops will take place and an estimate of how much time will be required.

Purpose:

The purpose of this workshop is to collect data for my research project through the use of active video game consoles.

Session time estimate:

Each session will have an estimated duration of 60 minutes. Two participants will take part at a single time. In this time, each individual will get a chance to play 3 games respectively. And then have one multiplayer game, where they will play against or alongside each other. After their session, they will proceed to their individual interview and then a joint interview between both participants.

Duration of entire workshop:

Due to the nature of the study (grounded theory) there cannot be an estimated duration. Therefore, a block booking request for usage of the Engineering rooms (2.25, 2.26 & 2.24) have been made from 16th January - 30th April 2017.

Please note, the actual room bookings will be made in advance before hosting a workshop. Therefore, these rooms will not be fully booked for the entire duration, but only during times needed (advanced noticed will be given).Participants will be given a date and a 1-hour timeslot to conduct their workshop; however, not every day between the time range will be used. It has been requested for Saturdays to be made available to accommodate participants who work during the week.



Granted Permission by CPUT Cape Town Security Manager

APPENDIX C: PARTICIPANT PROFILES

Table C1: Participant profile description

Alias	Gender	Age	Medical Condition	Fitness Level	Type of Gamer	Needs	Activity
Peach	Female	18	None	Moderately Fit	Casual Gamer	Fun Competition Pleasure	Nintendo Wii
Pear	Female	18	None	Moderately Fit	Casual Gamer	Fun Distraction Pleasure	Nintendo Wii
Pineapple55	Female	24	None	Unfit/Inactive	Casual Gamer	Learning	Xbox Kinect
ICARUS	Male	24	None	Super Active	Gamer (Regular)	Fun Competition Distraction	Xbox Kinect
Fiki	Male	26	None	Moderately Fit	Gamer (Regular)	Fun Learning Pleasure	Xbox Kinect
Lenboxs	Male	30	None	Unfit/Inactive	Hardcore Gamer	Fun Pleasure	Xbox Kinect
John	Male	22	None	Fit	Casual Gamer	Fun Competition Distraction Pleasure Excitement Fast Paced	Mobile

Alias	Gender	Age	Medical Condition	Fitness Level	Type of Gamer	Needs	Activity
2Awesome	Male	25	None	Fit	Hardcore Gamer	Fun Competition	PlayStation 4
Toefm	Male	26	None	Fit	Hardcore Gamer	Competition	PlayStation 4
JuniorKidd	Male	25	None	Fit	Gamer (Regular)	Competition Pleasure	PlayStation 4

APPENDIX D: CENSORED PARTICIPANT PROFILES

PEACH

PARTICIPANT CODING AND INFORMATION

12

		4
ull Name		
Sender	Male Female (Tick box where applicable)	
Cell Number		
Email Address		
Age	17	
Age	17	
Alias	Peach	
Research Activity	(console) しいい	
-	25 1-1 12.17	

Medical Conditions	Yes	No V	
If yes, specify			

STEPS							
CHECK	INSTRUCTIONS						
~	Talk about the project						
-	Introduce the project, yourself and the goals of the study						
/	Talk about why you are doing this and what excites you about the project						
-	Explain what the participant can expect and what research activities you hope they will perticipate in						
~	Give the participant a description of the study to keep (document)						
	Talk about the person Ask the participnt if they have any questions or concerns Note down any that they have and answer their questions None Only None Only Interested In Note Only						
	dar mu ar bunding.						

Talk about the process Introduce the research activity Explain any tools that you will be using Inform the participant of the aproximate duration of the activity Restate that all activities are voluntary and that they are able to stop participating at any point during the session
Talk about the protocol Introduce the ethics process and consent form. Walk the participant through the form Note down any concerns and how you addressed them No problems with britehys. Uncleased the process.

Would you agree to the following:	Yes	No
Being voice recorded during interviews?		
Being visually photographed before and during gameplay?		/

Participant Signature

Cape Peninsula University of Technology

Introductory letter for the collection of research data

<u>Adele Braaf</u> is registered for the M Tech (IT) degree at CPUT <u>211241369</u>. The thesis is titled "A grounded theory for active video game design to promote gamer engagement and immersion" and aims to produce a theory for in-game design factors that will enhance engagement and immersion in active video games. The supervisor(s) for this research is/are:

Mr Jay Barnes barnesj@cput.ac.za

Ms Vikki Du Preez dupreezv@cput.ac.za

In order to meet the requirements of the university's Higher Degrees Committee (HDC) the student must get consent to collect data from individuals which they have identified as potential sources of data. In this case the student will use <u>interviews and participatory</u> <u>workshops</u> to gather data.

If you agree to this, you are requested to complete the attached form (an electronic version will be made available to you if you so desire).

For further clarification on this matter please contact either the supervisor(s) identified above, or the Faculty Research Ethics Committee secretary (Ms V Naidoo) at 021 469 1012 or naidoove@cput.ac.za.

Yours sincerely

Mr Jay Barnes

13 January 2017
I ______ in my capacity as an individual, give consent in principle to allow <u>Adele Braaf</u> a student at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology, to collect data as part of his/her M Tech (IT) research. The student has explained to me the nature of his/her research and the nature of the data to be collected.

This consent in no way commits any individual to participate in the research, and it is expected that the student will get explicit consent from any participants. I reserve the right to withdraw this permission at some future time.

In addition, the individuals name may or may not be used as indicated below. (Tick as appropriate.)

	Thesis	Conference Paper	Journal article	Research poster
YES	Х		Х	
NO		X		Х
Signature Name & Surname		lucl ·	Date 2	5/01/17

articipants	Alias	Peach				
Date	25/01/2	017		1		
				-		
Question 1	How would you r	ate your c	urrent leve	l of physical fit	tness?	
	Unfit / Inactive		1.11			
	Moderately Fit		V			
	Fit					
	Super Active					
Question 2	How would you	classify you	irself as a	amer?		
	Non-Gamer					
	Casual Gamer		V	-		
	Gamer (Regular)	-	-	-		
	Hardcore Gamer					
					1	
Question 3	What do you pa	rticularly io	ook for wh	in choosing to p	play an AVG	
	Fun	~	4			
	Evarrisa	-	1			
	Competition	17	1			
	Distraction	· ·	1			
	Pleasure	1	1			
	Other					

	Peach
te of in	terview 25 - 01 - 2017
search	Artivity Will Fix / Some , Marie / Shain Wille AUGE Sich Da
ac un cont	
estion	1 Were you engaged and/or immersed? / How did you feel?
	At which points did you feel engaged/immersed?
	Very creited a evenicity for ques
	Lack of instructions at beginning of
	encri gare
	What aspects about this activity engaged/immersed you most?
	Mug & Gos PU Hers is it gave
	· Grad montanent to bread
	you housed
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most?
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Sence: Didn't have on Ophon to go back diving
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Servic: Didn't have on ophon to go back drings the round: S.W. Didn't lince verbal instructions = weight M.
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Senic: Didn't have on ophon to go body diving the round: S.W. Didn't live verbal instructions = weight M.
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Senic: Didn't have on Ophon N go back diving the round: S.W: Didn't live verbal insmichans = white M.
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Senic: Didn't have on ophon to go bode diving the round: S.W: Didn't live verbal instructions = weight M.
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Servic: Didn't have on Ophon N go body during the round: S.W: Didn't live verbal instructions = work M.
uestion	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Senic: Didn't have on Ophon N go back diving fre round: S. W: Didn't live verbal instructions = weight V. 2 What will make you want to play this game again?
uestion	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most? Servic: Didn't have on Ophon N go bode diving Re round: C.W: Didn't live verbal insmichans = work M. 2 What will make you want to play this game again? With the plus: more from options to play.

Ŀ	
P P	What features would you like to see added/removed?
- F	by deven Currents Webrubes
- F	10 BENELI MIN Prody movement (mod)
t	Nothing to remare
t	
-	
	How did you feel about the challenges in the same?
t	It wasn't too difficult - like it.
	Now can have him most of the time instead of anythe to heart when
	you're supposed to do.
Question 3	What would you like to see more of?
	Cirecter variety of gones.
1	Invoduce new gones from other C-Itm
	real life achuiches.
Ouestion 4	What would you like to see less of?
Mare Hunter of	SHAUN WHITE
	Cive tess insmichans. Cive sublittes
	as entrare can bund comment torsails.
Question 5	Do you feel as though your needs as a gamer were met?

heal	my competition.	
Like	competing in games	

Thank you for your time!!!

T.c.	C 230	
16	ere	

OBSERVATION FORM

Alias	Perch .	
Date of observation	25/01/2017	
Research Activity	wi	AVGS

This form is to be used in conjunction with the interview form. Take note of key aspects that you observe before and/or during the research activity. Indicate if you have asked the participant about something you have noted.

Pictures may be used to facillitate observations

Take note of the level of engagement, emotions, reactions to questions and body language	CHECK
selected beginner.	
Take note of the context and setting Selected a balance " occur	
	Take note of the level of engagement, emotions, reactions to questions and body language Succeed beginner. Take note of the context and setting Selected a botance " gene

he Research Tool	Take note of how the tool is interacted with
The Researcher	Behaviour and reflective practice Looks excited lengaged frepping
Mone t Sonic	- Re-enacts a size. - Re-enacts a size. - Doesn't conform to selecting an event some ore else suggests - down on knees her Eshooting gove before see begins. - Missed be shooting target. - Vey bocused and round.
Other	

		Weino Date		_	
		Participants to:	referred	Rea	cm
esearch Activity esearch Activity Date	Wii 25 - 01 -	2017	ł		
	1				
JRPOSE OF MEMO	Li Z Event	_	Theory In	alication	
Data Comparison			Other	T	
- Loto os - Loto os - Loto os - Loto os - Liked One - Liked One - Selects With Att on - Selects Warto t Soni - Remarks Mario t Soni - Remarks Mario t Soni - Remarks Mario t Soni - Remarks Mario t Soni - Vey it - Nous - Vey it - Nous - Vey it - Nous - Vey it - Stonce - Vey it - Nous - Vey it - Nous - Vey it - Nous - Vey it - Stonce - Vey it - Stonce - Sto	Anount and verbal con PP4 when i to be to floppin des well about ci in place nto be me feet + in animated toal chu game in place toal chu game in place place to place to be to	internation inter	n da Ano Baren Baren Iner L Feedya icinia icinia icinia bocic coupi coupi	e r e r i so i so i so i so i so i so i so i so	positive). Alter boing Arter boing Arter boing Arter boing arent in ge arent in ge arent in ge arent in ge

SHAUN WHITE: > Excined about snowboarding . Starting . Starting - No facial expression at start of gove ! round. - Little body movement. - Vous quiet. - Adjusts well to board. - No change in facial expression for achieving mini ingone goal. - very animated / happy expression / verbal ar succeeding normal. - Chose to progress to rew rand - Navigores menu well. - Initrates character body language during cinematic. - Verbal comments about failing inspace. - Very tocused (and). - Mas good cannol of both handlerd remote + bood. - Mini - impressed or ainning

ITLE/NAME Sug	bane	Memo Date	125	e i	26-51
		Participant	referred	Versel	
		to:	183938304	fina	
esearch Activity	wii		Г		
esearch Activity Date]		
URPOSE OF MEMO	1				
Observation	Eve	nt	Theory In	plication	
Jata Comparison	Ide	a	Other		
- Accidente - Lauguing - Peach - Very Bit - Not execu- - Lougues	ni contrac Smithy Huisti b Hi Sall (s	n bener.	and a	donie donie	Ent.
- Accidente - Longuing - Peach - Very Pri - Not execu- - Longuing - Longuing - Longuing - Not execu- - Longuing - Not execu- - Rowsing - Rowsing	1 contrac Smithing Hight b Hight b Hig	x bener constrating integrota pl integrota pl integrota (menger (menger (menger to sitt	r portes	donie donie ust (1 S	icaen)
- Accidentes - Longving - Peach - Very Pit - Not execu- - Longving - Not execu- - Longving - Not execu- - Browsing - Browsing - Browsing - Browsing - Browsing - Read Son - Dat doi - Genting in - Singt with	1 contrac Smithing Hungal b Hungal b Hungal b Hungal b Fapiding David buil avid buil	 bener. constructing independent pl <li< td=""><td>song vyng song vyng venens courss courss</td><td>donie donie Licst (1 S Lico nd in</td><td>icach) d mact mein</td></li<>	song vyng song vyng venens courss courss	donie donie Licst (1 S Lico nd in	icach) d mact mein
- Accidentes - Languing - Peach - Veny Pill - Not execu- - Languing - Not execu- - Reach - Browsing - Reach - Dat doi - Genting - Rull Lody - Reach - R	1 contrac Smilling Hulsell b Hulsell b H	Local mo	eneris eneris eneris eneris	donie donie (1 S nd no S na Na	cone Cone) d mart mer-
- Accidentes - Laugura - Peach - Very Pri - Not execu- - Laugura - Not execu- - Laugura - Not execu- - Browsing - Robert Co- - Reach -	1 contrac Smithing Million b Million	 bener. constrainty constrainty<!--</td--><td>sony r print r phi r print r phi r print r phi r phi r</td><td>interiorita interi</td><td>d lineat mering accurrents</td>	sony r print r phi r print r phi r print r phi r	interiorita interi	d lineat mering accurrents
- Accidente - Languing - Pearth - Very Pri - Not exect - Not exect - Not exect - Not exect - Rowsing - Rowsin	1 contrac Smithy Hubble of Hubble of Hub	 bener. consulty. consulty. index p index p	pertin orying orying orying song i song i so	ipanis donie (St. (1 St. (1 St. (1 St. (1 St. (1) St.	d mout mering
- Accidentes - Languing - Peach - Very Pri - Very Pri - Not execu- - Lewing - Verbal co - Browsing - Peach - Browsing - Reach - Reach	1 contrac Smithy Hight b Hight b Hi	Local mon Local mon	song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving ving song ving ving song ving ving song ving ving song ving ving song ving ving song ving ving song ving ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song ving song song song ving song song ving song	donie donie icit (1 5 icit (1) 5 icit (1) 5 i 5 i 5 i 5 i 5 i 5 i 5 i 5 i 1 1 1 1	Cach) d mait mering mait mering

PARTICIPANT CODING AND INFORMATION



Full Name			
Gender	Male	Female	(Tick box where applicable)
Cell Number	-	0.0	
Email Address			
Age	17		-

Ilias Perr			
Research Activity	(console) White		
Date	25 101 / 2017		

Medical Conditions	Yes	No レ	
If yes, specify			

INSTRUCTIONS out the project			
out the project			
ce the project, yourself and the goals of the study			
Talk about why you are doing this and what excites you about the project			
what the participant can expect and what research activities you hope Il perticipate in			
e participant a description of the study to keep (document)			
participnt if they have any questions or concerns own any that they have and answer their questions			
214			

Talk about the process Introduce the research activity Explain any tools that you will be using Inform the participant of the aproximate duration of the activity Restate that all activities are voluntary and that they are able to stop participating at any point during the session
Talk about the protocol Introduce the ethics process and consent form. Walk the participant through the form Note down any concerns and how you addressed them

Would you agree to the following:	Yes	No
Being valce recorded during interviews?	/	
Deing signally photographical before and during gameploy?		10-

Participant Signature

ga.



Introductory letter for the collection of research data

Adele Braaf is registered for the M Tech (IT) degree at CPUT <u>211241369</u> The thesis is titled "A grounded theory for active video game design to promote gamer engagement and immersion" and aims to produce a theory for in-game design factors that will enhance engagement and immersion in active video games. The supervisor(s) for this research is/are.

Mr Jay Barnes barnesj@cput ac za

Ms Vikki Du Preez dupreezv@cput.ac.za

In order to meet the requirements of the university's Higher Degrees Gemmittee (HDG) the student must get consent to collect data from individuals which they have identified as potential sources of data. In this case the student will use <u>interviews and participatory</u> <u>workshops</u> to gather data.

If you agree to this, you are requested to complete the attached form (an electronic version will be made available to you if you so desire).

For further clarification on this matter please contact either the supervisor(s) identified above, or the Faculty Research Ethics Committee secretary (Ms V Naidoo) at 021 469 1012 or <u>naidoove@cput ac za</u>.

Yours sincerely

Mr Jay Barnes

13 January 2017

I ________ in my capacity as an individual, give consent in principle to allow <u>Adele Braaf</u> a student at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology, to collect data as part of his/her M Tech (IT) research. The student has explained to me the nature of his/her research and the nature of the data to be collected.

This consent in no way commits any individual to participate in the research, and it is expected that the student will get explicit consent from any participants. I reserve the right to withdraw this permission at some future time.

In addition, the individuals name may or may not be used as indicated below. (Tick as appropriate.)

	Thesis	Conference Paper	Journal article	Research poster
YES	X		X	
NO		X		X

Signature

Name & Surname

Date _ 25 /01/17

Date						
vate	25 Jan 20	117				AVG
Question 1 H	low would you	u rate vou	current level of	obucical fitness	.)	-
U	Infit / Inactive	riote Jour	Current rever or p	proyactar intiness	AT	1
0	Aoderately Fit					
r	it					
IS	uper Active					
L						
Question 2	low would yo	u classify y	ourself as a game	ar?		
F	Non-Gamer					
0	Casual Gamer		~			
0	Samer (Regula	r)				
8	Hardcore Game	er				
Question 3	What do you p	articularly	look for when che	oosing to play a	an AVG?	
L.	Fun	~				
<u> </u>	Learning	_				
	Exercise					
4	Competition		_			
1	Distraction	1				
	Pleasure	~	1			r:
1	Other	_				
						1
		and in sinks	at the set of the			

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

2017

AVGS

Alias

Date of interview 35 - 01 -

Peel

Research Activity 📖

	At which points did you feel engaged/immersed?
	to seconds in
	Lost immersion ther losing.
	Realism in goves
	What aspects alread this activity engaged/immerced you mad? S.W. Lited the Shows service
	Lined be voice insuchers. Lined be visual quicks orscreen fueltional for som op, hubby of m
	as you make on the board, you see
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most?
	Dichit like (ie non- Feilistic part of the volleyball
Question	2 What will make you want to play this game again?
	the course of the course control bones
	Now will play a gail i had the

v	Vhat features would you like to see added/removed?
Ē	Take the fakeness out. Bet basic rules and insuctions accurrate would note you want to
	pray
	How did you feel about the challenges in the game? It was very challenging and made you want to win Shill want to feel be challenge, but enough to go to the new Rivel.
estion 3	What would you like to see more of? Mare options Customize options More vortens to gave events t what you can do in an event.
estion 4	What would you like to see less of?

Didn't 1	ree1	pleased	١	
Influenced	64	'how	11	appears,
	3			

Thank you for your time!!!

M	emo Date	25	61	2017.
Pa to:	rticipants r	eferred	Pear	م
1.200				
		-		
Event	1	Theory Imp	lication	0
dea		Other		
insuci insuci increa	di com esponse di com di co	11. icipant icipant n the nevils 2 inter 2 inter icit man icit man	in win about n vier n vier perfo perfo racler.	the board : in why arin event : event : miny sound miny sound "Tails"
THE REAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF ADDRES	it each it each ibout H whet ho whet ho whe	the can avoit 11. 11. 11. 10. 11. 10. 10. 10.	there are avoider the the the each avoider the the the each avoider the the the each avoider the controls: whethe do on 1st r and winning. the avoid in gone for the each avoid in gone for the each avoid in the each avoid in the each avoid in the each avoid avoid the each avoid t	at each avoiter Characler. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 11. 1

Monio , Sonic : - shows mistration when moves go wrong. - Marces comments about opponents "taunt stances" when they win. - Shalony head in homelon. (very mild Austanian) - Steps forward + back in a racking motion. Lo very engaged. - Quite happy regardless of And Score. (1035). > SHAUN WHITE : - Preny good or balancing board. - Doesn't show much expression - Not sure about vertical inspire instructions. - Very boused - Doesn't show much entrusion after round completion. - Not much movement. - very boursed - Adjusted well to with bookd. . No facial expression - very a hoppy + verbal (a) himing normal - Follows instructions ingone nell; noviades norm hell. - Selected new match hand indeal of report old. - Brain, mous well with board.

OB	SERV	ATION	FORM
----	------	-------	------

Alias	Perst	
Date of observation	25-01-2017	
Research Activity	W.a	AVO

This form is to be used in conjunction with the interview form. Take note of key aspects that you observe before and/or during the research activity. Indicate if you have asked the participant about something you have noted.

Pictures may be used to facillitate observations

The Person	Take note of the level of engagement, emotions, reactions to questions and body language	CHECK
	very willy to sport - Thes alt new moves well.	
The Environment	Take note of the context and setting Will Fit : Showboard ing + Skaining.	
Mario + Sonic	worked the inhaduction move.	
SHAUN WHITE.	* Quilet + empty clear environment. Spacious. > Adjusts well to be gone.	

he Research Tool	Take note of how the tool is interacted with
	Served "checolicle", and with
he Researcher With Fit	Behaviour and reflective practice - Shows excitement. . Shows some shock I disbelief
Monio t Senic	- Continued about which betters to use - Very focused + concentrated. - Shows expression during speciel /power atracks. - Not much physical motoralt required for de gone.
Other - Prefered round u	to play some gene alternating each with other participant.

MEMO						
TITLE/NAME Just	Dance		Memo Date	25	01	2017
Research Activity	NO.		Participants ı to:	referred	Pear	,
Research Activity Date						
PURPOSE OF MEMO		Event		Th	-1	
Data Comparison		Idea		Other	plication	
- Languing - Peach Je - Veny ent - Not execut - Not execut - Langhing - Verbal con - Browsing - Peach Long - And Song - And Song - Not doin - Gerling ma - Sust wo hill body - Peach Fe - Both quin - Low energy	Smilly used rapid ants ant	cons brough the m (1015) 14 to 10 to 11 both 11 both 11 both 1	dy more plaint	vents ents ents bod smillin	donce ist (Pe i tirco i tirco i tirco	each).
- Feet aren - Ettru St	t inou	ined	give m	otivaia	on h	plas

KEY POINTS

190

PARTICIPANT CODING AND INFORMATION



Full Name							
Gender	Male Y Female (Tick box where applicable)						
Cell Number							
Email Address	-						
Age	25						

Alias	JUNIOR KIDD				
Research Activity	PlayStation 4				
Date	18 February 2017				

Medical Conditions	Yes	No 🦟	
If yes, specify			

STEPS							
CHECK	INSTRUCTIONS						
	Talk about the project						
	Introduce the project, yourself and the goals of the study						
	Talk about why you are doing this and what excites you about the project						
	Explain what the participant can expect and what research activities you hope they will perticipate in						
	Give the participant a description of the study to keep (document)						
	Talk about the person						
	Ask the participnt if they have any questions or concerns						
	Note down any that they have and answer their questions						
1							

Talk about the process Introduce the research activity Explain any tools that you will be using Inform the participant of the aproximate duration of the activity Restate that all activities are voluntary and that they are able to stop participating at any point during the session
Talk about the protocol Introduce the ethics process and consent form. Walk the participant through the form Note down any concerns and how you addressed them

Would you agree to the following:	Yes	No
Being voice recorded during interviews?	1	
Being visually photographed before and during gameplay?	1	_
Allow pictures taken in workshop to be published in thesis	5	

Please note, all voice and video recordings, as well as pictures taken are solely for the purpose of reflection and analysis from the researcher. None of these materials will be published or made available to the public and will be deleted on completion of analysis. If the researcher would like to use an image, you will be personally contacted to ask for permission to make use of said material. Should you not wish to have your picture used you may decline permission and the researcher will not make use of it.

Participant Signature

tin

PRE-	TEST E	ALL	JATIC	DN		
						1
Participants	s Alias	Junice	0000			AVCE
Date	18 Februar	y 301	7			AVUS
Question 1	How would you	rate your c	urrent level	of physical fit	ness?	
	Unfit / Inactive					
	Moderately Fit					
	Fit		~			
	Super Active					
				•		
Question 2	How would you	classify you	urself as a g	amer?		
	Non-Gamer					
	Casual Gamer					
	Gamer (Regular))	\checkmark			
	Hardcore Game	r				
Question 3	What do you pa	articularly lo	ook for whe	n choosing to p	olay an AVG?	
	Fun					
	Learning					
	Exercise					
	Competition	~				
	Distraction		_			
	Pleasure	~				
	Other					
						7
Question 4	4 How are you fe	eling right r	now?			-
	FILMUR Y					_
			-			

Cape Peninsula University of Technology

Introductory letter for the collection of research data

<u>Adele Braaf</u> is registered for the M Tech (IT) degree at CPUT <u>211241369</u>. The thesis is titled <u>"A grounded theory for active video game design to promote gamer engagement and immersion</u>" and aims to <u>produce a theory for in-game design factors that will enhance</u> <u>engagement and immersion in active video games.</u> The supervisor(s) for this research is/are:

Mr Jay Barnes barnesj@cput.ac.za

Ms Vikki Du Preez dupreezv@cput.ac.za

In order to meet the requirements of the university's Higher Degrees Committee (HDC) the student must get consent to collect data from individuals which they have identified as potential sources of data. In this case the student will use <u>interviews and participatory</u> workshops to gather data.

If you agree to this, you are requested to complete the attached form (an electronic version will be made available to you if you so desire).

For further clarification on this matter please contact either the supervisor(s) identified above, or the Faculty Research Ethics Committee secretary (Ms V Naidoo) at 021 469 1012 or naidoove@cput.ac.za.

Yours sincerely

Mr Jay Barnes

13 January 2017

I ________ in my capacity as an individual, give consent in principle to allow <u>Adele Braaf</u> a student at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology, to collect data as part of his/her M Tech (IT) research. The student has explained to me the nature of his/her research and the nature of the data to be collected.

This consent in no way commits any individual to participate in the research, and it is expected that the student will get explicit consent from any participants. I reserve the right to withdraw this permission at some future time.

In addition, the individuals name may or may not be used as indicated below. (Tick as appropriate.)

	Thesis	Conference Paper	Journal article	Research poster
YES	X		X	
NO		X		X
Signature Name & Surname		blentine	Date	5 02 2017

2AWESOME

PARTICIPANT CODING AND INFORMATION				
Full Name	AVGS			
Gender	Male Female (Tick box where applicable)			
Cell Number				
Email Address	^·			
Age	25			
Alias	2 AWESOME			
Research Activity	Play Section 4			
Date	18 Februring 2017			

Medical Conditions	Yes	No X	
If yes, specify			

STEPS			
CHECK	INSTRUCTIONS		
	Talk about the project		
	Introduce the project, yourself and the goals of the study		
	Talk about why you are doing this and what excites you about the project		
	Explain what the participant can expect and what research activities you hope		
	Give the participant a description of the study to been (down or)		
	Talk about the participant a description of the study to keep (document)		
	Ask the participht if they have any questions or concerns		
	Note down any that they have and answer their questions		
1			

PRE-	Alias	ALUATI	ON		
			_		AVGS
Date	18 February	2017			
Question 1	How would you rate	vour current lov	ol of physical f	itnoss?	
Question 1	Unfit / Inactive			ittless:	
	Moderately Fit		-		
	Fit		-		
	Super Active		-		
	Super Active				
Question 2	How would you clas	sify yourself as a	gamer?		
	Non-Gamer				
	Casual Gamer				
	Gamer (Regular)				
	Hardcore Gamer		1		
Question 3	What do you particeFunLearningExerciseCompetition	ularly look for wh	en choosing to	play an AVG?	
	Distraction				
	Pleasure				
	Other				
Question 4	How are you feeling HAFFY, WELL F	; right now? 2€≤7とΩ			



Introductory letter for the collection of research data

<u>Adele Braaf</u> is registered for the M Tech (IT) degree at CPUT <u>211241369</u>. The thesis is titled "<u>A grounded theory for active video game design to promote gamer engagement and immersion</u>" and aims to <u>produce a theory for in-game design factors that will enhance engagement and immersion in active video games.</u> The supervisor(s) for this research is/are:

Mr Jay Barnes barnesj@cput.ac.za

Ms Vikki Du Preez dupreezv@cput.ac.za

In order to meet the requirements of the university's Higher Degrees Committee (HDC) the student must get consent to collect data from individuals which they have identified as potential sources of data. In this case the student will use <u>interviews and participatory</u> workshops to gather data.

If you agree to this, you are requested to complete the attached form (an electronic version will be made available to you if you so desire).

For further clarification on this matter please contact either the supervisor(s) identified above, or the Faculty Research Ethics Committee secretary (Ms V Naidoo) at 021 469 1012 or <u>naidoove@cput.ac.za.</u>

Yours sincerely

Mr Jay Barnes

13 January 2017

I _______ in my capacity as an individual, give consent in principle to allow <u>Adele Braaf</u> a student at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology, to collect data as part of his/her M Tech (IT) research. The student has explained to me the nature of his/her research and the nature of the data to be collected.

This consent in no way commits any individual to participate in the research, and it is expected that the student will get explicit consent from any participants. I reserve the right to withdraw this permission at some future time.

In addition, the individuals name may or may not be used as indicated below. (Tick as appropriate.)

	Thesis	Conference Paper	Journal article	Research poster
YES	X		X	
NO		X		X

Signature

Name & Surname

Lity

Date 18/02/2017.

PARTICIPANT CODING AND INFORMATION



Full Name	North New York
Gender	Male Female (Tick box where applicable)
Cell Number	
Email Address	
Age	26

Alias	TCEFM		
Research Activity	PlaySinnan 4		
Date	18 February 2017		

Medical Conditions	Yes	No
If yes, specify		

STEPS			
CHECK	INSTRUCTIONS		
	Talk about the project		
	Introduce the project, yourself and the goals of the study		
	Talk about why you are doing this and what excites you about the project		
	Explain what the participant can expect and what research activities you hope		
	they will perticipate in		
	Give the participant a description of the study to keep (document)		
	Talk about the person		
	Ask the participnt if they have any questions or concerns		
	Note down any that they have and answer their questions		

Talk about the process
Introduce the research activity
Explain any tools that you will be using
Inform the participant of the aproximate duration of the activity
Restate that all activities are voluntary and that they are able to stop
participating at any point during the session
Talk about the protocol
Introduce the ethics process and consent form.
Walk the participant through the form
Note down any concerns and how you addressed them

Would you agree to the following:	Yes	No
Being voice recorded during interviews?		
Being visually photographed before and during gameplay?	~	
Allow pictures taken in workshop to be published in thesis		

Please note, all voice and video recordings, as well as pictures taken are solely for the purpose of reflection and analysis from the researcher. None of these materials will be published or made available to the public and will be deleted on completion of analysis. If the researcher would like to use an image, you will be personally contacted to ask for permission to make use of said material. Should you not wish to have your picture used you may decline permission and the researcher will not make use of it.

Participant Signature

PRE-	TEST EVALUATION	1
Participants		AVGS
Date	18 February 2017	
Question 1	How would you rate your current level of physical fitness?	
	Unfit / Inactive	
	Moderately Fit	
	Fit Cuper Activo	
	Super Active	
Question 2	How would you classify yourself as a gamer?	
	Non-Gamer	
	Casual Gamer	
	Gamer (Regular)	
	Hardcore Gamer	
0	What do you no timberty look for when sheering to play an AVG2	
Question 5		
	Learning	
	Exercise	
	Competition	
	Distraction	
	Pleasure	
	Other	
Question 4	How are you feeling right now?	
	I am happy and the only great	

Cape Peninsula University of Technology

Introductory letter for the collection of research data

<u>Adele Braaf</u> is registered for the M Tech (IT) degree at CPUT <u>211241369</u>. The thesis is titled <u>"A grounded theory for active video game design to promote gamer engagement and immersion</u>" and aims to produce a theory for in-game design factors that will enhance engagement and immersion in active video games. The supervisor(s) for this research is/are:

Mr Jay Barnes barnesj@cput.ac.za

Ms Vikki Du Preez dupreezv@cput.ac.za

In order to meet the requirements of the university's Higher Degrees Committee (HDC) the student must get consent to collect data from individuals which they have identified as potential sources of data. In this case the student will use <u>interviews and participatory</u> workshops to gather data.

If you agree to this, you are requested to complete the attached form (an electronic version will be made available to you if you so desire).

For further clarification on this matter please contact either the supervisor(s) identified above. or the Faculty Research Ethics Committee secretary (Ms V Naidoo) at 021 469 1012 or <u>naidoove@cput.ac.za</u>.

Yours sincerely

Mr Jay Barnes

13 January 2017
in my capacity as an individual, give consent in principle to allow <u>Adele Braaf</u> a student at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology, to collect data as part of his/her M Tech (IT) research. The student has explained to me the nature of his/her research and the nature of the data to be collected.

This consent in no way commits any individual to participate in the research, and it is expected that the student will get explicit consent from any participants. I reserve the right to withdraw this permission at some future time.

In addition, the individuals name may or may not be used as indicated below. (Tick as appropriate.)

	Thesis	Conference Paper	Journal article	Research poster
YES	Х		Х	
NO		Х		X
Signature Name & Surname			 Date	102/2017

OBSERVATION FORM

Alias	Sumorkidd, 2 Avesone	
	Toetm.	
Date of observation	18 Feb 2017	
Research Activity	P54	AVGS

This form is to be used in conjunction with the interview form. Take note of key aspects that you observe before and/or during the research activity. Indicate if you have asked the participant about something you have noted.

Pictures may be used to facillitate observations

The Person	Take note of the level of engagement, emotions, reactions to	CHECK
	All excited, but neutral	
The Environment	Take note of the context and setting	
	Hove. In the livingroom. Veny interactive environment.	

The Research Tool	Take note of how the tool is interacted with	
	Very compositeble for each.	
	8 8 S	
The Researcher	Behaviour and reflective practice	
	(alm; to chor beaded).	
Others		
Uther		

TITLE/NAME PS4 L	ookshe	XD	Memo Date	18	Feb 20	517
1 39 0		19				
			Participants	referred	TOUM	
			to:		Junierka	52
				_	2 Auseich	ve.
Research Activity	PS4					
Research Activity Date	18 FC	spinne	2017			
	-					
PURPOSE OF MEMO						
Observation	\checkmark	Event		Theory Im	plication	
Data Comparison		Idea		Other		
No one ward	an. My St	ort c	inemphic.	~	Sinieskidd	disnaval
JOGEN LOUS		- Au	- pro-		2010 2000	
anie de als	NON CON	1 1111	2 600	E. NO	arcin NEW	y and
Deconcland (Smich	mund	to olu	1. 3	main men	il and
negoniatine a Juniorkidd	which asked	nound where	to plan	<u>1.5.</u>	main men	in and
negoliaine a Junorkidd Toelm obse	which asked	nound where there	b pia to pia to de play	very	encessed.	2 Aveson
negoliatine Juniorkidd Toefm obse berbal enge	which asked which which	Lohar Lohar Toelin	to prov to prov pray.	very	enceged.	2 Areson
negolicitine i Junorkidd Toehn obse berbal enge Bom viewing	which asked while while seal	nound where there toethere	2 bion to pian to de pian findi- to de pian findi- to de pian findi- to de pian findi- to de findi- fi	ver J. Ver Ver	main man encepted. nound huser	2 Avesone The sone
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Bom viewing missing man	asked which asked year	round inter trem Trefin oreboar mme	3 bion to pian play. n findi- n findi- n findi- n findi- n findi- n findi- n findi-	ver ver merkie	Main Man Royal Mastr Id Austr	a Avesore
negolicitine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Born viewing missing man working th	asked seed ciner	nound where th	3 bion to prove to de pray. Challen to de	very nicrkie	main man engeged. Tourd fruger S.K. E	a Avesone a Avesone the of by anguge of
negoliatine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Bon viewing missing man working tr Trying b	asked seed seed Store	nound when trein Treffin oreboar hart veh C.	3 bion to play play findi- to S. S. 2Aves range	very very netter of t	main man encepted. nound hus sid frustr 5.K c the senso	2 Aresone any areal by angaged r. t. J.K
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Born viewize Missing man working the Trying to All 3 Lay	asked seed seed sine ciner stone	Nound where the toefor here her	3 bion to prom proge 23. 50 29. 29. 20. 29. 20. 20. 50.0000 Soreore	ven ven merkin of the	main man encoded. nound hust id hust id hust is senso invesore pois th	a Aresone a Aresone treat by angesect r. t J.K e doject
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Ban viewing missing man working th Thying b All 3 (Play Lay	asked seal seal seal stance stance stance stance	nound Nound Nound Lither Toelfor Toelfor Toelfor Nort	3 bion to prove 10 de pray pray Tange 21 volto Soneone when	very very netter of the Sonce	main man encepted. nound hus id hus id hus is is se senso in pois the pois the are win	Alvesone allvesone read by engaged r. + J.K e object but
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Bom viewing missing man working the Trying to All 3 play Lay high. gots a	asked asked seal cinen stance stance anier stance bior stance	nound Nound Where Crein Toelhar HAL Notin Snaacy WIEN Phisech Toelhar Noten Phisech Toelhar Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Toelhar Nound Nound Toelhar Nound	3 bion to prove	ven ven met of Sone	main man encoded. nound hustr Id Austr Jake senso pois the pois the	2 Avesore a Avesore aveal by argspect r. + J.K 2 doject 5 but
negolialine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Born viewing missing man working th Thying to All 3 play Lay play Lay play Lay ports de Toelm vey	asked asked seal Scare Stance anter Stance anter Stance	nound Nound Crem Toefor To	3 bion to prove prove prove 10 de prove 10 de prove 20 control Server	ven ven merkin of the Sonce Ce	main man encoded. nound hus sid hus sid hus six secons poss the poss the poss the poss the poss the poss the poss the	a Aresone a Aresone real by angesect r. t J.K e object but play.
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Born viewing missing mon workenne (k Trying) to All 3 play Lay Phist. Spots a Toelm det	asked asked seal seal stand stan	nound Nound Lither Lither Lither Lither North North Nor	3 bion to prove play:	ven ven of the sone t Sone Ce	Main Man engeged. nound hus sd hus te senso huesone poss the poss the post the poss the	Alvesone allvesone reed by engaged r. + J.K e doject but play. play.
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Born viewing missing man working tr Trying to All 3 play Lay high a play Lay high dete No body	asked asked seal ciner stance asked seal ciner stance ciner stance ciner stance ciner stance	nound nound where the the the the the the the the the th	3 bion to prove play play play play play solution play pl	of the Sonce OCHEN	Main Man encoped. Roma Rustr Site senso Devesore pois the pois the po	Alvesone allvesone real by rocsect
negolialine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Born viewing missing man working th Trying to All 3 play Lay host. Cefm vey Toelm dete No body Like scorr	asked as	nound Nound Nonc Lach Nonc	3 bion to prove prove prove 10 dr prove 20 control Someone	of the Songe	Main Man encosed. nound hus sol hus sol hus poss the poss the post	A Avesone a Avesone real by rocsocl r. t J.K e object but play play current
negolialine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal engr Born viewing missing mon working th Trying to All 3 play Lay Phist. Toelm yeu Toelm yeu Toelm dol No body Like Scott	asked asked seal	nound nound where Tackin Tackin Tackin Tackin Not Disect Tace Mon Mon Mon Mon Mon Mon Mon Mon Mon Mon	3 bion to prove play	of the Sonce Cre Sonce Cre Sonce	Main Man engeled. nound hus solutions the senso and frustre solutions pois the pois the pois the pois the solutions oners oners on	Alvesone allvesone reed by engaged r. + J.K e doject but play. play. play.
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Bom viewing missing man working th Trying to All 3 play Lay high det Toelm det No body Like Scott Jike Scott To enge	asked asked seal cinen stan stan one one stan one one one stan one one one one one one one on	nound nound where the the the the the the the the the th	3 bion to prove	of the Sonce Cre Sonce to althe work	Main Man encoded. Roma Rus resore Javesone pois ru pois ru ning ve venes. ving ve oners ving ve oners ving ve	Alvesone al Avesone real by roceal by ro
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse berbal enge Bom viewing missing man working th Trying to All 3 play Lay Prot. Spots Ce Toelm dete No body Like Scott Juke Scott To seres Junesone	asked as	nound No	3 bion to prove prove prove 10 dre prove 20 mers 20 mers when when concerned concerned con	ven ven of the sone + of the Sone Cle bolthe sone there in	Main Man encosed. nound hus solutions a fus poss the poss the post	a Avesone a Avesone real by rocsocl r. t J.K e object but play: play: tuby
negoliaine Juniorkidd Toelm obse verbal enge Born viewing missing man worker th Trying to All 3 Play Lay Prof. Spots Ce Toelm vey Toelm vey Toelm dete No body Like Scorr No body Til seres anvesore Winner ve	asked as	nound nound cherry trem trem trent when the phase phase phase trent	3 bion to pian to pian	ven ven of the source Cle cle cle source the source	noin non encoded. nound hus sol hus sol but senso abuesare pois the pois the pois the pois the pois the sol a she d	a Aresons a Aresons red by rogged r. + J.K e doject but play: play: play: tuby

KEY POINTS

	AVGS	Memo Date	18	lieh	2017
ITLE/NAME PS4	workshop	Wento Date	10		
		Participants	referred	Toefn	\land
		to:		ZAUNE	sone
			-	Juni	onuda
Research Activity	PS4				
Research Activity Date	18 reb 7	2017]		
PURPOSE OF MEMO			Theonylo	nlication	
Observation	Even	it	Other	T	
Data Comparison	Idea		Other		
Toeth ver 2 Avesone 2 Avesone anacced us (bod team	overs for which control of the	ince when incervence a sports	105, nd Si marshi	ANS CONTR	Both pery Nor ilems
	t is qu	nier, bu	r eng	reged	and
Tandonly play. J-	Toetry e	ments as	potri y work	on re of a	biect first

KEY POINTS

Т

KETTOINTO	

MEMO						
TITLE/NAME PS4 6	Jor-KSM	op	Memo Date	18	Feb	2017
TILE/NAME TOT		-				ut dal
				eferred to:	Juni	or kidd
			Participants r	eferred to.	2 AUR	Sone.
	201			٦	ane	
Research Activity	PS4	2) 75	17			
Research Activity Date	18 11	ed ac				
PURPOSE OF MEMO	1					
Observation	V	Event		Theory Im	plication	
Data Comparison		Idea		Other		
Chose ho Sensor m Distrach y Suniorkid Suniorkid Suniorkid Sensor c Sensor de Sensor de Toehn lef Ghose h Starthay K Nior M Fuenae ve Sensor non Fuenae ve Starthay K Nior M Fuenae ve Sensor non Fuenae ve Sensor non Starthay K Nior M Fuenae ve Sensor non Starthay K Nior M	ener alline Srv Srv Srv Srv Srv Srv Srv Srv	LICH CONTRACTOR	a new beau beau re. bion bion bion a diff a diff i to m bion a di di di a di	over perior	movers movers	ston. up by n when uses crem iscrit. igcoging gove after ery t manning t winni st s play.

PARTICIPANT CODING AND INFORMATION



Full Name			
		V	
Gender	Male V	Female	(Tick box where applicable)
Cell Number			
Email Address	1		5
Age	24	1.4	

Ahas	ICARUS
	1
Research Activity) - his
Date	0.8/2 322

	STEPS		
CHECK	INSTRUCTIONS		
	Talk about the project		
	Introduce the project, yourself and the goals of the study		
	Talk about why you are doing this and what excites you about the project		
	Explain what the participant can expect and what research activities you hope they will perticipate in		
1000	Give the participant a description of the study to keep (document)		
	Talk about the person		
	Ask the participnt if they have any questions or concerns		
	Note down any that they have and answer their questions		
	Research interess		

Talk about the process
Introduce the research activity
Explain any tools that you will be using
Inform the participant of the aproximate duration of the activity
Restate that all activities are voluntary and that they are able to stop
participating at any point during the session
Talk about the protocol
Introduce the ethics process and consent form.
Walk the participant through the form
Note down any concerns and how you addressed them
None

Would you agree to the following:	Yes	No
Being voice recorded during interviews?	\sim	
Being visually photographed before and during gameplay?	\sim	
Allow pictures taken in workshop to be published in thesis		

Please note, all voice and video recordings, as well as pictures taken are solely for the purpose of reflection and analysis from the researcher. None of these materials will be published or made available to the public and will be deleted on completion of analysis. If the researcher would like to use an image, you will be personally contacted to ask for permission to make use of said material. Should you not wish to have your picture used you may decline permission and the researcher will not make use of it.

Participant Signature

Cape Peninsula University of Technology

Introductory letter for the collection of research data

Adele Braaf is registered for the M Tech (IT) degree at CPUT <u>211241369</u>. The thesis is titled A grounded theory for active video game design to promote gamer engagement and immersion and aims to produce a theory for in-game design factors that will enhance engagement and immersion in active video games. The supervisor(s) for this research is/are:

Mr Jay Barnes barnesj@cput.ac.za

Mrs Vikki Du Preez dupreezv@cput.ac.za

In order to meet the requirements of the university's Higher Degrees Committee (HDC) the student must get consent to collect data from individuals which they have identified as potential sources of data. In this case the student will use interviews and participatory workshops to gather data.

If you agree to this, you are requested to complete the attached form (an electronic version will be made available to you if you so desire).

For further clarification on this matter please contact either the supervisor(s) identified above, or the Faculty Research Ethics Committee secretary (Ms V Naidoo) at 021 469 1012 or <u>naidoove@cput.ac.za</u>.

Yours sincerely

Mr Jay Barnes

13 January 2017

I ______ in my capacity as an individual, give consent in principle to allow Adele Braaf a student at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology, to collect data as part of his/her M Tech (IT) research. The student has explained to me the nature of his/her research and the nature of the data to be collected.

This consent in no way commits any individual to participate in the research, and it is expected that the student will get explicit consent from any participants. I reserve the right to withdraw this permission at some future time.

In addition, the individuals name may or may not be used as indicated below. (Tick as appropriate.)

	Thesis	Conference Paper	Journal article	Research poster
YES	X		X	
NO		X		X
Signature Name & Surname		Ligt	Date0	3/01/2017

03/02/2013	7					-
How would you r	ate your cu	urrent level	of physical	fitness?		
Unfit / Inactive			-			
Moderately Fit			-			
Fit			-			
Super Active		V				
How would you o	lassify you	rself as a g	mer?		7	
Non-Gamer	clussify you		1			
Casual Gamer			-			
Gamer (Regular)		./	-			
Hardcore Gamer		X				
			mad			
What do you par	rticularly lo	ok for whe	h choosing t	o play an AV	G?	
Fun	\checkmark					
Learning						
Exercise						
Competition	V					
Distraction	\checkmark					
Pleasure						-
Other						
	OS/O2/2013How would you rUnfit / InactiveModerately FitFitSuper ActiveHow would you oNon-GamerCasual GamerGamer (Regular)Hardcore GamerGamer (Regular)Hardcore GamerFunLearningExerciseCompetitionDistractionPleasureOther	OS/OS/22017 How would you rate your cu Unfit / Inactive Moderately Fit Fit Super Active How would you classify you Non-Gamer Casual Gamer Gamer (Regular) Hardcore Gamer What do you particularly log Fun Learning Exercise Competition Distraction Other	OS/02/2017 How would you rate your current level Unfit / Inactive Moderately Fit Fit Super Active How would you classify yourself as a gate Non-Gamer Casual Gamer Gamer (Regular) Hardcore Gamer What do you particularly look for where Fun Learning Exercise Competition Distraction Other	OS/02/2017 How would you rate your current level of physical Unfit / Inactive	OS/02/2017 How would you rate your current level of physical fitness? Unfit / Inactive	OS/OS/2017 How would you rate your current level of physical fitness? Unfit / Inactive Moderately Fit Fit Super Active How would you classify yourself as a gamer? Non-Gamer Casual Gamer Gamer (Regular) Hardcore Gamer What do you particularly look for when choosing to play an AVG? Fun Learning Exercise Competition Olstraction Pleasure Other

	OBSERVATION FORM	
Alias	IC NRUS	F
Date of observation	3 Jeb 2017	
Research Activity	XBox workshap 1	AVGS

This form is to be used in conjunction with the interview form. Take note of key aspects that you observe before and/or during the research activity. Indicate if you have asked the participant about something you have noted.

Pictures may be used to facillitate observations

	questions and body language	
	Very engloged and excited. 45 Full body materients. High energy teles. Very verbal and engaged. Encouraging of PhreappleSS.	
The Environment	Take note of the context and setting	
	Brech tab. Large, anphy space. No dismptions. Dimly lit noom. Quiet area. Sale environment.	
The Research Tool	Take note of how the tool is interacted with	
	very eager, willing and confortable handling be	

he Researcher	Behaviour and reflective practice Calm, quier, boarsed. Non-innusive. Provided instruction when asked or needed.	
Other		

ITLE/NAME H	e Watche	P 2. Me	emo Date	3	2	2017	
		Pa	rticipants re	eferred to:	Icar	15	
				1			
Research Activity Date	XISON	2015	7				
it scaren netwicy bace	5 res	100		1			
URPOSE OF MEMO						-	
Observation	L Ev	ent		Theory Im	plication		
Data Comparison	Ide	ea		Other			
Shored Fry Full bedy ~ No house Neutral go Verbal dis	anchon covenera nonentice no trace	at g	miss	nor Conset	pickin ons at	end of	
Shoved Fry Full brdy ~ No house Newhal go Verbal dis Liked seem round. Chose to	progress	at so to an at policis to n	conser conser miss din	nor)) () (picking out	end of of cho	o~€
Shored Fry Full brdy ~ No house Neutral gos Verbal dis Chose to Chose to Chose to Chose to	progress	at s hu ai at boints to n freedbo	connot miss d'm entre	nor	at at	end of of cho	o≁€
Shoved Fry Full brdy ~ No house No house Neutral co Verbal dis Chose to Chose to Chose to Chose to Chose to Confortable	progress plaging	at s hu hu at at at at builts hu hu hu hu hu hu hu hu hu hu	connot mise din extreme action	nor	at at at at at at at at at at at at at a	end of of cha	~e
Shoved frue full brdy ~ No houth Neutral and Verbal dis Chose to Chose to C	progress progre	at s to at at at miss at	connot mise d n extrem act of Sconnor	nor	at at at at at at at at at at at at at a	end of the	ve ve

OIN

KEY POINTS	

MEMO 🔃 Feb 2017 Memo Date 3 TITLE/NAME WOrkshop 2. TCANUS Participants referred to: **Research Activity Research Activity Date** PURPOSE OF MEMO Theory Implication Observation Event Data Comparison Idea Other Icams is weening Shorts head. comportable Smilla Noddies Ven Singing Full body movement wirn music ne facial expressions MISSING MORE Maes Quiet donce more. 01 hirthy a SUCCESSCUT Move inho in. at ne Serna endered livee - Really Juli Jacpla Score tered -loved be dance acre Lew 2 ter: いったい * Pirecipple ven quier t non-expr SSICE \$ Chose 70 dance 10 a new 2013 sore araters kept ite darcing along while - singing · Very cariboraby to Pireopple SS. Looking Silly inhant of dave Stamina 3000 JOIC PIC · Pireppi quict I dictering Icans extremely J. Fricult - Doesn't wort to do 1-1sags **KEY POINTS** - Love dance-off. - Suil dancing even when its not his hm.

DBZ: Icans still dencisation DC3. - Looks excited door playing DBZ. to Making reference to to series highligh - Confuged nouisating menu. 45 Can't see tritorial option at bottom (took a white) - Following hubbrical well. te Pineapple giving verbal input. - Both participants interrecting well. - Getting Instrated not getting more right. Verbally stated his not sure what to do. 4) Needs help executing the mores - Looks excited to play Serger. wardes the cirencial 4 time Says words from the series. - Very husmaled at accidental pourse. Verbal fursharing. - Very animated. - Looks disrupted when playing and cinenatic starts out of normere. - Should hustration when artack fails & cores the special beam cannon. Comments about ship to series. Smilling - looks failigues watches encl cinenshic. - Sands tired. - Amused at finel Score.

Cilia 3	ICARUS
Date of in	terview
Research	Activity
Question	1 Were you engaged and/or immersed? How did you feel?
	At which points did you feel engaged/immersed?
	Berbe extract and they want ple
	ingreed after ce interior in DBC. agent.
	1x 3: Liked the circle made.
	What aspects about this activity engaged/immersed you most?
	Cheosing Songs and you do like
	make the dances mare interesting
	What aspects about this activity frustrated/put you off the most?
	DBC: Unclear tuturing. Stepping out of range of the
	DC3: VISION. Had to make the quater
	Kinest Achentics
	want the outline of the anators
Question	2 What will make you want to play this game again?
	its a great way to exercise

	I liked the accuracy of the server	
	What features would you like to see added/removed? - Change (the Guater more transfurent - DC3: Shew motion for the mini- pictures of upcoming mores. - DBZ: Turbrials Germa suck of a m (p show the actual morement (Giff into - The music sets the tore well to DBZ. A Take of a all the relations in Kited adventives Prefer Scientify more noth What was your opinion about the challenges in the game? Happy with the challenges in the game? Happy with the challenges of (Gase to adopt to chickenges of participation)	nut + realistic Lookug:
Question 3 Jan 100 Jan	How did you feel playing alongside somebody? Canton-hobe Would you prefer playing alone or with someone? W.M. Sonece. Like no challenge chars to get better Without competition, prefer to plag clare. How would you describe your relationship to the other participant? Total Strager.	AVQ'S a means of Social intern
Question 4	Did you at any point feel silly or uncomfortable playing Silly Childign Land Considering location; not uncomfortable	
	Does how you look when playing bother you around another gamer?	
	why, or why hot? N ປ	

APPENDIX E: GLASER'S CODING FAMILIES

~	ale 3 Xillianer's Theoretical Coding Fam	vites	Photons Auroement, Contracts, Cooperation		
	Glaser 1998	Charac 2005	Definitions of the situation		
Courts 1979	64399 1595	Glasser 2005 Cencer Ferning Cempony Component amplifying issual looping Persential componenting Bitas rendem walk Equificating Becard Annual Constantion Becard Annual Constantion Recard Constantion Recard Constantion Recard Constantion Reconstantion Rec Becard Constantion	Underweiten, Opisien, Konseptentit- Networgsmith, Confect, Dicensus, Othyweitel Perception, Rose Conferently Malaul Depertition Majobios Favority Bacel control: Beamsteating, Status Perception, Bacel ands, Science Machine, Status Perception, Bacel ands, Science Machine, Status Perception, Bacel ands, Science Machine, Status Perception, Bacel and Science Science Science Science (Science) Bacel and Science Science Science Science (Science) Science (Science)		
Parama Farrier Barra Concer Torrito Torrito Magnetic Concerts Concerts Magnetic Concerts Concerts Magnetic Concerts	The Basics Family Basic world process Basic social structured constitutions Basic social structure constitutions Basic social structure constitutions	Temporal Family Temporal Family Transitions Pacing growing conditions Coding TCs: Temporal ordering of work, etc. Organizational cycling of productions Levels TC	Theoperatorial reasons, Integration, Density, Clarify Payamine, Josepa, Integration, Density, Clarify Fil, Interacine, Modifiability, Utility, Condensative Condensitive Automatike Densitive, Real-Automatic Integrative, Conference Reason Integrative, Conference Reason Condensity of Elaboration, Family Structural and relating		
Ingene Learning meming, Strandard, Continuentin, Learnin, and, Aragan, Emerandin, Externet, Arenikard, Contin manifestati asseringeri, Strandard diselation materiality, Persenterity, Petersterity Diseasediante, Research, Schenders, Strangenetister, Research, Strangenetister, Research, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, Strangenetister, Schenders, S	Anatometical actions (mean, medica, motel) Cutiling queries, Confidence limits Biosclaurie instrum Probabilities of Occurrence	(n.g., social directification, authority structures, spectrum)	Temporal andering Generating Conceptual andering Unit Family (Structural Units) Collectres, Sirous, Organisation, Aggingste Hauton, Social work, Ternitarium units, Socialy Shuston, Catheel, Arema Behavisteral antiters, Family Positional units (status, role, role relationship, vantori	Structural-Functional Family Indexence groups Sevence of hump Autority structure functional engineeries of attuction	Action TC Contraction in Expension actions for each unity Sector constituents TC
Annual Parrian Segment, Parl, Agent, Include Agen Family Sean, Street, Koolin Sean, Charao, Seanna Seanna Parrian Seanna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seannna Seann		Indeal Type TC ICanstructed Types, Paradigens, Pattern Variables) Cross Pressures TC (External Canflet) Moment capture TC (assertial consistential action)	ust, rule set, person set, rule partners) Reading Family Doublems Problems Importners Models Unsar model		lasmerphism FC (theory model)
and with the second providence of the second s				Palred Opposite Family Ochatomes, Pole spontes Pared Alternatives	Paired Opposite Family Symmetry asymmetry TC Binary TC Micro macro TC Balancing TC
Neractive Family soul attact, Reduced Sector Insectory insector 2 (Reduced Sector) attact 2 (Reduced Sector) (A.S.) 1 NUC	Interactive Family Traffic interaction Asymmetrical interaction (off- balance power republicitants or power interaction	Systems Parts IC (n.g., functional reciprecify)		Scales Family Likert Guittman Comulative Founding down, believiting Receipting with	
Robing Public Faceship conducts, Benchmann, Onutsion Bald Jangture, Califorgi point, Turning point, antigg partit, Designed Trends, Deviance antigg, Tolerance Trends, Deviance	Boundary Family Linits, Outer Instit, Confidence Linits, Font Inc., Decision Boundary maintaining, mechanisms Talerance zones, Transition amen	Outer limits TC (n.g. input, moral, security, safety, breaking or moving boundaries)	Source/Discussed and o	stated by Hemandes Doog Ba	664 *TC + Theoretical Code
an sata asta, Point of ha return anno Goal Farmiy Margan, Ball astal Consequences Product		Asymptote TC (genting as close as possible) Fractals TC Autopoliesin TC (e.g. structural coupling)	of the many ,	Self-concept,	Self-worth, Self
ural Family	Representation Family (Cultural Representation)	Frames TC (Political, Religious, Velocitical, Coltoral)	acounday.	The second second	Concersions of in